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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Director(s)”) (the
“Board”) of Universe Entertainment and Culture Group
Company Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the 2024/2025 annual results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 30
June 2025 (the “Year").

Hong Kong's economy continues to face constraints from
a complex backdrop of geopolitical tensions, trade barriers,
sluggish properties market, and subdued consumers sentiment.
These factors have placed significant pressure on our Group's
diverse portfolio of businesses and tested our resilience during
the Year.

In Mainland China, the film exhibition market is normalising
post-pandemic. While the 2024 box office softened, we were
encouraged by a robust 22.9% rebound in the first half of 2025,
demonstrating the enduring appeal of cinematic entertainment.
However, structural shifts toward quality-driven growth and
over-reliance on major holiday revenue require our focused
attention.

Our Hong Kong retail operations for optical and watch products
faced strong headwinds from weak local consumption and
changing spending patterns. We are scaling back the business
scale to reduce losses in this segment.

Our financial printing business navigated the dual pressure of
the market's accelerated shift toward paperless solutions and
broader economic weakness. On the other hand, the strong
recovery in the initial public offerings market in the first half
of 2025 is increasing demand for the high-quality and reliable
prospectus production services where we excel.

In this dynamic climate, we view the challenging market
environment not only as a disruptor but as a catalyst for
improvement and innovation. We remain unwavering in its
commitment to prudent capital management and operational
discipline to optimising our existing operations and to develop
new solutions for adaptation and future growth. In addition,
we are also strategically seeking new avenues for growth and
investment to diversify our revenue streams.
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APPRECIATION

We sincerely appreciate your continued trust and support,
which inspires us to strive for excellence in every aspect of
our business. | would like to thank all of our fellow directors,
colleagues, shareholders, suppliers and customers and we look
forward to achieving greater success together.

By Order of the Board

Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2025

Chairman’s Statement

EE®RE

=
EX =

BAROBHAEB—BEARNEEN R - &
BN IR P 75 80 & (D7 E AR SRR o N
ABHBHEBEE RE - KR H#HED
REF - BB FARBISERHNKY

b

EEEZG

a

TE
MNER

FE —E-HAFHALA-TNH

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DM

BUSINESS AND OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Overall Group results

During the year ended 30 June 2025 (the “Year”), the Group
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$472.6 million (For
the year ended 30 June 2024 ("Last Year”): approximately
HK$365.3 million) and loss for the Year of approximately
HK$63.4 million (Last Year: approximately HK$31.2 million).

The Group's increased loss was primarily due to the increase
of approximately HK$46.7 million impairment loss on film
rights, films in progress, and film related deposits during the
Year compared to Last Year. This was a result of change of
comparable market conditions and lower-than-expected box
office performance.

Video distribution, films distribution and exhibition,
licensing and sub-licensing of film rights

Revenue generated from the video distribution, film distribution
and exhibition, licensing and sub-licensing of film rights
business segment increased by approximately 36.2% to
approximately HK$422.5 million for the Year (Last Year:
approximately HK$310.2 million). The growth was primarily
driven by a greater number of Group-produced films being
debuted in cinemas during the Year compared to the Last Year.
This segment now constitutes approximately 89.4% of the
Group's total revenue (Last Year: approximately 84.9%).

Although revenue from film exhibition increased, this segment
recorded a loss of approximately HK$52.5 million during the
Year, representing a 205.2% increase compared to the loss
of approximately HK$17.2 million Last Year. This was largely
attributable to change of comparable market conditions and
lower-than-expected box office performance of our films, which
resulting an increase of the impairment loss of approximately
HK$46.7 million against the carrying value of film rights, films in
progress, and film related deposits during the Year comparted
to Last Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 30 June 2025, the Group assessed that there were
impairment indication for certain films included in films
rights, films in progress and film related deposits with gross
carrying amount of approximately HK$166,755,000 (2024
HK$66,395,000), HK$6,734,000 (2024: HK$406,356,000) and
HK$78,728,000 (2024: HK$69,113,000), respectively, because
of the change of comparable market information and expected
performance. As at 30 June 2025, these film rights, films in
progress and film related deposit have been reduced to their
recoverable amount of approximately HK$34,044,000 (2024:
HK$6,509,000), HK$6,734,000 (2024: HK$402,607,000) and
HK$58,538,000 (2024: HK$57,809,000), respectively. The
recoverable amount was determined on a title-by-title basis,
and is assessed with reference to a value-in-use calculation
at the end of the reporting period, which was derived from
discounting the projected cash flow forecast using a discount
rate of 11% (2024: 11%). Key assumptions for the value-in-
use calculations related to the estimation of cash inflow include
the budget film exhibition income, budget licensing and sub-
licensing income revenue and discount rate. Such estimation
is based on the historical box office of the same director and
main cast members, the market comparable data of films
with the same theme, and management’s expectations of
the market development. The discount rate used is before tax
and reflected current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the film production business.

In the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2025, impairment loss/reversal
of impairment of loss were recognized to reduce/adjust the
carrying amounts of specific assets to their recoverable
amounts. This included an impairment loss on film rights
of approximately HK$69,067,000 (2024: impairment loss of
approximately HK$17,032,000) and a reversal of impairment
of loss of approximately HK$223,000 on film-related deposits
(2024: impairment loss of approximately HK$5,122,000). No
impairment was recognized for films in progress (2024: Nil).
The directors and management have considered and assessed
reasonably possible changes for other key assumptions and
have not identified any instances that could cause the carrying
amounts of film rights and films in progress to exceed their
recoverable amounts as at 30 June 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DM

Following a robust post-pandemic recovery in 2023, China's
film exhibition industry is navigating a new phase of post-
pandemic normalization, marked by intense competition,
evolving audience preferences and quality-driven growth.
Market performance has been volatile. According to data
released by the China Film Administration (X &5 ), the
total box office in China was approximately RMB42.5 billion
in 2024, representing a decrease of approximately 22.6%
compared to 2023. However, in the first half of 2025, driven
by the debut of top-tier films during the Spring Festival, the
total box office in China reached approximately RMB29.2
billion, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
22.9% compared to first half of 2024. Key structural challenges
persist, including an over-reliance on major holiday periods
for revenue and slowdown of economic growth affecting
consumer discretionary spending in entertainment sector.

In response to these market dynamics, our strategy is centered
on overcoming these challenges through an unwavering focus
on high-quality content creation to develop distinctive and
compelling films that resonate with audiences. Moving forward,
the Group plans to continue producing and releasing new films
in the coming years, including:

. “Shock Wave 3" (#7538 &5 3): Directed by Herman Yau
(B427E) and starring Andy Lau (B]{=2E)

. “Atonement” (P 8E): Wiritten, directed, and performed by
Ronald Cheng (E8d1 ), and starring Chrissie Chau (&7
#) and Philip Keung (Z£#5 X2)

o “Dog Day Morning” (—1EZSFIAIFEA): Directed by Mak
Tin Shu (X&) and starring Yukki Tai (2 ) and
Michael Ning (HR)

Looking ahead, the Group will pursue a more disciplined
investment strategy, focusing on high-yield film projects that
resonate with audiences while maintaining strict cost control to
ensure sustainable success in a highly competitive and evolving
market.

BT _—ERBERBRDERZRE  PEE
FHRITELSARBREERCHOMAEE
HEHBEHRF AR BRETFTIEHEAR
NEEREMMIER - MGRE-—BETEHE
- REEBREXRAMNEBE  —T—
FHREEFEEFHARBI2ET BT
“=FTR#M22.6% - A - EFRHIERZ
MEEXRERNTESH T —T_AFEH
FHEEXREFEIOARB 20287 -
BT _NFEFFRELIEMNA22.9% - BE
ROSEBEABEATE  SFEKREBEK
FEEAMRAEANRELEERRENE
MT - REEBEERETENAHAXEN
X e

REHZEMSBHE  RMABENELER
BEEITBHEINGEENARENIERR
AR BBk B - ABEHRESI BB R AW
BREMXSIAABHEY - RERK - K&
B BN ARBFLERUERBITHES -
B

o (IFBEXRI)  HREBANEG - ZEE
TR

o (FEE) : BPERE AEWHIE - A
FMWREMEEE

o (—EXMIMEL) : EXEHRE  BE
BEARERE

RERK  AEBBERNERENRER
B BIRESIEBRABRNSLHREFH
B - RE RSB ABAIES - AR
FHRUM AT R TS EEUSKY) ©

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025



Management Discussion and Analysis

Trade, wholesale and retail of optical and watches
products

The Group engaged in trading, wholesaling and retailing of
optical products and watches products in Hong Kong.

Throughout the Year, the Hong Kong retail market continued
to struggle, hampered by weak consumer sentiment,
increasing unemployment rate, sluggish property market, and
an accelerating shift in spending toward online platforms and
nearby cities in China. In respond to this challenging operating
environment, the Group ceased the trade, wholesale, and retail
operations for its watch products in China and closed several
unprofitable stores in Hong Kong during the Year.

As a result, revenue from this business segment during
the Year was approximately HK$10.9 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 42.6% as compared to
approximately HK$19.0 million during Last Year. It accounted
for approximately 2.3% (Last Year: approximately 5.2%) of the
Group's revenue during the Year.

Segmental loss from this business segment during the Year
was approximately HK$2.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 62.5% as compared to approximately HK$5.6
million of the Last Year.

Looking forward, the Group will maintain strict cost control
measures and adjust its business scale to further reduce losses
in this segment.

Leasing of investment properties

The Group recorded rental income of approximately
HK$645,000 (Last Year: approximately HK$863,000) during the
Year from its properties at Woodland House 1-5, Woodlands
Villa, 121 Tong Fuk Village, Tong Fuk, Lantau Island, New
Territories, Hong Kong. It accounted for approximately 0.1%
(Last Year: approximately 0.2%) of the Group’s revenue during
the Year.

During the Year, Hong Kong's property market remained under
pressure due to low demand and a sluggish economic climate.
Based on the valuation performed by Ravia Global Appraisal
Advisory Limited, the Group recorded a fair value loss of its
investment properties of approximately HK$1.1 million during
the Year (2024: HK$1.6 million). As a result, the Group recorded
a segment loss of approximately HK$717,000 during the Year
(Last Year: approximately HK$1.1 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DM

Financial Printing

The Group engaged in the business of financial printing to
provide the one-stop financial printing services including
typesetting, translation, printing, design, distribution and
other related services through Formex Financial Press Limited
("Formex"), a subsidiary of the Company.

Our core business is divided into two primary areas:

1. Production and publication of annual reports, interim
reports, circulars, and announcements for listed
companies, government institutions, and non-
governmental organizations.

2. Production of prospectuses and other listing documents
for issuers undertaking initial public offerings (“IPO") in
Hong Kong capital market.

Segment revenue for the Year increased by 9.6% to
approximately HK$36.6 million (Last Year: approximately
HK$33.4 million), driven primarily by growth in revenue of the
IPO projects. This segment now represents approximately 7.7 %
of the Group’s total revenue, compared to approximately 9.2%
in Last Year. The segmental loss from the financial printing
segment was approximately HK$323,000 during the Year, an
improvement from the loss of approximately HK$361,000 in
Last Year.

The Hong Kong financial printing market faced significant
pressure during the Year due to paperless transformation and
economic cyclicality. The implementation of the Paperless
Listing Regime by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) has substantially reduced the
demand for printed documents. This, coupled with economic
uncertainties leading to reduced corporate spending, has
intensified competition and created downward price pressure,
particularly for production and publication of annual and interim
reports, circular and announcements of listed companies in
Hong Kong. We anticipate these market headwinds to persist
for the foreseeable future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On the other hand, IPO market in Hong Kong demonstrated a
strong recovery in the first half of 2025, raising approximately
HK$107.1 billion across 42 listings, representing a 700%
increase compared to same period last year. The rising number
of IPO projects and dual-listings issuers in Hong Kong and
Mainland China is increasing demand for reliable services
that manage complex, time-sensitive, and accuracy-critical
documentation for regulatory filings.

The fortunes of the financial printing market in Hong Kong are
directly correlated with IPO activities. While traditional printing
declines, future market leaders will be those who transform
into integrated services providers, offering comprehensive
solutions that ensure accuracy and efficiency for IPO
documentations and regulatory filings. We are well-positioned
to manage this shift. To enhance efficiency and reduce
costs, we are accelerating our transition from paper-based
to electronic filing services. Furthermore, our team possess
the necessary expertise and experience to meet the exacting
requirements of IPO and cross-border listing clients, providing
accurate and advanced presentation and formatting services to
capture emerging opportunities in the thriving IPO market.

Geographical contribution

In terms of geographical contribution, overseas markets
accounted for approximately 88.0% (2024: approximately
80.6%) of the Group’s revenue during the Year.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses for the Year is approximately HK$7.4 million
(2024 approximately HK$8.0 million). Selling expenses
decreased year-over-year by approximately 7.5%, mainly
because the Group scaled back its optical and watch trading,
wholesale, and retail businesses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses for the Year decreased by
approximately 12.1% to approximately HK$52.1 million as
compared to approximately HK$59.3 million in the same period
last year. The decrease in administrative expenses is due to the
implementation of the cost control measures during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DM

OUTLOOK

While we remain cautiously optimistic about the prospects of
our video distribution, film distribution and exhibition, film rights
licensing, and financial printing businesses, we will maintain a
restrained and prudent approach to managing these segments
to ensure their long-term sustainability.

However, due to the contraction in Hong Kong's retail market,
we are scaling down our optical and watch retail operations.
This decisive action is necessary to control costs and conserve
cash.

Amidst this uncertain operating environment, the Group will
carefully pursue and explore new potential investments and
business opportunities to diversify new sources of income for
the Group.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$135.2 million (2024: approximately
HK$132.3 million). As at 30 June 2025, the Group had total
assets of approximately HK$435.7 million (2024: approximately
HK$737.4 million).

The Group’'s gearing ratio as at 30 June 2025 was
approximately 3.0% (as at 30 June 2024 approximately 3.7%),
which was calculated on the basis of the Group's total debt
(including borrowings, lease liabilities and bank overdraft)
divided by total equity of the Group.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group's current ratio (defined as
total current assets divided by total current liabilities) was
approximately 1.4 (as at 30 June 2024: approximately 0.5).

Management has closely monitored the current and anticipated
liquidity of the Group in the future. Having considered the
Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2025, and the coming
operation’s plan, the Directors believe that the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to satisfy its future working capital
and other financing requirements for the foreseeable future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group incurred financial cost of approximately HK$552,000,
which is attributable to the interest on lease liabilities during
the Year (2024 approximately HK$535,000).

In light of the fact that most of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United
States dollars, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to Renminbi. The Group will continue to take proactive
measures and monitor its exposure to the movements of these
currencies closely.

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had Shareholders’ capital of
approximately HK$9.1 million (30 June 2024: approximately
HK$9.1 million). The Shareholders’ capital of the Company is
constituted of 906,632,276 shares (30 June 2024: 906,632,276
shares).

The Company did not carry out any fund raising activities by
issuing new shares of the Company during the Year (2024: Nil).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (for the year ended 30 June 2024: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
ASSETS

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
assets during the Year (2024: Nil).

THE PLEDGE OF GROUP'S ASSETS

As at 30 June 2025, none of the Group’s assets was pledged
to secure any liabilities (2024 Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 30 June 2025, the Group employed 116 staff (2024: 107).
Remuneration is reviewed annually and certain staff are entitled
to commission. In addition to basic salaries, staff benefits
included discretionary bonus, medical insurance scheme and
mandatory provident fund.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

EERGREEAERBN

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. LAM Shiu Ming, Daneil, aged 63, is the founder and
chairman of the Group. He is involved in marketing, corporate
strategy, business planning and development and overall
management of the Group. Mr. Lam has over 30 years of
experience in the film industry in Hong Kong. He was awarded
the “Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong” by the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2002.

Mr. LAM Kit Sun, aged 48, is the chief financial officer and
company secretary of the Group. He graduated from The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology with a bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration in Accounting and has over
20 years' experience in the field of financial reporting, financial
management and audit experience in the PRC and Hong Kong.
Mr. Lam is a fellow and practicing member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
("ACCA"), an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and a non-practicing member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lam
was an independent non-executive director of Sinopharm Tech
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8156), whose shares are listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange from 1 August 2022 to 16
May 2023. He joined the Group in August 2013.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHOI Wing Koon, aged 48, is currently the financial
controller and company secretary of Huanxi Media Group
Limited (stock code: 1003), the shares of which are listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Choi holds a bachelor’s
degree of business administration in accounting awarded by the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 1999. Mr.
Choi also obtained a master degree of business administration
awarded by the University of Hong Kong in 2014. Mr. Choi is
a fellow of the ACCA and a member of the HKICPA. Mr. Choi
has over 20 years of experience in accounting and company
secretarial field. Mr. Choi is currently the independent non-
executive director of KuangChi Science Limited (stock code:
439), the shares of which are listed on Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He joined the Group in December 2013.

Mr. TANG Yiu Wing, aged 58, is a practising solicitor in Hong
Kong, and the founder and a partner of Ivan Tang & Co.. He
holds a bachelor’s degree in Laws, a postgraduate certificate
in Laws from The University of Hong Kong and a master's
degree in Laws from The City University of Hong Kong. He is
a member of The Law Society of Hong Kong and is admitted
as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of England and Wales and
a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Tasmania. Mr.
Tang has been an independent non-executive director of Goldin
Financial Holdings Limited (Stock code: 530), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since September
2006. On 11 August 2023, Goldin Financial Holdings Limited
was ordered to be wound up by the Supreme Court of
Bermuda under the provisions of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981. Mr. Tang was also (i) an independent non-executive
director of Solomon Worldwide Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
8133) from April 2015 to June 2022; and (ii) an independent
non-executive director of PF Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8221) from December 2020 to January 2021, all of these
companies are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. He
joined the Group in October 2017.

EERGREEAERBN

BYIFATES

FOKTWRE - 4855 BRBEBREEAR
NE (AR RSE © 1003 » E R R8P E1R
EM) 2 BRERARTWE - BELERAE
ABRBRRER-ANNFRENTHEE(S
BT - ERETR T -—HFIBE
BRERBEIHEBBELTSEM - BXALER
RERFALAARGHMNAGERGENELS
AEAEEE BAENSARARAMET
ETHERBB20FMNER - BEERRN
MM BARQE (ORI - 439 HERORN
B ER ET) 2B IERITEE « F
T-=FT_AMAKXEH -

BB A 585 REABWNEZMEA
HREEMITENARERA - BHHEEEE
REBLEBEBET BN REABEEEE  ULE
BT ARSEBETEA - BRABEENE
g8 UWEEMNAREBHEREBN&ESER
FE URBTERE D &a AR A EMRE
B e MAEEB T NFLABEESRE
B(EE) AR AR RMDMAN : 530« —KAEE
RFTERLEMZAR) ZEIIERITESE - 0
ZEZ=FNA+—H BREZSERR
BAEEEI1GIFRREKNESSHREM(E
E)ERARER -HBEENENHE-Z—H
FUARE-T - —FNAEETMEPRK
ZRR AR A A (IRH RS - 8133) 2 B IEH
FTEE: RIB-_ZE-EF+_ALE_Z
——%— A¥EEPF Group Holdings Limited
(BRDRIE - 8221) 2B IEHITEE » Ll
B RRIHREZFGEM LT « R % —
tFETAMARER -

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH

15



16

Directors and Senior Management Profile

EERGREEAERBN

Ms. PONG Suet Hing, aged 72, is currently a director
of Odyssey Group (International) Limited, a human
resources consultancy company in Hong Kong. Ms. Pong
is an affiliate member of Hong Kong Institute of Human
Resource Management (“HKIHRM"). She has completed
the Professional Diploma in Human Resource Management
organized by Hong Kong Management Association and was
awarded several certificates in connection with Hong Kong
employment law issued by HKIHRM. Ms. Pong has served as
consultant, associate director, director and general manager in
various human resources consulting companies in Hong Kong
to provide recruitment, payroll, staff training, human resources
solutions and compliance services to corporate clients for
more than 15 years. Ms. Pong is also considered a veteran in
the financial field. She worked in several local banks for more
than 30 years and served senior positions in retail banking
and wealth management entities with experience covering
management, operation and compliance. She is a licensed
insurance intermediary of Insurance Authority in Hong Kong.
Ms. Pong is the currently independent non-executive director
of K & P International Holdings Limited (stock code: 675),
the shares of which are listed on Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Ms. Pong was appointed as the responsible officer
of South China Wealth Management Ltd on 1 April 2025. She
joined the Group in March 2023.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to attaining and maintaining
high standards of corporate governance best suited to
the needs and interests of the Group as it believes that
effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to
safeguarding interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders
and enhancing shareholder value. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted and applied corporate governance principles that
emphasise a quality board of Directors (the “Board”), effective
risk management and internal control systems, stringent
disclosure practices, transparency and accountability save as
specifically disclosed below.

The Board has adopted the code provisions as set out in the
Appendix C1 to the Rules (the "Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. Continuous
efforts are made to review and enhance the Group's internal
controls and procedures in light of changes in regulations and
developments in best practices.

CG CODE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Company has, throughout the Year, complied with the
code provisions contained in the CG Code except for (i) the
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code for the separation of the
roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQO") and (ii)
code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code requiring the Chairman to
meet with the non-executive Directors as described below.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code sets out that the roles of
the Chairman and CEO should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not at
present have any officer holding the position of CEO. Mr. Lam
Shiu Ming, Daneil is the founder and Chairman of the Company
and has also carried out the responsibilities of CEOQ. Mr. Lam
possesses the essential leadership skills to manage the Board
and extensive knowledge in the business of the Group. The
Board considers the present structure to be more suitable to
the Group because it can promote the efficient formulation and
implementation of the Group's strategies.
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Code provision of A.2.7 of the CG Code requires the Chairman
to hold meetings at least annually with the non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
without the executive Directors present. As Mr. Lam Shiu
Ming, Daneil, the Chairman, is also an executive Director, the
Company has therefore deviated from this code provision.

THE BOARD

Duties and Composition of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight
of the management of business, strategic decisions and
financial performance of the Group for the best interests of
the Shareholders. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
management power, administration and operation of the Group
to the executive Directors and the senior management of the
Company. The Board regularly reviews its arrangement on
delegation of responsibilities and authority to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate in view of the Group's prevailing
circumstances.

The following matters (including changes to any such matters)
are reserved for the approval of the Board:

(@) any matter determined by the Board to be material
involving any conflict of interest for a substantial
Shareholder or a Director.

(b) any matter relating to the formulation of the Company’s
strategies and directions including:

(i) policies relating to the overall strategic direction and
strategic plans of the Company;

(i) policies relating to key business and financial
objectives of the Company;

(i)  policies relating to the declaration of dividend; and

(iv) the entering into of contracts involving acquisitions,
investments, disposal of assets or any significant
capital expenditure which are deemed to be material
by the Board.
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financial controls, compliance and risk management:

()  the approval of annual operating and capital
expenditure budgets for the Company;

(i) the approval of the Company's consolidated
financial statements and published reports;

(i) the establishment and review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s systems of internal control and
risk management process; and

(iv) the adoption of, or approval for any significant
changes in, accounting policies or procedures of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

changes to the Company's capital structure, including
reductions of share capital, share buy-backs or issue of
new securities, other than in accordance with the terms
of the share option scheme(s) or other incentive schemes
adopted by the Company from time to time.

major appointments and removals:

() appointments to the Board, taking into account any
recommendations of the nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee");

(i) the appointment of the Chairman;

(i)  recommendation to the Shareholders on the
appointment or removal of the external auditor after
taking into consideration the recommendations of
the audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
Committee"); and

(iv) the appointment or removal of the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”).

(c)
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(f)  delegation of authority:

() changes to the terms of reference or membership
of any committee of the Board;

(i)  changes to the authority delegated to the Chairman
and the senior management; and

(i)  matters which exceed the authority delegated to
the Chairman and the senior management.

(g) the adoption, review and approval of changes to the
Corporate Governance Practice Manual of the Company,
the Code of Ethics and Securities Transactions applicable
to the Directors and senior management of the Group.

The Board currently comprises a total of five Directors, with
two executive Directors, and three independent non-executive
Directors. The names and biographies of the Directors are set
out on pages 14 to 16 of this annual report.

The independent non-executive Directors are all experienced
individuals in accounting, finance, legal, human resources and
banking sectors. Their mix of professional skills and experience
is beneficial to the Board to formulate the long-term business
strategies and monitor the operational and financial matters of
the Group.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The list of the Directors has been published on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange respectively, and
is disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the
Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
to cover the liabilities of the Directors that may arise out of the
corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING/
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contributions to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the
Company encourages Directors to attend relevant seminars to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
will also update the Directors of any material changes in the
Listing Rules and corporate governance practices from time to
time.

All current Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil, Mr.
Lam Kit Sun, Mr. Choi Wing Koon, Mr. Tang Yiu Wing and Ms.
Pong Suet Hing, had participated in continuous professional
development with respect to directors’ duties, relevant
programmes and seminars or had perused reading materials
and updated information in relation to business and industrial
development.

The Company is committed to arranging suitable training to all
Directors for their continuous professional development. Each
Director is briefed and updated from time to time to ensure
that he/she is fully aware of his/her roles, functions, duties and
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements and the governance policies of the
Group.

A record of the training received by the respective Directors are
kept and updated by the Company Secretary.
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APPOINTMENTS AND RE-ELECTION
OF DIRECTORS

The appointment of a new Director is made on the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee or by the
Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director who is appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board shall retire at
the next annual general meeting.

Currently, all independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a specific term of three years pursuant to code provision
A4.1 of the CG Code. All Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and shall be eligible for
re-election in accordance with the provision of the Listing Rules
and the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”). At least
one-third of Directors shall retire from office every year at the
Company's annual general meeting.

Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil and Ms. Pong Suet Hing will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with Bye-law 87(1) and Bye-law 87(2)
and Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil and Ms. Pong Suet Hing being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at such meeting.

For the biographical details of the Director who will stand for re-
election and the candidates who will be proposed to be elected
as Directors, please refer to the circular containing the notice
of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be despatched.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Each year, the Board normally holds two regular board
meetings at approximately half year interval. 2 board meetings
were convened during the Year and the attendances of each
Director at these meetings are set out as follows:

Board meeting

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Lam Kit Sun 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Choi Wing Koon 2/2
Mr. Tang Yiu Wing 2/2
Ms. Pong Suet Hing 2/2

ANNUAL AND SPECIAL GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue
with the Shareholders and in particular, communicates with
them in annual general meetings or other special general
meetings and encourages their participation.

1 annual general meeting and no special general meetings
were convened during the Year and the attendances of each

Director at this general meeting are set out as follows:

Annual General

Meeting
Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil (Chairman) 11
Mr. Lam Kit Sun A
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Choi Wing Koon 11
Mr. Tang Yiu Wing 11
Ms. Pong Suet Hing 11
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”), the Nomination
Committee and the Audit Committee.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee with specific written terms of
reference (amended on 29 February 2012) was established by
the Company on 15 July 2005. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Choi Wing Koon (as chairman), Ms. Pong
Suet Hing and Mr. Tang Yiu Wing and an executive Director,
namely, Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil. The terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure of the Directors and senior management,
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy.

The model of the Remuneration Committee adopted by the
Company is to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

The main principles of the Group's remuneration policies are:

(@) no Director should be involved in deciding his or her own
remuneration;

(b) remuneration should be determined by taking into
consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, levels of responsibilities,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration;

(c) the management’'s remuneration proposals should be
reviewed and approved by reference to corporate goal
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;
and

(d) recommendations should be made by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management.
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1 committee meeting was convened during the Year and the
attendances of each committee member at this meeting are
set out as follows:

Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Choi Wing Koon (Chairman) 11
Mr. Tang Yiu Wing 11
Ms. Pong Suet Hing 11
Executive Director
Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil A

The Remuneration Committee assists the Group in the
administration of a fair and transparent procedure for setting
remuneration policies for all Directors and senior executives
of the Group. The responsibility for reviewing and determining
the remuneration package of individual executive Directors
and senior management of the Group is delegated to the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed and discussed the
remuneration of the Directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee has also approved the remuneration
and the discretionary bonuses of the executive Directors and
the senior management of the Group by reference to their
respective levels of responsibilities and performance, industry
benchmarks, prevailing market conditions and the Group’s
financial performance. No Director was involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee with specific written terms of
reference (amended on 30 August 2013) was established by
the Company on 15 July 2005. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Pong Suet Hing (as chairman), Mr. Choi
Wing Koon and Mr. Tang Yiu Wing and an executive Director,
namely, Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, culture and educational
background, ethnicity, skills, knowledge and length of service)
of the Board at least annually and making recommendations
to the Board regarding any proposed changes to complement
the Company's corporate strategy as well as assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in attaining its strategic objectives and
achieving sustainable and balanced development of the Group.
In view of the new amendments of the CG Code in respect
of diversity of board members that has come into effect on
1 September 2013, the Board has formulated and adopted its
diversity policy on 30 August 2013.

The nominations were made in accordance with the objective
criteria (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service), with due regard for
the benefits of diversity. During the Year, the Nomination
Committee conducted a review of the Board’'s composition.
The Nomination Committee reviewed the Board structure, size
and diversity annually and recommends any proposed changes
to the Board to complement Company’s corporate strategies.

1 committee meeting was convened during the Year and the
attendances of each committee member at this meeting are
set out as follows:

Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Pong Suet Hing (Chairman) 11
Mr. Choi Wing Koon Al
Mr. Tang Yiu Wing 11
Executive Director
Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil M1
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee on 11 October
1999. The written terms of reference (amended on 29 February
2012), which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee, were prepared and adopted with reference to
“A Guide for Effective Audit Committee” published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and in
accordance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Choi Wing Koon (as chairman), Ms. Pong Suet Hing and Mr.
Tang Yiu Wing. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company respectively.

The Audit Committee meets, at least twice a year, with the
external auditor to discuss any area of concern during the
audit or review. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, review of the Group’s financial information and
oversight of the Group's financial and accounting practices,
internal control and risk management. It is also responsible for
reviewing the interim and final results of the Group.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the Year have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

2 committee meetings were convened during the Year and the
attendances of the each committee member at these meetings
are set out as follows:

Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Choi Wing Koon (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Tang Yiu Wing 2/2
Ms. Pong Suet Hing 2/2
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the terms of engagement
of the external auditor, the revised accounting standards, the
interim consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 31 December 2024 and annual consolidated financial
statements for the Year. Based on its review and discussions
with management and the external auditor, the Audit
Committee was satisfied that the annual consolidated financial
statements for the Year were prepared in accordance with
applicable accounting standards and fairly present the Group's
financial position and results for the Year.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the internal control
systems and met with the external auditor to discuss the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligation prior to
the commencement of and after the completion of the audit.
For details about the internal control review, please refer to the
section headed "Risk Management and Internal Control” in this
report below.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for, amongst other things,
the development and review of the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and monitoring the
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, and
reviewing the corporate governance compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the annual report.

The corporate governance report has been reviewed by the
Board in discharge of its corporate governance function.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing, maintaining and
reviewing of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Board must ensure that the Company establishes
and maintains effective risk management and internal control
systems to meet the objectives and safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders and assets of the Company. The internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failures to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance.
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The Board oversees the Group's overall risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis through identifying
and grading risk components, perceiving control impact and
facilitating remediation plan. The development of our risk
management and internal control systems are largely based on
the framework as set down by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQO). The risk
management framework, coupled with our internal controls,
ensures the risks associated with our different business units
are effectively monitored, and are in line with the Group's risk
appetite.

The Group adopts the top-down approach to monitor the
principal risks affecting the business. The Board reviews and
approves the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems on an annual basis.

In respect to the absence of a separate internal audit
department in the Group, the Group reviews annually on
whether there is a need for such functional department. Given
the possibility to engage external professional assistance,
the Board opposes to divert resources to establish a separate
internal audit department.

During the Year, an external consultant had been engaged
by the Group to facilitate the Board and the Audit Committee
for the evaluation of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems. Through conducting an annual risk
assessment with the assistance of the external consultant, the
Group had identified and assessed the impact of the strategic
risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks of
its major businesses. A three-year rolling internal audit plan
was devised by the Group under a risk based approach with
reference to the results of the annual risk assessment. An
annual internal control review was performed by the external
consultant according to the approved internal audit plan
with a view to making recommendations for improving and
strengthening the internal control systems. The Board will
continue to work with the external consultant to discuss and
follow-up on the status of remediation of the internal control
weaknesses and to monitor the risks of the Group in the
coming years.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Group has adopted a policy on disclosure
of inside information with the aim to ensure the insiders are
abiding by the confidentiality requirement and are fulfilling the
disclosure obligation of the inside information.
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Taking the above into consideration, the Audit Committee
reviews the effectiveness of the Group's internal control
system and reports the relevant results to the Board. For the
Year, the Board considered that a review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems had
been conducted and considered that the risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group and ensure that the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the Year have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Accounting Standard and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

The statement of the external auditor of the Company,
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited, about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report from
pages 90 to 94 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited who will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. For the Year, the remuneration
payable to auditors is set out as follows:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Kit Sun is the company secretary of the Company.
His biographical details are set out under the section headed
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" of Directors and Senior Management Profile
on page 14 of this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Company adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code") as the
code for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the Model Code throughout the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide a communication
channel between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held each year and
at a place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called
a special general meeting. The Board may whenever it thinks
fit convene special general meetings.

The procedures for Shareholders to convene a special
general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong, to require
a special general meeting to be convened by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the date of
the deposit of such requisition.
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The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detail contact
information of the requisitionists and deposited with the Board
or the Company Secretary at the Company's principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

The procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting, or
a special general meeting, the Shareholders should submit
a written notice of those proposals with the detail contact
information to the Company Secretary at the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong. The request will be
verified with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong (the
“Share Registrar”) and upon their confirmation that the request
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the
Board to include the resolution in the agenda for the general
meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the Shareholders
concerned at an annual general meeting or a special general
meeting varies according to the nature of the proposal, and the
relevant notice periods are set out as follows:

° At least 14 clear days’ notice (the notice period must
include 10 clear Business Days (Note)) in writing if
the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution of the
Company in a special general meeting.

° At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must
include 10 clear Business Days (Note)) in writing if the
proposal constitutes a special resolution of the Company
in a special general meeting.

° At least 21 clear days’ notice (the notice period must
include 20 clear Business Days (Note)) in writing if the
proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution or a special
resolution of the Company in an annual general meeting.

Note: Business Day means any day on which the Stock Exchange is

open for the business of dealing in securities.
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The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

According to the Bye-laws, no person other than a retiring
Director shall, unless recommended by the Directors for
election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at
any general meeting, unless a notice in writing signed by
a Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given of his/her intention to propose such person
for election as a director and also a notice in writing by that
person of his willingness to be elected (including that person’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules) shall be lodged with the Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or the
Share Registrar’s place of business in Hong Kong provided that
the minimum length of the period, during which such notice(s)
are given, shall be at least seven days and that (if the notices
are submitted after the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election) the period for lodgment of
such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election
and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

If such notice(s) are received less than ten business days prior
to the date of such general meeting, the Company will need to
consider the adjournment of such general meeting in order to
allow the Shareholders fourteen clear days' notice (the notice
period must include ten Business Days (Note)) of the proposal.

Note: Business Day means any day on which the Stock Exchange is
open for the business of dealing in securities

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
the Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll
except where the Chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a
resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative
matter to be voted by a show of hands.
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TRERBE

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Shareholders Communication
Policy to set out the Company’s procedures in providing the
Shareholders and the investment community with ready, equal
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company, in order to enable the Shareholders to
exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow
the Shareholders and the investment community to engage
actively with the Company.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the
chairman of the Board, the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, or in their absence,
another member of the Board, committees or an appointed
representative, will attend the forthcoming annual general
meeting to answer questions of the Shareholders. The
Company will also invite representatives of the Auditors to
attend the forthcoming annual general meeting to answer the
Shareholders’ questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditors’ report, the accounting
policies and auditor independence.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”)
on 27 September 2019 which shall take effect on 27
September 2019. The Dividend Policy allows the Shareholders
to participate in the Company's profits by provision of dividends
whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future
growth opportunities.

According to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall consider
the following factors, among others, before proposing and
declaring dividends:

(i) the Company's operation and financial performance;

(ii) the Company’s liquidity conditions;
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(iii) the Company’s capital requirements and future funding
needs;

(iv) the Company’s contractual restrictions;
(V) the Company's availability of reserves; and
(vi) the prevailing economic climate.

The declaration of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
the Listing Rules, Bye-laws and any applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time by the
Board and may adopt changes as appropriate at the relevant
time. There can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The memorandum of association of the Company and the Bye-
laws are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company respectively.
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RE  HERERBE

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (thereafter “Group” or
“We") is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") Report ("ESG Report”) which summaries
the Group's ESG policies, initiatives, approach, strategy as well
as performance of the ESG’s matters.

REPORTING SCOPE

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide ("ESG
Reporting Guide”) in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The scope of this report will cover the Group’s whole range of
business activities, including, video distribution, film distribution
and exhibition, licensing and sub-licensing of film rights
("Film Business”), trading, wholesaling and retailing of optical
products and watches products (“Retail Business”), leasing
of investment properties, securities investment, provisions
of type-setting, translation, printing, design, distribution of
financial print products and other related services (“Financial
Printing Business”) for the year ended 30 June 2025.

It is also the intention of the management to provide an
overview of the Group’s direction in managing ESG related
matters and the Group's initiatives on further developing
the concept of ESG to employees, customers and suppliers,
putting them into practices in our daily operations, driving for
ESG initiatives throughout the Group, and communicating our
ESG performance result with our stakeholders by this ESG
Report.
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ESG GOVERNANCE

Delivering the best entertainment, services and products
while generating revenue and profit for our shareholders,
and recognising the importance and contributing to both
the environment and local community have always been
one of our guiding principles. ESG is thus considered a high
priority within the Group, and is especially championed by our
senior management. We endeavors to develop its business
sustainably, and contribute positively to the environment and
the society where its business operates.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) bears
the ultimate responsibility in ESG governance and sets forth
the overall ESG policies, approach, and strategy. Further, the
Board is obligated to evaluate and determine ESG-related risks
and ensure effective ESG risk management and internal control
systems are in place. Disclosures in this ESG Report are
approved by the Board.

With powers delegated by the Board, ESG working
group, which is comprised of the senior management and
representatives from different departments, was set up to
implement the Board’s ESG strategies and policies across
departments of the Group, carry out materiality assessments,
evaluate the effectiveness of the Group's ESG related risk
management and report its recommendations to the Board.

An information and data collection template is used for
collecting ESG information and data from relevant departments
and business units of the Group. The ESG Report is prepared
based on the information and data collected. The ESG working
group also supervises the collection of ESG data and assists
the preparation of this ESG Report. Key performance indicators
relating to the Group’s environmental and social performance
are highlighted in the paragraphs below.
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RE  HERERBE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We understand fully that standalone effort is minimal and
therefore see the engagement of its stakeholders as essential.
To extend its efforts to a broader audience, we had consulted
both its internal and external stakeholders on its potential
impact on the environment and society as a result of its
business operations. We understand and values relationship
with customers and suppliers, and thus included both parties
as our consultation targets.

The table below presents key stakeholders of the Group as
well as how the Group communicate with them through a
variety of engagement channels during the year.

Internal Stakeholders

o The Board

° Management

° General Staff

External Stakeholders

o Shareholders

° Customers

° Suppliers

° Local Community Groups

We engage our internal and external stakeholders through a
variety of communication channels, including but not limited
to the Company’s annual general meetings, the Group’s
annual and interim reports, ESG report, Company's website,
shareholders meetings, company activities, customer
satisfaction survey, community services and business
meetings.

The Group welcomes all stakeholders’ feedback regarding the
ESG issues. Interested parties can send their suggestions and

opinions to our head office at 18/F., Wyler Centre Phase II, 192-
200 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

During the preparation process of this ESG report, the Group
adheres to the following fundamental reporting principles
outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide:

(1)

Materiality analysis

Materiality analysis is performed annually to identify
the key ESG issues that are material to our business
operations. We invite various groups of key stakeholders
to participate in a stakeholder engagement exercise
to identify the material sustainability topics for the
ESG Report. We also identify most relevant issues by
reviewing peer companies’ ESG priorities. The results
were then reviewed and approved by the Board.

In this reporting year, a total of fifteen material topics
were identified including (i) greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emission; (i) waste management; (iii) use of resources;
(iv) reducing GHG emission and resources conservation;
(v) the environmental and nature resources; (vi) climate
change; (vii) employment, labour standard and practices;
(viii) equal opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination;
(ix) health and safety; (x) development and training; (xi)
supply chain management; (xii) product responsibility;
(xiii) anti-corruption and anti-money laundering; (xiv) data
privacy compliance; and (xv) community. In response to
the impact that these issues may cause to our business
operations, we have formulated suitable measures and
policies to address these issues. For details of the policies
and the relevance of the topics to our operations, please
refer to the corresponding chapters of this report. We
welcome any feedback and comments from stakeholders
to advance towards a sustainable future.

Quantitative

The environmental, social and governance objectives
identified by the Group should be measurable to facilitate
comparison with previous years, competitors and industry
standards.

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG
Reporting Guide and disclosed KPIs in a quantitative
manner. Information regarding the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation reference,
and sources of key conversion factors used for key
performance indicators (KPls) is stated wherever
appropriate.
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I%

(3)

R HERERBRSE

Consistency

We adopted a consistent environmental data treatment
approach to allow a fair comparison of our environmental
performance over time.

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

The Group's business does not involve in the production-
related direct air, water, or land pollutions, and thus do
not contribute to any material impact in these areas.
For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on
the Group including but not limited to, the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Water Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Prevention
and Control of Atmospheric Pollution Law of the People’s
Republic of China and, the Prevention and Control Law of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste of the People's
Republic of China.

The Group recognises the importance of developing
policies and strategies in line with best practices to
address climate change risks and mitigate the associated
impacts on the Group's business operations. Climate
change risks, such as rising sea levels, extreme weather
events and rising temperatures, can impact the Group's
business, assets and stakeholders. Therefore, we are
committed to doing its part to combat climate change and
conserve our recourses by monitoring the Group’s most
relevant environmental issues as follow.
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RIE - HERERRE

GHG Emission Al REREEHER

In order to regulate the emissions and waste BREAEEEEFELEZER
generated from the Group's operations, the M EEZEY - A& B2 6 EE
Group has established policies to regulate the MK HEAEEEEHRE
environmental impact of the Group's operations. B REBRYBEMR K
The Group pays close attention to the regional and BEREZENSTEE &
international updates of the related issue, including FE (R Bl fE 8 SR B L A BRR B2 1T
China's Policies and Actions for Coping with Climate ) M RE e RIRE LB RE ) &
Changes ((FREHREZL(CHBEETTE)) and BOR - ARENEBER TSN A
National Climate Change Adaptation Strategy (¢ BEER  TEEBHRIIKCEORZ
5 B R E L BLBE)), etc. The Group's primary o AEBEXER TEEKBK
business activities branch into Film Business, Retail B ENRI B EBHEE TSR T
Business and Financial Printing Business. The FAMEREPEESIENAER
business nature of the Group’s Film Business, Retail BHm - ME2 AKERE - H
Business and Financial Printing Business does not ¥ BV ESREZRERE
involve direct or significant emission of GHG from RIS SR ERNTE -

industrial or combustion process. In other words,
the Group concluded that there is no material
impact found, through direct GHG emission, to the
environment as a result of its business operations.

Regardless, the Group brought itself forward to EWRWF - AEEDNEEBEBEE
examine the indirect GHG emissions generated EEELENEBELEREER - &
via its operations. The assessment indicated that FEHER AT aEEWREH
electricity consumption, fuel consumption of own MEETITMEEREREEN —(E
vehicles for transportation, staffs’ air travel are three JREE o AL - NEER LRSS
of the most significant contributions to such. The BERERT -

Group thus reports on the captioned air emissions

as follow:
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RIE - HERERERSE

KEAKEZENREREIHN

GHG emissions from the Group's operations:

For the year For the year
ended ended
30 June 2025 30 June 2024
BE-EB-1F HE_T_MF
AA=1H ~A=1H
Unit By LEE HEE
Scope 1 Direct GHG HENERAE tonnes CO, ME—&{IREE 29.7 318
emissions (note 1) REHMN equivalent
(B35E1)
Scope 2 Indirect GHG ~ #ER2fE&E A= tonnes CO, “athhE=E 2355 309.1
emissions (note 1) R equivalent
Cia)
Scope 3 Other indirect ~ EBEI3E b #z tonnes CO, M-St EE 11.8 14
GHG emissions BEREEER equivalent
(note 1) (Pﬁ?ﬂ
Total GHG emission BEREHN tonnes CO, —atixg= 277.0 342.2
mE equivalent
GHG emission intensity /& EREHN tonnes CO, WE = &b ik 0.006 0.0009
(note 2) B (5E2) equivalent/ VA&
revenue (FA&T)
(HK$'000)
Note 1: PsET -

EXFEAEREHMMERANT
/fﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ’]@llﬂﬁﬁfﬁ
g RERME - M BRIR
E@iﬁ BUEREIRIES]) BT R R &

FHEMZEFUPCC(ENRRTMA
¥&¢>>E’inﬁﬁmﬁ‘é‘ EE] - BREED
BREBHMOCC T _MEARHEERR

The methodology adopted for reporting on greenhouse
gas emissions set out above was based on “How to
Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange,
the “Global Warming Potential Values” from the IPCC
Sixth Assessment Report, the “Sustainability Report

42

2024" published by HK Electric Investments and “2024
Sustainability Report” published by CLP Holdings Limited.

Note 2:

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$472,592,000 (For the year
ended 30 June 2024 : approximately HK$365,257,000).
This data is used for calculating other intensity data.

Due to the nature of the Group’s operation,
emissions of nitrogen, oxides, sulphur oxides,
particulate matter and other air pollutants are not
considered significant in the Group's operations.

The Group will continue to monitor its operational
activities to ensure its GHG emission maintains at
a satisfactory level. Further information shall be
disclosed should there be significant changes to the
reported GHG emission levels.
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RIE - HERERRE

A2 EEEMER
AEENELEBESREY:
% - TEEHRMEERIRY - A

A2 Waste Management

The Group's core business involves only Film
Business, Retail Business and Financial Printing
Services. However, there were an insignificant i REZHEARREFERLE
amount of chemicals used during the filming process Y EMTREDRIE) - B
(<1 tonne), of which were disposed of safely and BIELEVMEBRBEEERLENE

legally by licensed operators. Overall, the Group
was not aware of any non-compliance with related
laws or regulations in regards to such matters and
will continue its strict monitoring practices.

EHEE o BRI - AEEWT
A EBEENEMERERE
BERNER  WREEERZED
BRI

For this reporting period, wastes were produced as RASFEEE  BEEENEEY
follows: wmr
For the year For the year
ended ended
30 June 2025 30 June 2024
BZ-E-1fF HE-ZT-QUF
AA=tH ~NA=ZtH
Unit By EE HFE
Hazardous Waste BEEZEY Total Sum Fei(i) <0.1 <0.1
(tonne)
Non-Hazardous Waste ~ EZREEY) Total Sum 48 = () 21.2 18.7
(tonne)
Non-Hazardous Waste ~ EZREEYTE  Tonne/revenue A,/ as 0.00004 0.00005
Intensity (note 1) (B95E1) (HK$'000) (FA&T)
Note 1: PiEET -

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$472,592,000 (For the year
ended 30 June 2024 : approximately HK$365,257,000).

HE-_Z-_AFA=THILFE
AEEFERERL472,692, OOO/%E(E&
EZF_NMFNA=ZTHLEFE 8

This data is used for calculating other intensity data. 365,257,000/ 7T) - Z BN EE
fth 2 E BUE -
The Group has set target to reduce the non- AEERXRTEE  UEE=-Z=

hazardous waste intensity (tonne/revenue
(HK$'000)) gradually by the financial year ending 30
June 2027, using year ended 30 June 2024 as the
baseline year.
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E RBEZZE-+FA=1H
IEHBREEZAZR SR EREESE
W= E (W8, Was (T D)) °

FREEEEBRAR —ZE-_RFFR

43



44

Environmental, Social & Governance Report

A3

CHERER

]

To achieve the target, the Group had been cautious
about waste generation from daily activities, and
have worked closely with employees and partnered
with suppliers on reducing solid waste.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, we
implemented several operational changes to
minimize wastes, for example:

In our Film Business, we engaged catering services
that use recyclable utensils and provide customized
meals during external film shooting. This approach
minimizes food waste generated by our production
crews.

In our Financial Printing Business, we upgraded our
production systems to digitize the drafting process,
eliminating the need for internal draft printing of
client documents such as annual reports, circulars,
and prospectuses. This initiative significantly
reduced our paper consumption and lowered
disposal costs.

Furthermore, the Group promoted minimising
waste generation and recycling waste and recycling
materials, including paper, cardboard, wood and
metal as much as possible, and had placed recycling
bins in easy-to-access locations to increase
employees’ awareness on recycling.

Use of Resources

The Group is an environmentally friendly company,
and actively promotes the culture of “Efficient
& Green” operations. Continued from last year,
the Group had continued its efforts to encourage
employees to consume resources smartly,
particularly on paper, electricity and water.

Initiatives such as the adoption of energy
conservation practices were successfully
implemented in the offices in the past years. Latest
environmental trends and green tips were available
to employees as constant reminders for responsible
use of natural resources. In addition, suitable
facilities management were in place to identify
building services that require upgrades for improved
building efficiency and employee comfort.

A3
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Due to the Group's business nature, the Group did
not encounter any problem in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose.

A summary of the Group’s consumptions on natural
resources during this reporting period is provided as
below:

Consumption ltem #AEA Unit By
Indirect Energy BEEAENEEE
Consumption
- Electricity Consumption - & kWh FTRE
- Water Consumption - AKX L N
Direct Energy ERRER
Consumption
- Petroleum Consumption - A HFER L N
- Diesel Consumption - SOmFEA L N
Electricity Consumption ~ FIERE kWh/  FERE /&
Intensity (note 1) (D) revenue (F&T)
(HK$'000)
Water Consumption Ak E L/revenue A/ Mg
Intensity (note 1) (=D (HK$'000) (FH&T)
Note 1:

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$472,592,000 (For the year
ended 30 June 2024 : approximately HK$365,257,000).
This data is used for calculating other intensity data.

HRAEENEGEE  AREE
EREERBREAKERAEIL RS
BEfIRIRE -

REBRARE BHERRERE
A#MEWT

For the year For the year
ended ended

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
BE-Z-1Ff HE_T_NF

AA=TH ~NA=TH
TEEE HFEE
428,698 476,612
162,500 197,750
11,713 11,949
120 600
0.91 1.30
0.34 0.54
PsET -

BE-_Z-_AFA=Z1+HILEE -
REE RS U2 49472,592,0005 7T (B
ECT_ERNA=TRHIESFEE 8§
365,257,000/ 70) - ZEEANFTEH
fth R E B o

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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Reducing GHG emissions and resources
conservation

We aim to realise environmental sustainability,
minimise the adverse impacts on the environment
brought by our business activities and address the
climate change risks in the Group’s operations. The
Group has set target to reduce the GHG emission
intensity (tonnes CO, equivalent/revenue (HK$'000)
gradually by the financial year ending 30 June 2027,
using year ended 30 June 2024 as the baseline
year. In order to achieve the above targets, we set
out the following policies and measures to reduce
GHG emissions and resources consumptions as
follow:

- air conditioners are set to 23 to 25 Celsius
degree;

- employees are encouraged to switch off the
idle electrical appliance to minimise non-
essential energy consumption;

- alternative communication channels, such as
videoconferencing and conference calls, are
preferred over unnecessary business travel;

- encourage and support the use of electric
vehicles;

- communicating and encouraging customers,
contractors, suppliers and other stakeholders
to reduce carbon emissions in daily operations
whenever practicable;

- documents were to be printed or copied
double-sided;

Ad
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- e-marketing material, such as greeting cards
were to be sent via electronic means only;

- Running of idle equipment are forbidden.
Employees shall be encouraged to turn
on electrical equipment, including lighting
equipment, air conditioners, fans, etc. during
business hours depending on actual needs,
and turn off the power when not in use;

- The faucets shall be closed in time after using
water to prevent the wastage and leakage of
water. We placed water-saving reminders to
encourage employees to use water resources
efficiently and to conserve water;

- Inspect water pipelines regularly, check
and repair the water pipes leakage to avoid
wastage of water; and

- monitoring and responding to market and
technological shifts, regulatory and policy
changes associated with climate change.

The Group will continue to put its best efforts
on minimizing GHG emission, enhancing overall
performance and operation efficiency to save energy
through working closely with its stakeholders.
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The Environment and Natural Resources

The existing business operations of the Group
are not expected to pose a material impact on
the environment. However, the management had
nonetheless incorporated the factor of the potential
impact on the environment and natural resources
in business operations planning. The Group hopes
that continuous improvement will contribute to the
global ecological environment. Although the Group's
impacts on environment are insignificant and the
Group seldom uses natural resources directly, we
still encourage our employees to reduce the use of
natural resources and recycle as much as possible,
as described in section “A3 Use of Resources”.

Climate Change

In face of an increasingly serious global climate
problem, climate change has become a common
challenge for all mankind, and carbon reduction has
become a consensus among all countries. Due to the
nature of the business operation of the Group, the
Group is not involved in largescale manufacturing
industry and is relatively less affected by the
climate. Nevertheless, in order to reduce those risks
from extreme weather and natural disasters, we
have put in place emergency response procedures,
as outlined in the business continuity and disaster
recovery plan and employee handbook, such
as plans to cope with unforeseen disasters and
procedures for work arrangements under typhoons
and black rainstorms, and safeguards to minimise
loss of office equipment and facilities, business
impact, and harm to employee safety.

We will continue to monitor the potential risks of
climate change and its impacts on the Group's
operations and adopt the appropriate environmental
protection measures as stated in this report
accordingly.

Ab

AG
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SOCIAL

The business of the Group spreads across several
industry sectors, involves working with a large number
of individuals across various industries. The Group
understands the best way to attract or retain talents is
by offering competitive compensations, and treating
employees fairly and equally in regardless of culture,
gender and interests, while complying to laws and
regulations. As one of its guiding principles, the Group
commits to growing its business sustainably and in a
socially responsible manner, whilst continuing its best
management practices to improve in areas as needed.

B1

Employment, Labour Standard and Practices

The Group truly understands that its success
depends on the seamless teamwork among
employees and thus recognises its people as one
of the most valuable assets in contributing toward
its achievements. The Group trusted that the works
of excellence must be well compensated, and
therefore have always offering a market competitive
remuneration and benefits scheme to its own
employees.

The Group is an Equal Opportunity Employer
("EQE"). This means that it is committed to equal
treatment of all employees without regard to
race, national origin, religion, gender, age, sexual
orientation, veteran status, physical or mental
disability or other basis protected by law. The
Employment Policy of the Group accords to and
exceeds the requirements of the Employment
Ordinance, Minimum Wage Ordinance and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
aiming to provide a fair compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity and anti-
discrimination scheme for all of our employees.
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During the employment process, the Group made
it clear to responsible recruitment employees that
any discrimination acts against the EOE would not
be tolerated. The same policy extends to its internal
training and promotion practices. The human
resource department would also be responsible for
ensuring compliance with all regulations during the
employee recruitment process, where curriculum
vitaes and identification cards are carefully reviewed
to prevent any cases of the employment of child or
forced labour, or junior members under the age of
16 years old as full-time staff. Any breach of such
action will be reported to the company’s senior
management revision and subjected to further
company disciplinary action.

In the reporting period between 1 July 2024 to 30
June 2025, the Group has found no material breach
of relevant laws and regulations during operation.

To ensure the remuneration scheme stays
competitive, the Group had established a
Remuneration Committee since 15 July
2005, and with the principle duties of making
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
Remuneration Policy, structure of the Directors and
senior management, and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing
Remuneration Policy. In addition, the Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for giving
suggestions to the Board on remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and members of
the senior management. In detail, the principles of
the Group’s remuneration policies consist of:

(@) ensuring no Director should be involved in
deciding his or her own remuneration;

(b)  ensuring remuneration should be determined
by taking into consideration factors such
as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment, levels of responsibilities,
employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group and desirability of performance-based
remuneration;
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(c) reviewing and approving the management's
remuneration proposals with reference to
corporate goal and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time; and

(d) recommending the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior
management to the Board.

The Remuneration Committee will also meet
regularly to determine the policy for the
remuneration of Directors and assess the
performance of executive Directors and certain
senior management of the Group.

The Group employee’s emolument is determined
by the Remuneration Committee, and it will
be assessed based on merit, qualifications and
competence. Remuneration is reviewed annually
and certain employees are entitled to commission.
In addition to basic salaries, employee benefits
included discretionary bonuses, medical insurance
scheme and the mandatory provident fund as
stipulated by law.

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all qualifying employees employed.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the total
contributions paid or payable to the MPF scheme
by the Group amounted to approximately HK$2.4
million (2024: approximately HK$2.6 million), which
had been recognized as expenses and included in
employee costs in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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B2 Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-

Discrimination

The Group's Corporate Policy includes provisions
on handling discrimination, harassment and
victimisation in the workplace.

The Group acquires talents based on their merits to
fit in and contribute to the company regardless of
their gender and age. Together with a transparent
employment process, a fair appraisal, remuneration
and incentive scheme, the Group has attracted a
profile of diversified workers to join their workforce.

To uphold the principles of equal opportunities,
diversity and anti-discrimination in the workplace,
recruitment and retention of employees will
be based on a range of diversity parameters,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and education background, nationality, ethnicity,
industry experience, professional qualification, skills,
knowledge, length of services or any other factors
considered relevant and applicable from time to
time and beneficial to our business operations and
development.

B2
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The following table provided an overview of its
employee’s gender, age distribution and turnover
with a total of 116 (2024: 107) employees recorded

in June 2025 during the reporting period:

B

For the year ended

TRBMEZ TS _RAF AR
L1162 (2 Z/MF : 107
FZ)REMMR - FWR MR

For the year ended

30 June 2025 30 June 2024
BE-Z_0F BE_TNF
ARAZTHLEEFE ANAZTHLEFE
Turnover Turnover
No. of rate % No. of rate %
people (note 1) people (note 1)
MK E% TREY
A (BF=E) N (FFF3ET)
Total workforce ETHAY 116 45.7 107 54.5
Total workforce by RUERESHET
gender wmy
Male ELks 58 45.8 60 39.4
Female z 58 45.7 47 72.2
Total workforce by RERARE DN
age group ETHY
Below 30 years old 30 A T 22 48.8 19 82.6
30-50 years old 30-505%, 66 46.7 b5 47.6
Over 50 years old 50B% A 28 36.5 33 476
Total workforce by  R{ERERIZIH
employment type ETHY
Full time e 105 41.0 95 50.2
Part time R 1 87.0 12 91.7
Total workforce by RWEESHET
geographical region &%
Hong Kong BB 98 45.4 88 54.6
PRC H 18 47.4 19 53.8
Note 1: The turnover rate by category is calculated Mzl : BERIEID REAXRMES

by dividing the number of employees leaving

E RN AR BT 8 E R

employment in the specified category during
the financial year by the average number of
employees in the specified category as at the
beginning and end of the financial year.

Al 2 B BERR A BB DA B
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The Group had issued a comprehensive Employee
Handbook, providing the basis for human resources
management about the employment policy, welfare
and benefits, leave and rest days, conduct and
discipline, occupational health and safety policy,
personal data (privacy) policy and equal opportunity
policy. All employees were handed a copy of such
handbook upon employment. Any updates to the
Group’'s employment policies would be made
transparent through electronic means or other
appropriate methods to staff members affected.

During the period from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025,
there was no reported material breach of related
regulations and laws.

Health and Safety

As a socially responsible company, the Group places
great emphasis on workplace safety, especially for
its film making activities that occasionally involves
activities of high risks to workers, such as working
from height, controlled explosions, stuntman
performances, use of equipment and chemicals etc.

The Group’s health and safety practices accords
to the guideline from HKSAR Labour Department
(section “Occupational Safety & Health"), where
safety equipment, measures, practices are enforced
per requirement. Sufficient lighting, air ventilation
and spacious working areas are provided in all
premises to minimise occupational health risks
imposed to workers.

Furthermore, the Group safeguards its workplace
from unanticipated events that would require an
immediate evacuation, such as under the accident
of fire, and employees are required to participate
in the office building’s regular fire drills. The
building management also provided clear signs
and instructions for emergency incidents (such
as the access to fire safety route or rally points).
The participation of these drills is mandatory for
all employees and it were conducted during office
hours.

B3
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For the film division, safety practices are part of
the daily routine and it is applied at all times. The
Group's management team makes periodic visits
to ensure all safety practices were implemented,
and to review potential health and safety risks, or
any accidents that may occur. The Group provides
appropriate safety guidelines and equipment to all
workers exposed to safety risks such as Personal
Protection Equipment (PPE), fire extinguishers,
emergency evacuation procedures, and appropriate
training to actors or actresses working on action
movies etc. Special insurance is provided to relevant
employees working in such conditions to ensure the
best assistance would be available should any cases
of injuries happen.

The Group also employs third-party contractors to
perform regular check-ups for filming equipment to
ensure they are in a good condition.

During the past 3 years from 1 July 2022 to 30
June 2025, the Group is happy to report that there
is no material non-compliance breach with relevant
standards, rules and regulations, and did not involve
in any accidents that has caused serious injuries to
its workers. The number of work related fatalities
and lost days due to work injury is zero during the
reporting period.

Development and Training

The Group's business involves selling products in
the retail industry and provision of financing printing
services. In order to stay competitive, periodic
trainings for employees are required for the Group
to stay abreast with the latest market development.
Great emphasis was placed on training and
equipping employees with the latest market trend
for career advancement.

Despite considerable training costs involve, the
Group adheres to nurturing talents internally to
enhance the overall capability of its workforce.
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The following reports on training received by
staff and its distribution by gender and employee

category.

For the year ended
30 June 2025
BZ-Z_-5fF
NA=ZTHLEEE

Training
ratio % Training
(note 1) hours

ZHILE £ %
(BF&ET)  SEFNEFE

Environmental, Social & Governance Report

AT =8 T ZE6 KRR &
BTHEME DD -

For the year ended
30 June 2024

BE_T_NF
NA=TRILEFE
Training

ratio % Training
(note 1) hours

I E %
(GEIDE-HlEE

Training ratio and &1 Bl Bl 5 B9 3 5

hours by gender tb R &
Male B 70.7 420 33.3 350
Female I 53.4 392 27.7 202
Training ratio and RER 85 HEI

hours by category LR B
Senior Management aSRERRE 100.0 60 100.0 40
Management ERE 68.0 162 25.8 131
Staff BT 59.6 590 31.1 381

Note 1: The percentage of trained employees by BeE1 . REREOMZINEER»

category is calculated by dividing the number of
employees in the specified category who took
part in training during the financial year by the
number of employees in the specified category

as at the end of the financial year.

The Group respects intellectual property rights and
should report any infringement on copyrights should
any of such act be discovered within the scope of
the Group's management capability. Its customer
database is maintained in strict confidentiality to
safeguard consumer data and their privacy.
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Supply Chain Management

The nature of the Group’'s business requires to
work with numbers of stakeholders from various
sectors. As reported in last year’'s ESG report, the
Group maintains an open engagement channel
with suppliers that includes procedures to conduct
regular meetings and interviews (for new suppliers).

The Group examines qualifications of its suppliers.
Required business licenses, trademark registration
certificates, trademark use authorizations, product
testing reports, and customs duty certificates are
inspected to ensure its validity. Suppliers would be
assessed based on product knowledge, after-sales
service, marketing strategies to ensure the Group's
standards can be met.

The Group only sources raw materials for its goods
from reputable suppliers. The Group exerts its
influence, as a buyer, to ensure suppliers provide
products that comply to local and international
regulations.

The Group collaborates with its business partners
to deliver quality products and services with
sustainability attributes to its customers. The Group
encourages its contractors and suppliers to observe
the Group's core values and to adhere to ethical
as well as socially and environmentally responsible
practices.

Regular monitoring and annual performance reviews
of registered suppliers are conducted to minimize
environmental and social risks in the supply
chain. The Group also has standard approach and
criteria to assess the performance of suppliers and
contractors.
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Number of suppliers by geographic region: ZiRE DR EREE -
For the year ended For the year ended
30 June 2025 30 June 2024
BE-Z-IF BE_T_NF
AAZTHLEE ANAZTHILLFE
Hong Kong N5 96 90
PRC and other Asian countries B R H g B R
(other than Hong Kong) (BBRI) 15 10
B6 Product Responsibility B6 EmEE
The Group's business spreads across the retail REBNEBIEERTERIE
and wholesale of goods and production of movies. IAREFEE - Bt - B AREE
It is therefore anticipated that the Group has a FHBAETRZEAERERMESR
complicated product management portfolio due BEHNEREERAS - BEAFHIR
to its subjection to various applicable laws and 5 odekBems  AEENE
regulations. Continued from last year's ESG report, mEEFBHA T -

details of the Group's product responsibility are
summarised as below.

Retails Products — Eyewear ZEEm-RE
The following ordinances and procedures have been REBECDRIEERTERETIAT
adhered to regarding the sales of eyewear products: 1&H RIZRF

AEBERRETEERHT

° Qualified optometrists are present in all of the

Group's eyewear retail shops; HHEEBE A

e Eye-tests are conducted by such professionals s EUHIZEAERR(GHEE
according to the section 12(1)(a) of the ZIZBID) (B LW E359E)
Supplementary Medical Professions Ordinance F12(1)(a) (FETTREDAIE

(Chapter 359 of the Laws of Hong Kong),

e Contact lens are only recommended to e RBAERERHEEMESRGR
customers by optometrists when a valid BHRAMEEZ S SHHE
prescription is provided (under section 7.4 TFRIZE7. 41%) - BT E
of the Code of Practice of the Optometrists ML FIR R R R
Board),
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° Only real and genuine products are offered
(under the Trade Description Ordinance
(Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
where false trade descriptions, misleading or
incomplete information and mis-statements
in respect of goods provided in all sales
activities) are strictly prohibited in all of the
Group's shops;

° Products are directly purchased from the
manufacturers and authorized wholesalers,
where invoices and authorizing documents are
provided on re-selling goods;

° Performance of “Triple” quality check-up
process before products are sent to shops
(performed by buyer, procurement officer and
front-line sales employees);

° “Table of Tolerance” quality check to be
performed on the lenses upon product
arrival to shop. The check is prepared by the
professional association in the Hong Kong
Optical Industry as a quality check up on the
contact lenses, ensuring the status of the
expiration of these lenses are valid before re-
selling to customers; and

° Protection of customers’ data and privacy by
denying unauthorised access to customers’
information.

Retails Products — Watches

The Group closely monitors its offered watch
products, especially in relation to safety issues. A
consistent update is performed safeguarding the
Group with the compliance to up-to-date laws and
regulations related to watch products, ensuring
the accuracy of the advertised information and
labels, and avoiding any misrepresentation leading
to a breach of law. On the other hand, regular
communication is conducted with suppliers,
updating the latest trend on regulation and
measures accordingly.

RE  dERERKE

. AEEEREELRERGE
18 (B2 S IR O1) (B8 %)
£362%)) « MAZBRTH
AERRRS R A REE
DR RN ERNEBES
SR FERE TR
B RS RIL

s AKEMNEREERNRE
BREELERRE &
IEEERERERNERE
S

s UGERBXREEWZAN ¥
EIZElmERERERF(H
B RBEEENRAREE
ANBHETT)

s RERREEMIRER  HM
SHERETIAER]IME
WE - ZEREHBENES
TENBEXBEHET - ER
HRPRENRERE  #
REEEREBETERPZ
A B AR - &

BUIEREEEDNSEFRE
HIAREEFPBAEHK
FLRZ

EEm - EK
ES

=
AEERTYEEHRMHNERE
o LEEZ2MEAE - ﬁﬂaﬁ@%ﬂ,_
BH - REAKEETHRERER
BRENSINERER  BERES?
B ARHAERE - I8 R AR E RRR
MEPBERER - Z—T7E - M
EHR M EREITRE - T AR
HEE B MRS -
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During its procurement process, the Group relies
on a comprehensive Procurement Policy set by
the senior management. Only genuine goods
with relevant trademark registration certificates or
trademark authorisation documents, or directly from
brand owners or brand authorised distributors, will
be procured for resell purposes. Testing reports are
requested from suppliers, while warehouse keepers
will also perform quality control checks to ensure
the quality of watches are up to standard before
shipping to shops for sales.

The Group applies the same Data Protection and
Privacy Policy throughout the business. Customer
data are stored in a Point Of Sales (POS) system,
where senior grade employees, with appropriate
authorisation, are able to access such database, and
no data shall be released to any third party under
any circumstances.

Customer feedback is an important basis for us
to continuously improve our services. In order to
effectively handle customer complaints and improve
customer satisfaction, customers can submit their
opinions and complaints to us through different
channels such as telephone, email and letter, and
we will systematically handle them in accordance
with the severity of the problems. During the
Reporting Period, we have received approximately
12 customer complaints regarding our products or
services and all of them were handled and resolved.

During the reporting period, there were no products
subject to recalls due to safety and health reasons.
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Anti-Corruption and Anti-Money Laundering

The Group is committed to the highest standard
of corporate governance, and aims to maintain
the same vision with its policies in transparency,
uprightness and accountability.

It is at the heart of the Group's business to operate
in an ethical, personal and professional manner.
Any activity relating to corruption, commercial
bribery, extortion, money-laundering and other
fraudulent activities would not be tolerated. Conflict
of interests will be reported, to prevent the possible
occurrence of inside-dealing or any criminal regime
in client transactions. Regular anti-corruption, and
money laundering training and circulars are provided
to employees to remain cautious on suspicious
transactions.

The compliance manual of the Group has set out
policies and procedures for anti-corruption and anti-
money laundering. All employees are required to
be read and acknowledge such compliance manual.
There are Whistleblowing Policy in place for
reporting suspicious fraudulent actions, misconduct,
malpractice and irregularities to the Board.

We encourage employees to raise and report
any concerns in confidence about misconduct,
malpractice or irregularities in any matters related
to the Group to the Board. The confidentiality of
all reporting persons is strictly protected and every
reasonable effort will be made to maintain the
confidentiality, to ensure that no retaliation will
result from reports or complaints on reportable
misconduct made in good faith. The mechanism
will be followed by careful investigation procedures
to ensure all complaints are treated promptly and
fairly.

B7
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HERERRE

In addition, training in anti-corruption and anti-money
laundering is provided for employees, including
executive Directors, in collaboration with the
Independent Commission Against Corruption and
other regulators. The training covers issues such as
integrity in operations, works supervision and the
reporting of the suspicious transactions.

During the current reporting period, the Group had
no litigation in relation to corruption and money
laundering activities identified, involving the Group
and its employees.

Data Privacy Compliance

The Group is dedicated to protect the privacy and
confidentiality of personal data from employees,
clients, business partners, and other identifiable
individuals. The Group's employees are instructed
to handle confidential information with due
care. Information is only collected and used in
a responsible and non-discriminatory manner,
and restricting the use of the information for the
purposes consistent with those identified in the
contracts. Generally, the laws and regulations
affecting the Group includes the Trade Marks
Ordinance (Chapter 559 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Trade Descriptions Ordinance
(Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group will stay alert
to the relevant legal issues and update its internal
policies when necessary to avoid any breach of the
regulatory requirements.

There were no issues occurred concerning data
privacy in this reporting period.

B8
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Community

The Group is committed to serving and giving
back to the local community and contribute to
social services. The Group’s management team
encourage employees to join all of these activities,
which reflects management team’s commitment
to sustainable development. The Group believes
by encouraging employees to participate in a wide
range of charitable events, community awareness
will be raised, and more people will be inspired to
take part in serving our community. The Group will
continue to support these meaningful social events
in the future.

In addition, we will do our best to provide more
employment opportunities for community members
in the coming time, and to progress and develop
together with the community. In collaboration with
the Labour Department’'s Selective Placement
Division, the Group recruited job seekers with
disabilities. Its objective is to assist people with
disabilities in securing jobs in open employment
that best suit their abilities, skills, qualifications and
experience, with the ultimate aim of integrating
them into the community and helping them to be
financially independent.

Furthermore, we shoulder industrial responsibilities
to create social value for the film and entertainment
industry, and contribute to building a better society.

B9 tl@
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CHERER

ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

]

AFSENE

(R -8k

fos 3 &

B/a¥

HEELD

Aspects, General

disclosures and KPls

BE  —REER Description Corresponding Section

BREVER i REZH

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAT: HHY

General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a | A1 GHG Emissions

—RRE significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into | A1 BEREHH
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ&/ig BHA MR M5 FEREEENNELNHERETHETAR

EXFRNBRERAINER

KPIEBSEEAIEIRAL.1 | The types of emissions and respective emissions data A1 GHG Emissions

BHEE RAES R A BREREHFIYD

KPIRISEE IR IEAT 2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity

A1 GHG Emissions
AUBERERRY

WM LN E R RRARIELARARDRN SR

B (BE1) kppkiEE (BE)REREHRE BN E) R(nER)ZE
KPIBASREMIEIZA1.3 | Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity A2 Waste Management
FEARERNEEEHE) R ERBE N BENER
KPIE3#42 0 11RA1.4 | Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity A2 Waste Management
FrELEZEAE AT E) R (ER)BE N BENER
KPIEA 42 MIE1ZA15 | Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them A4 Reducing GHG emissions

and resources
conservation and

HAREAEREZRNNNE  RERMTLORHE R BRARIELREFRANSR

A2 Waste Mar]agement
MDY BEREERRAR
RERAEENER
KPIBISEMIEIRA1.6 | Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of | A2 Waste Management
reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them A EENER

EEA2: RER

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

General Disclosure

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials

A3 Use of Resources

—BEE BRERER(BEER  KREMRTH)NEGR M ERER

KPIEA 242 #E12A2.1 | Direct and/or indirect energy consumptlon by type in total (kKWh) and intensity A3 Use of Resources
FERESNERR/ SRS FAREUITREE)REE A3 BRER

KPIFAS#4EAIE12A2.2 | Water consumption in total and intensity A3 Use of Resources
BEKERBE A3 BRER

KPIE§#4E3#812A2.3 | Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them A4 Reducing GHG emissions
R R RE AR B ERAEEL B EMEDNN PR and resources

conservation

A4 /Jw\/ﬁ;ﬁ%@m&& &R

IJX

KPIEISEE IRIEA 4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achigve them

FILRBGER KR LA EMEE - URAT UMK AE R B RAZIEL R EFRIN SR

A4 Reducing GHG emissions
and resources
conservation

A4 ﬂ(éiﬂ’mﬁi&ﬁ?ﬁ

=

KPIEA R EE IR EA2 5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference

to per unit produced
%muﬁﬁﬁ%@ CHEIIRE A E) R(INER) BEEEN R

Not applicable to the Group's
businesses

TERRAEEZH
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Aspects, General
disclosures and KPls
B —REER
BREVER

Description

i

Corresponding Section

REEH

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EHA3: BERRAER

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer's significant imQact on the environment and natural resources

A5 The Environment and Natural

—RBE BERTAMRRRARERENERT ENHR _Resources
A5 BERARER
KPIEAf24EIE12A3.1 | Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and | Ab The Environment and Natural
the actions taken to manage them _ o e _Resources
BER EDHRERARERNEAYERCFOERAHY 20T A5 RERAARER

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EHA4: RIRET

General Disclosure
fl =3
—RHE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer

BRI REHCERAEEHETAELYENEARKEAZENHR

A6 Climate Change
A6 REZ(L

KPIEBRAE AR ALY

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them

HERERAREHRTAELYENEARENEZE - REHTY

A6 Climate Change
A6 RIER

Aspect B1: Employment

EMEB1: EfE
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a | B1 Employment, Labour
—RHE significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and Standard and Practices

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare B \ o
ERTMRRE  BERET TR - B FSRe Sl REGUREMFERE
MOBERETHETABEAY ENEBEERADINER

and B2 Equal
Opportunities, Diversity
and Anti-Discrimination

B1ER  BTRARERR
B2 TEHE - SR
f R

KPIFIS#EE MR 2R 1

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), age group and
?Eographica\ region L . _
Zith - EREER (N2BSRE)  FRARRMERSNES LY

B1 Employment, Labour
Standard and Practices
and B2 Equal
Opportunities, Diversity
and Anti-Discrimination

B1ER £TRARERR
B2 FERE - Hrftl
REE

KPIEBRAE 121281 2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region

mp
RITH - FRANRERIADNHERRRLE

B1 Employment, Labour
Standard and Practices
and B2 Equal
Opportunities, Diversity
and Ant-Discrimination

B1ER  STERRERR
BITEHE SR
G

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EEB2: RERZZ

General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a | B3 Health and Safety
—HBE significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting | B3 B k%2
emﬁgloyees from occupational hazards i )
BRREZ 2 TERRRREESEEBENAENRRRETHENABEAY ENER AR
RO AR
KPIE##4E414512B2.1 | Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the | B3 Health and Safety
reporting year B3 #ER%ZZE

BE=F(BEREFRBFERTICANABRLE

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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]

HRFRPNBXREAR2EE - AREEATRERE

Aspects, General

disclosures and KPls

BE -BEER Description Corresponding Section

BRENES R HESH

KPIZISEMUEER2.2 | Lost days due to work injury B3 Health and Safety
AIBEXTERS BIERE2

KPIE##4E41#512B2.3 | Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented | B3 Health and Safety
and monitored B3R R%2

JEHB3 - BE R

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure

—REE

Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities

ABRTERRTIERANARREENER - HlEIIED

B4 Development and Training
B4 BE LA

KPIEBRAAIE2B3.1

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management)

RUEHRERENMEREEE P REEBDHINTIREAN L

B4 Development and Training

B4 R R

KPS £ 41512832

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category

IR RERERED - BREETATINTIRS

B4 Development and Training

B4 R RIEHI

JEHB4: BIRE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

General Disclosure
—RRE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relatmg to preventing child and forced labour

AEMLEETRANATHHRRETHRTAREATENREERRAIINER

B1 Employment, Labour
Standard and Practices

BIERE ST RELER

KPIBA IR ER4 1

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour
it AR E AN EE NS L ETRENST

B1 Employment, Labour
Standard and Practices
BT ER  HTERARER

KPIEIS g 1RB4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered

HLESR AR ERARRRARRN SR

B1 Employment, Labour
Standard and Practices

B1ER $TEARER

JEEBS : fEEER

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

HEEREREEANED  MARTEBENRRAENE - RABRTRERTE

General Disclosure Po||0|es on managmg environmental and social risks of the supply chain B5 Supply Chain Management

it B RERNRE Rt @ BRER B fIEHEER

KPIBS#4E#E12B5.1 | Number of suppliers by geographical region B5 Supply Chain Management
R E AN B fIEHEER

KPI##4E71:512B5.2 | Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices | B5 Supply Chain Management
are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored BS fifEsEEE

KPIB 2 37612B5.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain,
and how they are implemented and monitored

HAABRAHERSERAMRERLERARNED - UREBHTRERTE

KPIEA 2 iE e 2B5.4

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services
when selectmg sup Ehers and how they are implemented and monitored

HElEREHERRRESARRERRRENEDN - NREBRTRERTE
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HERER

wE

Aspects, General
disclosures and KPls
B —REER
BREVER

Description

i

Corresponding Section

REEH

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

JEMB6 - EmEf

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods of redress
RRMREENARBORERRS  BE  RERLESEURBRAENRRRETHET
NBEATENEBERRANNERN

B6 Product Responsibility
B6 EmEE

KPIEBR A A2 12B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons
BERCERERRET AR BEFEEATMARKNA DL

B6 Product Responsibility
B6 ZEmAE

KPIB S 2 7612B6.2

Number of products and services related complaints received and how they are dealt with

REERERRRENRFHE I REY L

B6 Product Responsibility
B6 EmA T

KPIRIS#E 5 12R6.3

Descrlptlon of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights

flEgERRENSEERRNEDN

B6 Product Responsibility
B6 EmATE

KPIB S E 1151286 4

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures

HLEERTBRREREYER

B6 Product Responsibility
B6 EmE(E

KPIEA 242 iR 2865

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented

and monitored
AR EANRE RLBER - ARBBRORERTA

B6 Product Responsibility
B EREM

Aspect B7: Anti-Corrup
[BEB7: RES

tion

General Disclosure

—REE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to br\bery extortion, fraud and money laundering

BBDILEE 9%  BEREESNBR RETHETABEATENRS ié&%ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬂ

B7 Anti-Corruption and
Ant-Money Laundering
B7 RERRRAHE

KPIEIS & E1RBT.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases

REEHENETAREEERLTDEENENFARNNHE RFDER

B7 Anti-Corruption and
Anti-Money Laundering
B7 REGRREHE

KPIEA & MIE1ER7 2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored

HARBEERERER - UREERTREENE

B7 Anti-Corruption and

Anti-Money Laundering
B7 REERRAEHE

KPIB S EIE1ZB7.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff

HRREERE TRENRETE

B7 Anti-Corruption and
Anti-Money Laundering

B7 REGERRKHE
Aspect B8: Community Investment
JEEBS : HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the | B9 Community
—REE issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests BIHE
RRNHE2ARTRETALEMENBR ENEREXBEDEZRULENENHR
KPIBBE M 1E17BB.1 | Focus areas of contribution B9 Community
SIERER B9 it&
KPIB5¢ A M12B8.2 | Resources contributed to the focus area B9 Community
EZIERHMBRER BY it

EFRECEBERAT —ZE-_RFFR
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Report of the Directors

ESEHRES

The board of directors (the “Director(s)”) (the “Board”)
submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of Universe Entertainment and Culture
Group Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2025 (the
“Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 97
to 98.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (for the year ended 30 June 2024: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's business during the Year are set out
in “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 13 of
this annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) by
reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties held for investment purposes
are set out on page 275 of the annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 30 June 2025
amounted to HK$109,671,000 (2024: HK$154,322,000) including
contributed surplus of HK$597,789,000 (2024: HK$597,789,000),
which is only distributable subject to conditions as set out in
Notes 24(b) and 24(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 276 of
the annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the
Year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased or sold any of the Company's listed securities during
the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the annual general
meeting held on 2 December 2013, the Company conditionally
approved and adopted a share option scheme in compliance
with the Listing Rules (the “Old Share Option Scheme”).

The Old Share Option Scheme was valid and effective for
a period of 10 years from the date of adoption, i.e. until 1
December 2023. Following the Consultation Conclusions
on Proposed Amendments to Listing Rules relating to
Share Schemes of Listed Issuers and Housekeeping Rule
Amendment published by the Stock Exchange in July 2022,
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules was amended and became
effective from 1 January 2023. In light of the above and in view
of the Old Share Option Scheme which is due to expire on 1
December 2023, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme on 4 December 2023 (“New Share Option Scheme”).
A summary of the principal terms of the New Share Option
Scheme are as follow:

(1) Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to
recognize and acknowledge the contributions or potential
contributions made or to be made by the eligible
participant(s) including the employee participants, the
related entity participants and the service providers (the
"Eligible Participants”) to the Group, to motivate the
Eligible Participants to optimize their performance and
efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and to maintain or
attract business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are or may be beneficial to the
growth of the Group.
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Eligible Participants

The New Share Option Scheme enables the Company
to grant options (the “Option”) to Eligible Participant(s)
to subscribe for share(s) of the Company (the “Shares”)
under the New Option Scheme.

The adoption of the New Share Option Scheme aligns
with the market practice of providing incentives to the
employee participants to work towards enhancing the
enterprise value and achieving the long-term objectives
for the benefit of the Group as a whole.

As the related entity participants and service providers
have contributed to the long-term growth of the
Company’s businesses, it would be in the Company’s
interests to also have the flexibility to grant Options
to the related entity participants and service providers
in recognition of their contributions to the Company.
It is beneficial to include the related entity participants
and service providers since a sustainable and stable
relationship with them is essential to the business
development of the Group, and that the grant of Options
to these non-employee participants will align their
interests with the Group's interests, incentivising them
to provide better services to, create more opportunities
for and/or contribute to the success of the Group in the
long run.

The Board will determine the employee participants’
eligibility in its sole discretion by considering all relevant
factors as appropriate and take into account criteria
based on the nature of the contributions made by service
providers and related entity participants before granting
Option(s) to them.

The inclusion of each of the related entity participants and
proposed categories of service providers are in line with
the Company's business needs and the industry norm,
and the criteria for the election of Eligible Participants
and the terms of an offer (the "Offer”) to an Eligible
Participant for the grant of an Option align with the
purpose of the New Share Option Scheme.
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(3)

Subscription Price

The subscription price of the Options shall be determined
by the Board and notified to an Eligible Participant at the
time the grant of the Option(s) is made to (and subject
to acceptance by) the Eligible Participant and shall be at
least the highest of: (a) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’'s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business
day (as defined in the New Share Option Scheme); (b)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
(5) business days (as defined in the New Share Option
Scheme) immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(c) the nominal value of the Shares. The Board considers
that such basis will serve to preserve the value of the
Company and encourage the Eligible Participants to
acquire proprietary interests in the Company.

Maximum Number of Shares

(@)  The total number of Shares which may be issued in
respect of all Options to be granted under the New
Share Option Scheme and all options to be granted
under any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company must not, in aggregate, exceed ten per
cent (10%) of the total number of Shares in issue as
at the adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit")
unless approval of the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders’”) has been obtained pursuant to
paragraphs 4(d) and (e) or (f) below. Options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the New Share
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company shall not be regarded as utilised
for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate
Limit.
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Subject to paragraph 4(c) below, within the Scheme
Mandate Limit, the total number of Shares which
may be issued in respect of all Options to be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme and
all options to be granted under any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company to the service
providers must not, in aggregate, exceed three per
cent (3%) of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the Adoption Date (the “Service Provider
Sublimit”) unless Shareholders’ approval has been
obtained pursuant to paragraphs 4(d) and (e) or (f)
below. Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the New Share Option Scheme or any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company shall not be
regarded as utilised for the purpose of calculating
the Service Provider Sublimit.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the New
Share Option Scheme, the Service Provider Sublimit
is subject to approval by the Shareholders in general
meeting. If on the adoption date, the adoption
of the New Share Option Scheme is approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting but the
Service Provider Sublimit is not so approved by the
Shareholders, no Option shall be granted to any
Service Provider and the Service Provider Sublimit
shall be deemed to be nil Share, and the provisions
of the New Share Option Scheme shall be construed
accordingly, unless and until a sublimit on the total
number of Shares which may be issued in respect
of all Options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme and all options to be granted under
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
to the Service Providers is subsequently approved
by the Shareholders in general meeting, in which
case the Service Provider Sublimit shall be deemed
to be the sublimit so approved by the Shareholders
with effect from the date of such approval, and the
provisions of the New Share Option Scheme shall
be construed accordingly.
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The Company may seek approval by the
Shareholders in general meeting for “refreshing”
the Scheme Mandate Limit (and the Service
Provider Sublimit) after three (3) years from date of
the Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment
(or the adoption date). Any “refreshment” within
any three (3) year period must be approved by the
Shareholders subject to the following provisions:

(i) any controlling shareholders of the Company
and their associates (or if there is no controlling
shareholder of the Company, Directors
(excluding independent non-executive Directors)
and the chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates) must abstain from
voting in favour of the relevant resolution at the
general meeting; and

(i) the Company must comply with the
requirements under Rules 13.39(6) and (7),
13.40, 13.41 and 13.42 of the Listing Rules.

The requirements under paragraphs 4(d)(i) and
(i) above do not apply if the refreshment is made
immediately after an issue of securities by the
Company to the Shareholders on a pro rata basis
as set out in Rule 13.36(2)(a) of the Listing Rules
such that the unused part of each of the Scheme
Mandate Limit and the Service Provider Sublimit
(as a percentage of total number of Shares in issue)
upon refreshment is the same as the unused part of
each of the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service
Provider Sublimit immediately before the issue of
securities, rounded to the nearest whole Share.
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The total number of Shares which may be issued
in respect of all Options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme and all options to be
granted under any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company under the Scheme Mandate Limit and
the Service Provider Sublimit as “refreshed” must
not, in aggregate, exceed ten per cent (10%) and
three per cent (3%) of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed
Scheme Mandate Limit (the “Refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit") and the refreshed Service Provider
Sublimit (the “Refreshed Service Provider Sublimit”)
respectively. The Company must send a circular to
the Shareholders containing the number of Options
that were already granted under the existing Scheme
Mandate Limit and the existing Service Provider
Sublimit, and the reason for the “refreshment”.
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The Company may seek separate approval by
the Shareholders in general meeting for granting
Options beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit (or
the Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit, as the case
may be) or the Service Provider Sublimit (or the
Refreshed Service Provider Sublimit, as the case
may be) provided that the Options in excess of the
Scheme Mandate Limit, the Refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit, the Service Provider Sublimit or the
Refreshed Service Provider Sublimit (as the case
may be) are granted only to Eligible Participants
specifically identified by the Company before such
approval is sought. The Company must send a
circular to the Shareholders containing the name
of each specified Eligible Participant who may be
granted such Options, the number, and terms of
the Options to be granted to each such Eligible
Participant, and the purpose of granting Options
to the specified Eligible Participants with an
explanation as to how the terms of the Options
serve such purpose. The number and terms of
Options to be granted to such Eligible Participant
must be fixed before the Shareholders’ approval. In
respect of any Options to be granted, the date of
the Board meeting for proposing such grant should
be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the Subscription Price under paragraph 3
above.

If the Company conducts a share consolidation or
sub-division after the Scheme Mandate Limit has
been approved in general meeting, the maximum
number of Shares that may be issued in respect of
all options to be granted under all of the schemes
of the Company under the Scheme Mandate Limit
and the Service Provider Sublimit as a percentage
of the total number of issued Shares at the date
immediately before and after such consolidation
or sub-division shall be the same, rounded to the
nearest whole share.
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Maximum Entitlement of Each Eligible Participant

Where any grant of Options is proposed to be made to
an Eligible Participant which, if accepted and exercised in
full, would result in the total number of Shares issued and
which may fall to be issued upon the exercise of such
Options proposed to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme and all options granted under any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company to such Eligible
Participant (excluding any options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the New Share Option Scheme or any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant representing in aggregate over one per cent (1%)
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of
such grant (the “1% Individual Limit”), such grant must
be separately approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting with such Eligible Participant and his/her close
associates (or associates if the Eligible Participant is a
connected person) abstaining from voting. A circular must
be sent by the Company to the Shareholders disclosing
the identity of the Eligible Participant, the number, and
terms of the Options to be granted (and those previously
granted to such Eligible Participant in the 12-month
period), the purpose of granting Options to the Eligible
Participant and an explanation as to how the terms of
the Options serve such purpose. The number and terms
of the Options to be granted to such Eligible Participant
must be fixed before the Shareholders’ approval. In
respect of any Options to be granted, the date of the
Board meeting for proposing such further grant should be
taken as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating
the subscription price under paragraph 3 above.
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(6)

Vesting Period

The vesting period of the Options shall not be shorter
than 12 months from the date of acceptance of the Offer,
provided that where the Eligible Participant who is: (a)
an employee participant who is a director or a senior
manager of the Company, the remuneration committee
may, or (b) an employee participant who is not a director
or a senior manager of the Company, the board of
directors of the Company may, in its absolute discretion,
determine a shorter vesting period under the following
specific circumstances:

(i) grants of “make-whole” Options to new joiners to
replace options such employee participant forfeited
when leaving his previous employer;

(i)  grants to an employee participant whose
employment is terminated due to death or disability
or occurrence of any out of control event; and

(i)  grants with performance-based vesting conditions
in lieu of time-based vesting criteria.

It is considered that by having the flexibility of having
a shorter vesting period, the Group will be in a better
position to attract and retain such Eligible Participants
to continue serving the Group whilst at the same time
providing them with further incentives in achieving the
goals of the Group, and thereby, to achieve the purpose
of the New Share Option Scheme.
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(7)

Performance Targets and Clawback Mechanism

Under the New Share Option Scheme, the Board may, in
its sole and absolute discretion, specify the performance
targets in respect of each Offer that must be duly fulfilled
by the grantee before the Option may be vested to such
grantee under such Offer, such performance targets
shall include, among other things, financial targets and
management targets which shall be determined based
on the (a) individual performance, (b) performance of
the Group and/or (c) performance of business groups,
business units, business lines, functional departments,
projects and/or geographical area managed by the
Grantee. This will provide the Board with more flexibility
in setting out the terms and conditions of the Options
under particular circumstances of each grant and facilitate
the Board to offer meaningful incentives to attract
and retain quality personnel that are valuable to the
development of the Group.

The provisions of the New Share Option Scheme
provides for an automatic lapse of Option as clawback
mechanism, the right to exercise an Option shall lapse
automatically on the date on which the grantee ceases
to be an Eligible Participant by reason of the termination
of his employment, directorship, appointment or
engagement on any one or more of the grounds that he
has been guilty of misconduct, or has committed an act
of bankruptcy or has become insolvent or has made any
arrangement or composition with his creditors generally,
or has breached or failed to comply with any provisions
of the relevant service contract, letter of appointment
or contracts or agreements of the grantee with the
Company or the relevant subsidiary or related entity for
the employment, appointment or engagement, or has
been convicted of any criminal offence involving his
integrity or honesty or on any other ground on which an
employer would be entitled to terminate his employment
or office at common law or pursuant to any applicable
laws or under the service contract, letter of appointment
or other contract or agreement for the employment,
appointment or engagement of the grantee with the
Company or the relevant subsidiary or related entity.
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Unless otherwise determined by the Board pursuant
to the rules of the New Share Option Scheme and
stated in the relevant Offer and subject to the above
clawback mechanism, there is neither any performance
target which must be achieved before an Option can be
exercised nor any clawback mechanism for the Company
to recover or withhold any remuneration (which may
include Options granted) to any Eligible Participants in the
event of serious misconduct, a material misstatement
in the Company’'s financial statements or other
circumstances.

Please refer to the Company's circular dated 30 October 2023
for the details of the New Share Option Scheme.

FOR THE OLD SHARE OPTION SCHEME

1.

The Old Share Option Scheme was effective for a period
of 10 years from the date of adoption and was expired on
1 December 2023.

The number of share options available for grant under the
Old Share Option Scheme as at 1 July 2024 and 30 June
2025 was zero.

No service provider sublimit was set under the Old Share
Option Scheme.

The number of shares available for issue under the Old
Share Option Scheme as at 30 June 2025 was zero,
representing 0% of the 906,632,276 issued shares of the
Company (excluding treasury shares) as at 30 June 2025
and the date of this report.

No share options under the Old Share Option Scheme
was issued and outstanding during the Year (Last Year:
Nil).
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FOR THE NEW SHARE OPTION SCHEME

1.

The Company adopted the New Share Option Scheme on
4 December 2023 and is effective for a period of 10 years
from the date of adoption.

The number of share options available for grant under the
New Share Option Scheme as at 1 July 2024 and 30 June
2025 was 90,663,227.

The sublimit of the number of share options available
for grant under the New Share Option Scheme to the
service provider as at 1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025 was
27,198,968.

The number of shares available for issue under the
New Share Option Scheme as at 30 June 2025 was
90,663,227, representing approximately 10% of the
906,632,276 issued shares of the Company (excluding
treasury shares) as at 30 June 2025 and the date of this
report.

No share options under the New Share Option Scheme
was issued and outstanding during the Year (Last Year:
Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors
Mr. LAM Shiu Ming, Daneil (Chairman)
Mr. LAM Kit Sun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. CHOI Wing Koon

Mr. TANG Yiu Wing

Ms. PONG Suet Hing
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Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil and Ms. Pong Suet Hing will retire
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with Bye-law 87(1) and Bye-law 87(2)
and Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil and Ms. Pong Suet Hing being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at such meeting.

For the biographical details of the Director who will stand for re-
election and the candidates who will be proposed to be elected
as Directors, please refer to the circular containing the notice
of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be despatched.

All independent non-executive Directors have been appointed
for a specific term and subject to retirement by rotation as
specified by the Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the above
independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rules 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
the Company is satisfied that they are independent as such.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other contracts of significance in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company, its holding company,
its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the Year.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors has an interest in a business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2025, the interests of each of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company in the shares (within the
meaning of the SFO) which were required to be (a) notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of SFO (including interest which any such
Director was taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or; (b) entered in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO or;
(c) notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules are as follows:

Name Nature of interest
HA ERME

Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil Beneficial owner
MNBRSEHE EnlEAA

Founder and the discretionary
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object of a discretionary

trust (Note a)

EREFZAMALDE

ELFIENCEE L))

Interest of a controlled
corporation (Note b)

XA B (D)

Beneficial owner
EmlEA A

Mr. Lam Kit Sun (Director)
MR (EE)

Number

of the
Company’s Percentage of
shares held shareholding

JZiE S N
BRHOEE BRBED
200,860,000 22.16%
33,546,853 3.70%
430,120,020 47.44%
664,526,873 73.30%
5,920,000 0.65%
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Notes:

(@) The trustee of the discretionary trust is Central Core Resources
Limited which owns the entire issued share capital of the
Globalcrest Enterprises Limited (“Globalcrest”) which in turn
was interested in 33,546,853 shares of the Company as at 30
June 2025. Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil is the discretionary object
of the discretionary trust.

(b) Pioneer Entertainment Group Limited (“Pioneer Entertainment”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability and is wholly-owned by Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil, was
interested in 430,120,020 shares of the Company as at 30 June
2025.

All the interests in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company were long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
which were required to be (a) notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests which they were deemed or taken to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or; (b) entered in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part
XV of the SFO or; (c) notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year, the
Directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) had any
interests in, or had been granted, or exercised, any rights to
subscribe for shares (or warrants or debentures, if applicable)
of the Company and its associated corporations required to be
disclosed pursuant to the SFO.

In addition, at no time during the Year was the Company, its
holding company, its subsidiaries, its associated company or
its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors and chief executives of the Company (including
their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to hold any
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
in or debentures of, the Company or its associated corporation.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the
Company, as at 30 June 2025, Shareholders (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company disclosed above)
who had interests or short positions in shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register kept by
the Company under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO are as
follows:

Name Capacity

28 54

Pioneer Entertainment (Note a) Beneficial owner
Pioneer Entertainment(Ffi3Ea) EmlEA A

Note:

(a) Pioneer Entertainment, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability and is wholly-owned by Mr.
Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil.

All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in
shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, no other person
has any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company in the register required
to be kept by Company under Section 336 of Part XV of the
SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws and there are no restrictions against such rights under the
laws in Bermuda.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the Year attributable
to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 34.8%
- five largest suppliers in aggregate 57.6%
Sales

— the largest customer 35.6%
— five largest customers in aggregate 54.1%

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Universe Digital Entertainment Limited (“UDE"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
tenancy agreement with Universe Property Investment Limited
("UPI"), a company owned by Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil
(“Mr. Daneil Lam”), an executive Director of the Company, for
renting (1) an industrial unit on the 18th Floor of a 28-storey
industrial building over a 2-storey lorry/car parking podium
plus a 2-level basement (with a saleable area of approximately
13,983 square foot) and (2) 5 carparking spaces on the 2nd
Floor of a 28-storey industrial building over a 2-storey lorry/car
parking podium plus a 2-level basement (“Rented Properties”)
for warehouse, ancillary office and carparking uses from 25
February 2021 to 24 February 2024 with a monthly rental of
HK$244,000 (the “Old Tenancy Agreement”) which were
arrived at arm’s length negotiation between the Group and
UPI with reference to the past monthly rental and the rental
valuation performed by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited
as at 22 January 2021 which reflected the then market rent.
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As the Group has been using the Rented Properties since early
2000, the Directors considered that there will be considerable
time and cost saving (in terms of relocation and renovation) for
the Group to continue to lease the Rented Properties from UPI
after the expiry of the Old Tenancy Agreement. Therefore, on
29 January 2024, UDE entered into a new tenancy agreement
with UPI for renting the Rented Properties for warehouse,
ancillary office and carparking uses from 25 February 2024 to
24 February 2027 with a monthly rental of HK$244,000 (the
“Tenancy Agreement”) which were arrived at arm’s length
negotiation between the Group and UPI with reference to the
past monthly rental and the rental valuation performed by Ravia
Global Appraisal Advisory Limited as at 12 December 2023
which reflected the then market rent.

In respect of the rent paid by the Group of approximately
HK$2,928,000 (2024: approximately HK$2,928,000) to UPI in
accordance with the terms of the Old Tenancy Agreement and
the Tenancy Agreement during the Year, the Group recognized
as the repayment of lease liabilities of approximately
HK$2,571,000 (2024: approximately HK$2,748,000) and
interest on lease liabilities of approximately HK$357,000
(2024: approximately HK$180,000) in the Group's consolidated
financial statements during the Year.

LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS OF
THE CONNECTED TRANSACTION

In accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Group is required
to recognize an additional asset representing its right to
use Rented Properties, and as a result, the entering into
the Tenancy Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder will be regarded as acquisitions of assets by the
Group for the purpose of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Daneil Lam, who is the founder, the chairman of the
Company, an executive Director and controlling shareholder
of the Company, is a connected person. Accordingly, UPI is
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.
Hence, the transactions contemplated under the Tenancy
Agreement, the payment of monthly rental payment under the
Tenancy Agreement will be regarded as one-off connected
transaction.
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As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the
value of right-of-use assets under the Old Tenancy Agreement
in the amount of approximately HK$8,395,000 is more than
0.1% but less than 5% and the value of right-of-use assets is
more than HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under
the Tenancy Agreement are subject to the reporting, annual
review and announcement requirements but are exempted
from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please refer to the
Company's announcement dated 29 January 2021 for the
details.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio in respect of the
value of right-of-use assets under the Tenancy Agreement in
the amount of approximately HK$8,026,000 is more than 0.1%
but less than 5% and the value of right-of-use assets is more
than HK$3,000,000, the transactions contemplated under the
Tenancy Agreement are subject to the reporting, annual review
and announcement requirements but are exempted from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Please refer to the Company's
announcement dated 29 January 2024 for the details.

Apart from the above, there are other related party transactions
entered into by the Group during the Year, all of which
constituted exempted connected transactions for the Company
under the Listing Rules, or did not fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction”
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Year.
Details of these transactions are disclosed in Note 44 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the Year.
The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as set out in this report,
no equity-linked agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing shares, or that requiring the Company to
enter into an agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing shares, was entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that
there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company's
issued shares as at 30 June 2025.

AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited retired as auditor of the Company
and Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited was appointed as auditor
of the Company following the retirement of Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 20 December 2021. There have been no
other changes of auditors in the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited who will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 September 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZEERE S

.y
-I
ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF UNIVERSE ENTERTAINMENT
AND CULTURE GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 274, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30 June 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “"Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Film rights and films in progress
Refer to note 9 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of film rights and films in
progress for impairment. This impairment test is significant
to our audit because the balance of film rights and films in
progress of approximately HK$40,778,000 as at 30 June 2025
and an impairment loss on film rights and films in progress of
approximately HK$69,067,000 recognised and charged to profit
or loss during the year ended 30 June 2025 are material to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based
on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Understanding the process of how management
performs impairment assessment on the film rights and
films in progress;

- Evaluating the appropriateness of the methodology used
by management in determining the recoverable amounts
of the film rights and films in progress;

- Evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions used
in the future cash flow projection and challenging the
management’'s assessment on the expected revenue
to be generated by the film rights and films in progress
by checking the film budget summary to the contract
amounts of the distribution and licensing agreements and
the estimated film box office receipts to the historical
trend of similar film with similar characteristics (such as
main cast members, producers, directors, topic, theme
and etc) released; and
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BYZEERE S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Film rights and films in progress (Continued)

Refer to note 9 to the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

- Assessing the mathematical accuracy of the calculations
of the estimated future net cash flows of films rights and
films in progress on a sample basis.

Based on the above, we considered that the Group’s
impairment test for film rights and films in progress are
supported by available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information in the Company's annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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BYZEERE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/
Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Hon Chung

Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P05988
Hong Kong, 29 September 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B IR 2R

As at 30 June 2025 R-ZFE-RFANA=1H

2025 2024
—E_REF —E Y
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
MIEE FHExT FHET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - R REE 6 34,643 38,473
Investment properties EYE 7 28,740 29,840
Other intangible assets HEm\mpEE 8 2,010 2,057
Film rights and films in progress BEYMEREIEF2EY 9 40,778 409,116
Film related deposits B RBR© 58,538 57,809
Deposits paid BET® 12 1,051 821
Deferred tax assets EETIBE E 13 581 513
Other financial assets HEMemERE 14 770 1,878
et ereeieatearateetatretaettamiasatanatinatreasseassersmnneesss. NN 167,111 ....540,507
Current assets REEE
Inventories rE 17 1,234 2,716
Accounts receivable FEULBR K 18 90,570 27,170
Loans receivable FERE R 19 = 187
Deposit paid, prepayments and BRI - BAZIER
other receivables Eoh e Y 5RIE 12 34,090 31,427
Trading securities RGEH 15 = 1,350
Contract assets BRIEE 28 2,204 1,731
Time deposit TEHBF X 20 5,250 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeEEY 21 135,245 132,324
ettt ettt aeeaeeeaeeneteaseneenceneeaneeneenteanmanneeeeerneean. 200093 196,905
Total assets wWEE 435,704 737,412
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to the owners 72 FHEH A B
of the Company
Share capital [ 22 9,066 9,066
Share premium 10 & B 24(a) 35,013 35,013
Other reserves H A 24(a) 542,198 544,528
Accumulated losses 2EEE 24(a) (344,973) (281,783)
241,304 306,824
Non-controlling interests FEEAR (3,548) (4,436)
Total equity HRER 237,756 302,388

......................................................................................................
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B MR 2R

As at 30 June 2025 R-ZFE-R"FANA=1H

2025 2024
—E_REF —E Y
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ihg=s THxT FHET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Lease liabilities HEEE 25 2,731 6,083
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIERFE 13 134 30
e vesannerenanereananerenannesesamaeesnnerasaneenanesesanseseeeesess NN 2865 . ...6763
Current liabilities REBEE
Accounts payable FEATBRK 26 10,189 11,102
Other payables and accrued Efth B A FRIE K JEET
charges ] 27 106,027 95,120
Contract liabilities AHBEE 28 58,350 305,088
Deposits received BUET & 4,447 4,665
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 4,366 5,061
Taxation payable FES T IR 11,704 7,825
e verannerenaneseananeresraneresamassanneresaneraanesenarecsneennss NN 195,083 .. 428,861
Totalliabilities . . BAB 197,948 435024
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 435,704 737,412
Net current assets/(liabilities) FEBEE,(BE)FE 73,510 (231,956)
Total assets less current liabilities 2EERTEBEE 240,621 308,551

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 274 #HMNEISEE L2748 2 ix &6 BHRENR =
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 29 ZT_AF AT HLAKESSIE LR

September 2025: F|zE
Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil Lam Kit Sun /R PREEST
Director Director o EF
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ReEZzERER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 #HZZ

ECRFEAAZTHILEFE

2025 2024
—EC-RE —TE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FERT FHET
Revenue &
Sale of good — video distribution, optical HEE M - RGBT
products and watches products REEmLERER 11,957 19,590
Income on film distribution and exhibition, BYRITRRM - BRER
licensing and sub-licensing of film rights BEREZRERA 421,433 309,579
Income from other businesses Hib 2B A 39,202 36,088
Total revenue ez 5 472,592 365,257
Cost of revenue €I RN
Cost of inventories sold BEFERAR 17 (6,288) (9,230)
Related cost on film distribution and BRBETRRME  BHR
exhibition, licensing and sub-licensing of R B RE R A
film rights (374,085) (266,470)
Cost for other businesses HAth ZH AR (24,126) (26,592)
Total cost of revenue s A (404,499) (302,292)
Selling expenses HEER (7,382) (8,043)
Administrative expenses THEAR (52,144) (59,341)
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment BB 22
loss) of film related deposits WEBKER,CRERKX 29 223 (5,122)
Impairment loss of film rights and films in BYMENBEREY
progress HERE 9 (69,067) (17,032)
Impairment loss of trading securities FH 2 REREX 15 (1,350) -
Change in expected credit loss BEEEBIEZE 30 (489) (353)
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hih & EEH 8 (47) (43)
Other income HAb WA 34 1,975 898
Other gains/(losses) — net Hipdezs,/(E518) - FHE 35 566 (290)
Fair value change on investment properties 1% & ¥ % N FEE 7 (1,100) (1,620)
Finance income BIBUA 36 2,820 2,507
Finance costs B R 29(c) (552) (535)
Loss before taxation BRIATEE 29 (58,454) (26,009)
Income tax expenses IS x 37 (4,976) (5,187)

=T

FREEEEBRAR —ZE-_RFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ReZzHERER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZ_ZFE_HFEANF=+HILFEF

2025 2024
—ECRE —EmF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FERT FHET
Loss for the year FAEE (63,430) (31,196)
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income: HM2E(FX), WA :
Item that may be reclassified subsequently ~ E{ZAJE @ EF S 42
to profit or loss: Bawm o EE :
Currency translation differences EMInE =5 (2) 25
Total other comprehensive (expenses)/  FERHEME2EGEIXR), WA
...incomefortheyear . RE @ .5
Total comprehensive expenses FAXEBLE
for the year (63,432) (31,171)
Loss for the year attributable to: FARELER :
Owners of the Company ERREBA (63,190) (30,441)
Non-controlling interests TR S (240) (755)
(63,430) (31,196)
Total comprehensive expenses for the UTEEFAZEBAX
year attributable to: e
Owners of the Company ERREBA (63,192) (30,416)
Non-controlling interests FEE R (240) (755)
(63,432) (31,171)
Loss per share attributable to owners of FRAQTEE AES
the Company for the year BRER
(presented in HK$): (EBRTEY) :
- basic - &K 38(a) (0.0697) (0.0336)
- diluted -8 38(b) (0.0697) (0.0336)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2025 B Z_-ZE_HFENA=1+HIFFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

LG YN
Non-
Share Share Other Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserves losses  Subtotal interests Total
(Note
24(a)&(c)
kx  ROEE  RtRE  ZHER Nt FBRES it
(324
Ric)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr TR TiEn TiEn Thn T ThEn
At 1 July 2023 WZEZZEtA-A 9,066 35,013 545,973 (251,342) 338,710 4,555) 334,155
Comprehensive expenses 2EET
Loss for the year EREE - - - (30,441) (30441) (755) 31,19)
Other comprehensive income  E#2EMA
Currency translation differences &2 %% - - 25 - 25 - 25
Total other compreensive  EHEENALEF
income - - 25 - 25 - 25
Total comprehensive income/  EREEWA/(F%)4%E
(expenses) for the year - - 25 (30,441) (30,416) (755) (31,171)
Purchase of noncontrolling  EE—RNBAAFERER
interests of a subsidiary - - (1,470) - (1,470) 874 (596)
At 30 June 2024 and RZB-MERA=TAR
1 July 2024 ZE-MELE-R 9,066 35,013 544,528 (281,783) 306,824 4,436) 302,388
Comprehensive expenses 2EEE
Loss for the year ERfiE = = = (63,190)  (63,190) (240)  (63.430)
Other comprehensive expenses  Ef 2 EE%
Currency translation differences E4HEZH - - 2 - (2) - (2)
Total other compretensive  EtEERTESE
expenses - - (2) - (2) - (2)
Total comprehensive expenses  EMEERTESE
for the year - - (2) (63,190) (63,192) (240) (63,432)
Purchase of non-controlling S —HHEBRARFEER
interests of a subsidiary En = = (2,328) = (2,328) 1,128 (1,200)
At 30 June 2025 RZBZHERAZTH 9,066 35,013 542,198 (344,973) 241,304 (3,548) 231,756
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2025 HZ_ZFE_HFEANF=+HILFEF

2025 2024
—E-EREF —EOF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E FEx FHT
Cash flow from operating activities &EFZEH 2 REFRE
Net cash generated from BETBHEEZFHS
operating activities 40(a) 30,088 87,731
Cash flow from investing activities REFEZHERE
Purchase of property, plant and BAMZE - e B
equipment (597) (1,100)
Proceeds from disposal of MEWE - WS REE
property, plant and equipment Fr8 3R - 79
Purchase of other intangible assets B AE & & = (225)
Decrease in film related deposits BB 2 2R 300 13,329
Increase in film related deposits B BB & 28 (941) (17,641)
Payments for film rights and films BRRAE R EFR 2
in progress BN (16,553) (24,330)
Investment in time deposit TEHFERIRE (5,250) -
Interest received B U H 2 2,820 2,507
Proceeds from disposal of HEEMESHEE
other financial assets Fr8 3R 898 -
Net cash used in investing RETHFAZEER S
activities (19,323) (27,381)
Cash flow from financing activities RMEFEZHERE
Capital element of lease rentals BENEERE
paid BERE D (7,292) (8,345)
Interest element of lease rentals BENEERS
paid F B & o (552) (535)
Net cash used in financing METEFAZERS
activities (7,844) (8,880)
Net increase in cash and ReRBESEEYZ
cash equivalents =3yl 2,921 51,470
Cash and cash equivalents RENESRESEZEY
at beginning of the year 132,324 80,854
Cash and cash equivalents RERESRESEZEY
at the end of the year 135,245 132,324
Analysis of the balances of REFERRREEEY
cash and cash equivalents Bak il
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEY 135,245 132,324
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) are principally engaged in video distribution,
film distribution and exhibition, licensing and sub-
licensing of film rights, leasing of investment properties,
securities investment, trading, wholesaling and retailing
of optical products and watches products, and provisions
of typesetting, translation, printing, design, distribution of
financial print products and other related services.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The address of its registered office is
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda. The address of the principal place of business
of the Company is 18th Floor, Wyler Centre Phase I,
192-200 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories,
Hong Kong.

The Company's shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$'000"),
unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
HKFRS Accounting Standards, which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRS"),
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of other investments in
equity securities and investment properties, which
are carried at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards
requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosure

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the HKICPA that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year
beginning on 1 July 2024. HKFRS Accounting
Standards comprise HKFRS; HKAS; and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards did not result
in significant changes to the Group’s accounting
policies, presentation of the Group's consolidated
financial statements and amounts reported for the
current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued
but are not yet effective. The Group has already
commenced an assessment of the impact of these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards but
is not yet in a position to state whether these new
and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards would
have a material impact on its results of operations
and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the
date that control commences until the date that
control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions
and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising
from intragroup transactions are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the owners
of the Company. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. Loans from holders of
non controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of
a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2

2.3

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2.10(b)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the assets, and obligations for the
liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a
joint operation:

° its assets, including its share of any assets
held jointly;
o its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities

incurred jointly;

2. EXRETBRER®

2.2

2.3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.3

24

Interests in joint operations (Continued)

° its revenue from the sale of its share of the
output arising from the joint operation;

° its share of the revenue from the sale of the
output by the joint operation; and

° its expenses, including its share of any
expenses incurred jointly.

The assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
relating to the Group's interest in a joint operation
are accounted for in accordance with the HKFRS
Accounting Standards applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Chairman of
the Company (the chief operating decision maker)
for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services,
and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group' s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company's
functional and the Group's presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income within ‘other gains/
(losses) - net'.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Group initially recognises
such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair value
are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i)

(iif)

assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;

income and expenses for each
statement of comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on
the dates of the transactions); and

all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the translation
reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest
in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all of the
currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
proportionate share of accumulated currency
translation differences are reattributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that
do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange difference
is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BERETHERER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment 26 % - BB NEE

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future

FREME - Was RRIBIRE LA
BRI E RER RFHREER KT
R BLANABEBEZSFHEBE
EEERRX °

BERAREEZRBRAGERE
%’%5}5&5@27@%@ ) 7R SR A8 7 7
- BERANBER] SRt &R - A 5T

economic benefits associated with the item will AQFE’JBEETE_}ZEEW —IEE 1
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can BE(WBER) - EEBRTEHMER
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the BEERKRIEER - FTEEMgEE R

replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are expensed to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

REEBREEEENMBHREAR
FAETHERERATIRMAX -

Y~ M RRBOITERANAT
Y E AT 8 A A B HS Ei\ﬁXZMz:zEZ?
EnBEERREER

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term HEWEERE HEFH
Premises 50 years ES 504

Machinery and equipment 3 -5 years HEE R 3ELF
Right-of-use assets Over the lease term CREEE THEFH

Others 5 years Hith 54

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are BEMNFGEBERAIFERFTHES

reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (note 2.10(b)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within ‘other gains/(losses) - net’
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see note 2.8) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include land held for a
currently undetermined future use and property that
is being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change
in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of
an investment property is recognised in profit or
loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 2.26(d).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i)

As lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-
lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for
all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for short term leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense is
calculated using the effective interest method.
Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 2.6 and 2.10(b)), except for
the right-of-use asset that meet the definition
of investment property are carried at fair value
in accordance with note 2.7.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the Group's estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
any rent concessions which arose as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and which satisfied the conditions set out
in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16 Leases . In
such cases, the Group took advantage of the
practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A
of HKFRS 16, and recognised the change
in consideration as if it were not a lease
modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

As lessee (Continued)

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the principal
portion of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do
not meet the definition of investment property
in ‘other property, plant and equipment’ and
presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case,
the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note
2.26(d).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

e A—k—;m\Q .
2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BERSTBERER®
INFORMATION (Continued)
2.9 Other investments in equity securities 29 HMRRARFHFIKE
The Group's policies for investments in equity REBZBRABHEE(RIBA
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, A BEARREEAANKRER
associates and joint ventures, are as follows: INBEAT -
Investments in equity securities are recognised/ RAFEAEERNEBAEES
derecognised on the date the Group commits to MEZIEEE AR IR IEER -
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are BEREVSRATENEEEN
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable REAY®R - B BBREAT
transaction costs, except for those investments BEARZZERERII  HRXRFK
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) AEENEZNER - BEAEE
for which transaction costs are recognised directly mAETeM I A AFE B
in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the 33 RmEREHBERTHENE
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, RAT A RALR

see note 3.3. These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification:

(i)  Investments other than equity investments (i) BREAREUINIZEE
Non-equity investments held by the Group REBERFECERTIEER
are classified into one of the following ARTHEA—EFE2EHR -

measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held - REENAE - MEAE
for the collection of contractual cash "EZBEHBKDE
flows which represent solely payments HEeRE - BMRA
of principal and interest. Interest income TRRERFIB - HE
from the investment is calculated using Fris M EWATIERE
the effective interest method (see note BRA R EET B (R MR
2.26(e)). 2.26(e)) °

ERRE(EAERAT —B-AEER 117
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Other investments in equity securities (Continued)

(i)  Investments other than equity investments
(Continued)

fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) — recycling, if the
contractual cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected
credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and losses.
When the investment is derecognised,
the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.

fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in
the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.

2.

ERSFTHE

RE K

29 HMEAFTLHKE @®

i) BERSE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Other investments in equity securities (Continued)

(ii)

Equity Investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the equity investment
is not held for trading purposes and on
initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the
investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer ' s perspective. Where such
an election is made, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income remains in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
accumulated losses. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised
in profit or loss as other income in accordance
with the policy set out in note 2.26(f).

e I RR MR

2. EREFHEREN®
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BERESTBERER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(a) Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the following
items:

- financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits,
loans receivable, accounts and other
receivables);

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 2.16);

- lease receivables; and

- loan commitments issued, which are not

measured at FVPL.

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including equity securities measured at FVPL,
are not subject to the ECL assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(a)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (that is, the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive).

For undrawn loan commitments, expected
cash shortfalls are measured as the difference
between (i) the contractual cash flows that
would be due to the Group if the holder of the
loan commitment draws down on the loan and
(i) the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive if the loan is drawn down.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(a)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the
effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, accounts and
other receivables and contract assets:
effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation
thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate;

- lease receivables: discount rate used
in the measurement of the lease
receivable;

- loan commitments: current risk-free rate
adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes
into account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(a)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for accounts receivables,
lease receivables and contract assets are
always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial
assets are estimated based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments (including
loan commitments issued), the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(a)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of
a financial instrument (including a loan
commitment) has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date
with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(a)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractual due dates;

- an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

= an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligations to the Group.

For loan commitments, the date of initial
recognition for the purpose of assessing
ECLs is considered to be the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment. In assessing whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition of a loan commitment,
the Group considers changes in the risk of
default occurring on the loan to which the loan
commitment relates.

2.

=T

e I RR MR

EXRSTHTHERE®

210 EEBENEERE®

(a) TMTH  SHNEER
BWHE 2 EEEE @

EERE A 1L FH (18)
AEmE  FAEERRE
VIIARERIARAE B KNiE L7t
REZEIATER

- REERANETHIAXN
AEHFE
- SRIAINIHABE

B (IAE) 2 BHE =X
TBHIRE AR

- %%AmﬁﬁﬁZA%

STAMBE AR
- BmE - B

REEY RS
B (75 A B 1T ELE A
EEEE N ERE
KFFIZE -

MEFFEEmMS - ARG
TEHREEBBZ VIRERH
B AR B AN SR B AR A 7 ]
HAEZRIH A E R - FF7E
EER K B VA EREZUE
EUARE D KNELEFE
AEESEREEREER
BMreERELEENZARZ

P

= °

FREEEEBRAR —ZE-_RFFR

125



126

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(a)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

For margin client receivables, the Group
considers there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when clients cannot
meet margin call requirements and uses the
loan-to-collateral value (“LTV") to make its
assessment. The Group considers a margin
client receivable is in default when payments
under the margin call requirement are 30
days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a margin client
receivable to be in default when there is
a margin shortfall which indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full, taking into account
the pledged securities held by the Group.
A margin client receivable is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis. When
the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(a)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised as
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 2.26(e) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (that is, the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BERESTBERER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(a) Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit
impaired includes the following observable
events:

- significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market

for a security because of financial
difficulties of the issuer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(a)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, lease receivable or contract asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or, except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment including
right-of-use assets;

- other intangible assets;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BREFTHEXRER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(b) Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

- film related deposits;

- film rights and films in progress; and

- investments in subsidiaries and
associates in the Company's statement
of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,
for intangible assets that are not yet available
for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there is
any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash-inflows independently
(that is, a cash generating unit).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(b)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss whenever the carrying amount of
an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying amount of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or
value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if
there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the year
in which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.10 Credit losses and impairment of assets

(Continued)

(c)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim Financial
Reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial
year (see notes 2.10(a) and (b)).

2.11 Intangible assets

(a)

Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful
life is stated at cost less any impairment
losses. Impairment is reviewed annually and
when there is any indication that the club
membership has suffered an impairment loss.

An asset’'s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Brand name

Brand name acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Brand name has a
finite useful life and is carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over
the expected life of 7.5 years of the brand
name.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.11 Intangible assets (Continued)
(c) Computer software

Computer software is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment loss
(see note 2.10(b)). Amortisation is charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line method over
the assets’ estimated useful lives of 5 years.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The Group has also entered into
arrangements that do not meet the criteria for
offsetting but still allow for the related amounts
to be set off in certain circumstances, such as
bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average
cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase,
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.14 Film rights and films in progress

(a)

Film rights

Film rights comprise fees paid and payable
under agreements and direct expenses
incurred during the production of films, for
the reproduction and/or distribution of films
in various video gram formats, film exhibition,
licensing and sub-licensing of film titles.

Film rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of film rights is amortised over the
shorter of the underlying license period and
their estimated useful lives, with reference to
projected revenues.

Films in progress

Films in progress are stated at cost less any
provision for impairment losses. Cost includes
all direct costs associated with the production
of films. The balance of film production costs
not yet due at the end of each reporting period
are disclosed as commitments. Cost of films
is transferred to film rights upon completion.

Impairment

At each year end date, both internal and
external market information are considered
to assess whether there is any indication that
film rights and films in progress are impaired.
If any such indication exists, the carrying
amount of such assets is assessed and where
relevant, an impairment loss is recognised to
reduce the asset to its recoverable amount.
Such impairment losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.15 Film related deposits

Film related deposits comprise deposits paid for
the acquisition of film rights and deposits paid to
production houses, artists and others prior to the
production of films. The balance payable under
agreements for the acquisition and production of
film rights is disclosed as a commitment. Provision
for film related deposits is made based on future
revenue generated for the Group and the carrying
value of film related deposits.

2.16 Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the group
recognises revenue (see note 2.26) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECL in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2.10(a) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see note 2.17).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue (see note 2.26). A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note 2.17).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented
on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see
note 2.26).

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BERSTBERER®

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.17 Accounts and other receivables 2.17 FEMBR R K Eo A FE WS SR IE
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an FEWGRIE A AN 52 B G (R R
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right BMARERER - BB HRE
to receive consideration is unconditional if only AT R BE— B - AJBER(E
the passage of time is required before payment ZREN BB - WASEA &K
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been R YR AR (B A 2 B TR
recognised before the Group has an unconditional AIBEEeBENZ2INA—BENEE
right to receive consideration, the amount is (RM5E2.16) ©

presented as a contract asset (see note 2.16).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the JE U R IR DA B R ) R K R SE K
effective interest method less allowance for credit REEEBEBHEZY (R
losses (see note 2.10(a)). 2.10(a)) °
2.18 Loans receivable 2.18 FEUE 5K

Loans receivable are loans granted to customers in EWERENABEBBERRT
the ordinary course of business. If the collection of EPZER - WERERETR
loans receivable is expected to be one year or less, —FRAAKE - RIS BEAERSE
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are E RZBIZIRIERBEE -

presented as non-current assets.

Loans receivable are recognised initially at fair value JEWEZ VL AR EER  Hi&
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using TR B B A SRR S K N H0BR 15
the effective interest method, less allowance for BEEEEsrE2(RWiE2.100) °

credit losses (see note 2.10(a)).

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents 2191 RFEZEEY

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank RekReEEYBRIERITAFE
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and e - RITEPRERLTEEE
cash held at custodian, and short-term, highly liquid Bl  UEEHEREHERE -
investments readily convertible into known amounts ZEEREAGT =@ AR EAA
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant BE R 5 3ARK B AN ENEE 2 38 & M I
risk of changes in value, having been within three BREBRBERER ReRBAEE
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash BYREMTE2.10@) 5 2 BT
equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance HIEAEEEIE -

with the policy set out in note 2.10(a).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.20 Accounts and other payables

2.21

Accounts and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value and are subsequently stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings, together
with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.

2.22 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BERETHERER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.23 Income tax 2.23 P15 %%

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax
are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax loses and unused
tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.23 Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that
may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences
include those that will arise from the reversal of
existing taxable temporary differences, provided
that those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as
the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
differences or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if
they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are those temporary
differences arising from the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting
nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the
extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the
Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is
probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BERETHERER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.23 Income tax (Continued) 2.23 FTSHE (&)

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair value in accordance with the accounting policy
set out in note 2.7, the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates that
would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the end of the reporting period unless the
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the
property over time, rather than through sale. In all
other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised
is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BREFTHEXRER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

2.23 Income tax (Continued) 2.23 P15 ()

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets
are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred
tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
Company or the Group has the legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the following additional conditions are
met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and
liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either:

o the same taxable entity; or

° different taxable entities, which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.24 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present
values.

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in share-
based compensation reserve within equity.
The fair value is measured at grant date using
the Binominal Option Pricing Model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the share options, the total estimated fair
value of the share options is spread over
the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.24 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

Share-based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of
share options expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative
fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of share options
that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the share-based compensation reserve) except
where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company's shares. When share
options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained earnings.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 2. BERETHERER @

INFORMATION (Continued)
225 B NS AREE

2.25 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed
as a contingent liability, unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.26 Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group's
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, or the
lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’'s revenue ad other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(a) Revenue from sales of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised
at a point in time when the customers take
possession of and accept the products.

(b) Income from licensing and sub-licensing of
film rights

Income from licensing and sub-licensing of
film rights is recognised at a point in time
upon the delivery of the pre-recorded audio/
visual products and the materials for video
features including the master tapes to the
customers, in accordance with the terms of
the underlying contracts.

2.

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025

ERSFTHE

RE K

H A

$EI%HH%%WLk¢%%T

CRRERSHAEE T MAE

ﬁg EEEMELEZWANER
g o

N2 B P EE fm ok AR S 2 4 Il R AR
SEEHEARER 2 FAHARES
BTRERE=FKRERZzeREE
BRERFPRIARABREREE
RFRERR U ES o IS T BB IS ERI sk
ﬁ@%ﬁmﬂﬁm ST E 5 AR
B aREETE

ARG B W am e LA WA 2 TERR IR R
ZHE—FFBWT

\—H)

WUFPF]]

&
HHE

EmpmEzilsE
ERBRERERPE

(a)

8 F7 45 4 2 B 85 T

1l
|

=
T

S
A

-
&

(b) HHERERENEZ
A
BHERBREZREZRA
RIREBEBEE O ZERAT
FPRUBEEREZERNMNEH
FHRBEIEAERZEMER
R ETER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.26 Revenue and other income (Continued)

(c)

(e)

(f)

Film exhibition income

Film exhibition income is recognised at a point
in time when the film is shown and the right
to receive payment is established.

Rental income from operating lease

Operating lease and other rental income is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount
of the financial assets. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (that is, gross carrying amount
net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note
2.10(a)).

Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments
is recognised when the shareholder’s right
to receive payment is established. Dividend
income from listed investments is recognised
when the share price of the investment goes
ex-dividend.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.26 Revenue and other income (Continued)

(9)

(h)

Financial printing and translation services

Revenue from the provision of financial
printing and translation services is recognised
overtime by measuring the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation, which is determined
based on the Group's inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation.

Revenue from the sales of printed products is
recognised at a point in time as the customers
obtains control of the printed products.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life
of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.27 Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

2.

=T

e I RR MR

EXRSHTHERER®

227 FAE AN T

(@) fHEBATAL  AZALH
RATZOBAAEEE
Eped

() =& %k KR =S A

55
iy HAEBHEEAFE:
sk

(i) AAREXAEEZR
Al FBEREXKE -

[SFNCIIE ﬁ% 7&ﬂ
ZIE QBRI A
&) o

(i) —FHERBR/S—

mﬂm%mmm
DSy M S R

W

(i) MEE

o

il
4]
IR

ot

ZF

op

Tk

2l
o

|

e
[1]

g

|
=)
i3

Ju
i

i
H

(iv)

\

o) mf

I R mk m§
)
£||

o = I

i

3
\

i

|

\h—k -
m W >

F
B A

LT
i

o

FREEEEBRAR —ZE-_RFFR

149



150

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

2.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

2.27 Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group

of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance. The policies for
managing these risks are summarised below.

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

(i

Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency
risk primarily through sales and
purchases which give rise to
receivables, payables and cash
balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, that is, a currency
other than the functional currency
of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currency
giving rise to this risk is primarily
Renminbi (“RMB") (2024: RMB).

The following table details the
Group’ s exposure at the end of
the reporting period to currency
risk arising from recognised assets
or liabilities denominated in a
currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the
exposure are shown in Hong Kong
dollars, translated using the spot
rate at the year end date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENTANDFAIR 3. BiiEREENRERMIAEZ
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NEAE )
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 AR EZE®
(a) Market risk (Continued) ™ 5 B ke (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) B E
(il Exposure to currency risk (Continued) il FTERZZEK
JE Bz (48)
2025 2024
—E-RE —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cash and cash equivalents ¥4 MRS EHEY 19 9
Accounts receivable JE U BR 3R 8,038 12,353
Accounts payable FETER X (417) (408)
Other payables and H e RIE K
accrued charges FERTZH (1,769) (1,387)
5,871 10,567
Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ANDFAIR 3. BiiEMREEREFTIEZ

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AN E@
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 HiE R REZE®
(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) THiZEMEE)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) B (&)
(il Sensitivity analysis (i) BUHRE ST
2025 2024
—EC-RE —Z-MEF
Increase/ Decrease/ Increase/ Decrease/
(decrease) (increase) (decrease) (increase)
in foreign in loss in foreign in loss
exchange rates aftertax  exchange rates after tax
SMEE % RERER I B & R E B
E#/(TH) D,/ (4 ) R/ (TR) WD/ (5
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FEx
RMB AR 5% 245 5% 44
(5%) (245) (5%) (441)

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

G

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)  Market risk (Continued)

(i) Currency risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as
presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each
of the group entities’ loss after
tax and equity measured in the
respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for
presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes
that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied
to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for
2024.

(ii)  Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises
primarily from fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed rate loans receivable
(see note 19). The management
considered that the risk is insignificant
as the amounts are carried at amortised
cost and not remeasured in the financial
statements in response to changes in
interest rates. Therefore, no sensitivity
analysis for the years ended 30 June
2025 and 2024 was disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligation
resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group has adopted a policy of only dealing
with creditworthy counterparties as a means
of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
default. The Group's credit risk is primarily
attributable to accounts receivable, loans
receivables and other receivables. The
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and cash equivalents is limited because
the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit rating assigned by
rating agency, for which the Group considers
to have low credit risk.

In respect of accounts receivable arising
from trading, wholesaling and retailing of
optical products and watches products, and
provisions of financial printing services, in
order to minimize the credit risk, management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an
on-going basis. Credit evaluations of its
customers ' financial position and condition
are performed on each and every major
customer periodically. These evaluations focus
on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific
to the customer as well as pertaining to the
economic environment in which the customer
operates. Receivables due from customers are
due within the settlement period commonly
adopted by the relevant market convention,
which is usually within 180 days from the
trade date. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from its customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

G

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of accounts receivable arising
from video distribution, film distribution and
exhibition, licensing and sub-licensing of film
rights business, in order to minimise the
credit risk, management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an on-going basis.
Credit evaluations of its customers’ financial
position and condition are performed on each
and every major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Sales of
videogram products are with credit terms of
7-60 days from the trade date. Sales from film
exhibition, licensing and sub-licensing of film
rights are on open account terms. Sales to
retail customers are made in cash or via major
credit cards. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from its customers.

3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

In respect of businesses mentioned above, the
Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
debtor and customer. The default risk of the
industry in which debtors or customers operate
also has an influence on credit risk but to a
lesser extent. The Group had no concentration
of credit risk in respect of accounts receivable
from these businesses with exposure spread
over a number of counterparties.

The Group measures loss allowances for
accounts receivable from these businesses
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. For
accounts receivable arising from trading,
wholesaling and retailing of optical products
and watches products, and provisions of
financial printing services, these receivables
are normally settled within 6 months. The
Group has assessed the expected credit loss
for these receivables as at 30 June 2025 and
30 June 2024 based on historical settlement
records and looking forward information
(including the economic environment) and
impairment loss allowance was recognised on
these accounts receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FARR 3. Bt EMEEEREMTI A
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NFE @

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 HiE R REZE®
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERkK @
The following table provides information TREH‘HERZ-ZZ-RF A
about the Group's exposure to credit risk for —THAEBARSE 2 EIER
accounts receivable as at 30 June 2025. R EERRMOZER o
At 30 June 2025 R-E-HZFAA=1H
Gross
Expected carrying Loss  Net carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount

RRERR BEEE BRRfk BEFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEx THR TR

Trading, wholesaling and REER &R

retailing of optical products, HKEEREZ -

watches and jewelry HERBELK
Current (not past due) A& (K8H) = 67 = 67
130 days past due kK= = = = =
3190 days past due BH31Z0H = = = =
91 - 365 days past due BH912365H = - - =
Over 365 days past due HERBE M £ 100 451 (451) =
518 (451) 67

Provision of financial printing 124 B 48 1l R 7%

services

Current (not past due) SN (R H) 1.60 - 10.00 4,657 (29) 4,628
1-30 days past due BE1F30H 1.60-10.00 1523 (35) 1,488
31-90 days past due HH31Z90H 1.60-10.00 5,955 (116) 5,839
91 - 365 days past due #H912365H 1.70-10.00 2,252 (76) 2,176
Over 365 days past due B3R £ 1.70- 100 620 (78) 542
15,007 (334) 14,673

1 58 Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued)
At 30 June 2025 (Continued)

e I RR MR

3. BIEREENERMTIAY
NFEE @)

3.1 BrigRE bR EE @
(b) &R @
R-E-FFEANA=1H

(&)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss  Net carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount

RAEER REEE BRRfE BEFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TEL ThR
Video distribution, film RERT EYRAR
distribution and exhibition, KM - RERER
licensing and sub-licensing ~ EFMRELH
of film rights
Current (not past due) SNE (R H) 0.10 41,762 (47) 41,715
1-230 days past due WHE1ZE30A 0.15 519 (1) 518
31-90 days past due BE3IZ90H 0.15 140 (1) 139
91 - 365 days past due #H91Z365H 0.20-0.25 24,024 (59) 23,965
Over 365 days past due B3R £ 0.25 2,734 (7) 2,721
75,179 (115) 75,064
Others Hit
Current (not past due) HE(ReH) - - - -
1-30 days past due BEE0A = = = =
3190 days past due BH31Z90H 0.15 35 (1) 34
91 - 365 days past due BH912365H = = = =
Over 365 days past due #3658 S £ 0.25 734 (2) 732
769 (3) 766
Total e 91,473 (903) 90,570

BRRA(CEEERAT —E-REER 159



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FARR 3. Bt EMEEEREMTI A
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NFE @

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 HiE R REZE®
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERkK @

The following table provides information TREHRZ-ZZZMF A
about the Group's exposure to credit risk for —THAEBARSE 2 EIER

accounts receivable as at 30 June 2024. R EERRMOZER o

At 30 June 2024 R-ZFEZ_FENA="+H

Gross

Expected carrying Loss Net carrying

loss rate amount allowance amount

EHEER BEEE BiERE REFE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T T FEL

Trading, wholesaling and BEER  #ER
retailing of optical products, HEEREZ

watches and jewellery HERBELK
Current (not past due) A (K@) - 76 - 76
130 days past due kK= - - - -
3190 days past due BH31Z0H - 3 - 3
91 - 365 days past due BH912365H - 1 - 1
Over 365 days past due @365 A £ 100 459 (459) -
539 (459) 80

Provision of financial printing 124 B 48 1l R 7%

services

Current (not past due) SN (R H) 2.30-100 11,510 211) 11,299
130 days past due BH12308 2.60-100 1,261 (19) 1,242
31-90 days past due BE3IZ90H 3.10-100 849 (17) 832
91 - 365 days past due BH91Z365H 3.10-100 2,102 (49) 2,063
Over 365 days past due B3R £ - - - -
15,722 296) 15,426
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RE M BRI

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3. HMXREMEERSRIAEY

NFEE @)

3.1 B[R B A = o)

Credit risk (Continued)

At 30 June 2024 (Continued)

(b) EERMKE
R-ZFE-pgFNA=+H

(#8)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss Net carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
BHEEx BEHE BERE REFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TER TiEx
Video distribution, film RERT B¥ROR
distribution and exhibition, B - FHRER
licensing and sub-licensing ~ EFMRELHK
of film rights
Current (not past due) SN (R H) - 37 - 37
1-30 days past due BEH1Z308 - 27 - 27
31-90 days past due BH31Z90A 0.15-11.75 382 (1) 381
91~ 365 days past due BH91Z365H 020-11.80 7,694 (16) 7,678
Over 365 days past due #3665 L 025-11.85 1,298 (3) 1,295
9,438 (20) 9418
Others Ht
Current (not past due) A (Rm ) 0.10 1526 2) 1524
130 days past due BHIE30R - - - -
31-90 days past due BH3IZE0A - - - -
91 - 365 days past due 89123650 0.20-0.25 285 (1) 284
Over 365 days past due #3656 M £ 0.25 439 (1) 438
2,250 (4) 2,246
Total o 27,949 (779) 27,170
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3.

162

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

Movements in the allowance for doubtful

BEREEEREMTEZ
NEE@

3.1 B[R B A = o)
(b) EERkK @
JEWBR 2 RER I, %

debts in respect of accounts receivable: )

2025 2024
—E-RE —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
Balance at 1 July RtA—B2z&ER 779 1,187
Written off s - (610)

Net impairment losses BHRREELTFE
recognised 124 202
Balance at 30 June RANRAB=t+HZES 903 779
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loan receivables

In respect of loans receivable from customers
and third parties, the objective of the Group’
s measures to manage credit risk is to control
the potential exposure to recoverability
problem. The Group manages and analyses
the credit risk for each of its new and
existing customers before payment terms
and conditions are concluded by assessing
the credit qualities of the customers and the
third parties, taking into account its financial
position, past settlement experience, collateral
held and other factors. Loans receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis,
management reviews the loans receivable at
each reporting date to ensure that adequate
impairment allowance is made. In this regard,
management considers that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced. Interest income
are usually billed on a quarterly basis.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had concentration of credit risk as 100%
(2024: 100%) of the loans receivable are due
from the Group's two (2024: two) debtors.

e I RR MR

3. HEEMEEREFRIEZ
NEE@

3.1 EEREZ®
(b) EEEKE
REREERE= ST ER
s AEEEREERR
HYE M2 B AR 5 1 I T
U4 AT B R o RO
NIRRT - AEE
ERTEEERE=F 2L
BEE(EREMBERN
BASER - 552
SREMER)EERD
HEHEFRBAEEF G
BEB - BN ERESRITE
R EEE Y . B IRE R
3R B R A
W B4 EE TR - Ry
AT Bl S E R E
Bk RUTS  BEER

AR - FBWMA—RIZFE

—+ Porag
f%l:l °

RBEBEK  ABEAEE
100% (ZZE V04 : 100%)
FEWERORERNEBREG
(ZZE-F - MB)EBA
AEEHEBEERBRET

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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EREENEMTE Y
NFEE @)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BrigRE bR EE @

(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERMKE
Loan receivables (Continued) FEWL B 5 (48)
An analysis of changes in the gross amount of ERERBEOEH DN
loans receivable is as follows: m

For the year ended 30 June 2025
HE-E-RENA=TRLER

164

Purchased
Lifetime Lifetime or
expected expected  originated
12-month  creditloss=  credit loss - credit
expected not credit credit impaired
credit loss impaired impaired ("POCI") Total
AL
FERE
AE
2HES 2HES (MBAS
2MERRYE  FEEE-  GEEE- FERE
FEFE  FERHE EERE HE) h)
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
(E-§) (#E=) (=)
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR ThT THT TR TR
Balance at 1 July 2024 RIE-RELR-H2E8 306 = 500 = 806
Loans repaid during the year ERBEEEER
(other than write-off) (Hnsamean) (26) - - - (26)
Balance at 30 June 2025 R-B-EERAZTAZ
&8 280 = 500 = 780
Representing: f&:
Loans receivable FEWER 280 = 500 = 780
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RE M BRI

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAR 3. BiHEREENRESMIAEZ
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS N {E@
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 HiigE ke A = )
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREMKEGE
Loan receivables (Continued) FEWL B 5 (48)
For the year ended 30 June 2024
HE-T-MEXA=TRLEE
Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
12-month  credit loss = credit loss
expected not credit = credit
credit loss impaired impaired POCI Total
2HEH 2% BN
DEAEE  FEFR-  GEBE- FEEE
FEBE  HEERE EERE AE o)
(Stage 1) (Stage 2) (Stage 3)
E-R E= E=m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Thn Thn T T
Balance at 1 July 2023 RZBZ=EtA-AzEH 914 - - - 914
Loans repaid during the year (other £RE EEEH
than write-off) (Hnsamean) 108) - - - (108)
Transfer between stages e (500) - 500 - -
Balance at 30 June 2024 RZB-MERR=1RZ
e 306 - 500 - 806
Representing: f&:
Loans receivable EWER 306 - 500 - 806
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A MR ME

3.

(Continued)

3.1

(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3. BIXEREENERMIAY
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NEE@
Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 AR EZE®
Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERMKE
Loan receivables (Continued) FEWL B 5 (48)
An analysis of changes in the corresponding HETBHREESERENE
ECL allowances is as follows: Ellak g’ (N
For the year ended 30 June 2025
BE-E-RERAC-THLEE
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
-9\
RERE
E-% E-f £=4 HE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Fax T Fax
Balance at 1 July 2024 R-B-MELA-Azkt 19 - 500 - 619
Provision of ECL allowances ~ EHEEERER 161 - - - 161
Balance at 30 June 2025 RZBZRERA=TAZ
13 280 - 500 - 780
Arising from: EkB:
Loans receivable RUER 280 = 500 = 780
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RE M BRI

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)  Credit risk (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

3. UBEBREENEMTIAZ

YNSEERE )

3.1 B E B A = )
(b) fEEEK @
JEU E5 2 (18)

For the year ended 30 June 2024
HECT-MERA=TRILEE

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
BAK
FERE
ER ] £-8 F= HfE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TATL TETL TATL TETL
Balance at 1 July 2023 RZBE-=E+A-RAz&H 317 - - - 317
Provision of ECL allowances ~ EEEERER 52 - 250 - 302
Write-off i (250) - 250 - -
Balance at 30 June 2024 RZB-mENA=+HZ
3] 119 - 500 - 619
Arising from: EkB:
Loans receivable BUER 119 - 500 - 619

ETREVEEBERAR —Z-RFEFR
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables

For other receivables which includes other
receivables and amounts due from joint
operation partners, credit checks are part of
the normal operating process and stringent
monitoring procedures are in place to deal
with overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amounts of other
receivables at the end of each reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has concentrations of credit risk as 21% (2024:
15%) of the total other receivables was due
from the Group' s largest debtor and 65%
(2024: 55%) of the total other receivables was
due from the Group's five largest debtors,
respectively.

The Group measures loss allowance for other
receivables using lifetime ECLs for each
debtor individually with significant balances.
As at 30 June 2025, based on historical
settlement record and risk of default for
each debtor and forward-looking information
(including the economic environment), loss
allowance of HK$204,000 was recognized
during the year 30 June 2025 (2024: reversal
of loss allowance of HK$151,000).

3.

BEREEEREMTEZ
NEAE )

M ERREEE

(b)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the
Group are responsible for their own cash
management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to the parent company's board
approval. The Group's policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient
amount of cash and adequate committed lines
of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in
the short and longer term. All of the Group's
financial liabilities are due within one year
except for the lease liabilities (see note 25).

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets.

e I RR MR

EREENEMTE Y
NFEE @)

3.1 EEREZ®

(c) HREBELRER
AEEET Y ERLETE
BEATEREAES A
BTEHESRBBERE
EERUENENE LS
ko MAEBATEES
W AT o A B M B
B ERES I IR R IR
HELERRELEZON
AEER  BEELESTHR
BoEERN TSR
WS RMERERERE
UENEESSHRHES

FXK o

AEENRRETHEEE
IR RS ESHFR
IARE LR AR H5 78 B HO 3R &
LA R B2 B R R IR R
BELHTR - AKEAAES
MEEHN—FARIE - HE
SR BERIRRINRFEE25) ©

32 BREE
AEENEAEES EREAEE
48 B B ) A S IR SRR A )
WA AEAMIEREE AR -
A e B A B A A LR B A
A o

RERNARERNER  ~AEEL
ERBINTERRERNOBRESE [
BRBEEER  BITHBROILEE
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A MR ME

G

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENTANDFAIR 3. BIKEKREERERMIAEZ

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS N {E@
(Continued)
3.2 Capital management (Continued) 32 BEAEE@®

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of a gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
(include borrowings and lease liabilities) less cash
and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as
‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position, plus net debt, where applicable.

The Group's adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio at the
end of the current and previous reporting periods
was as follows:

MEMAZE—  AEENEER
B RIERERERERE - ZL
RIFABERNRERTHE - T8
BREEE(BEEERHEEAE)
MERE LR EEYHE - BE
ARG BN RTE 2 [HE ]
mEFEEMHAE)E -

AEBREHMBERERRZE
AEFEBEALLRMT

n

2025 2024
—E-HF —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current liabilities: MENEE -
Lease liabilities HEaE 4,366 5,061
Non-current liabilities: EREEE:
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,731 6,083
Total debt WRIET 7,097 11,144
Less: Cash and cash equivalent B RERBEEEY (135,245) (132,324)
Adjusted net debt RARFEL (128,148) (121,180)
Total equity BrEL 237,756 302,388
Adjusted capital BRARER 237,756 302,388
Adjusted net RARFERELRL R N/A N/A
debt-to-capital ratio TEA A
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e I RR MR

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FARR 3. W EKREERERIAZ

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS NEE@
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value measurement 33 A EFT=
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at (i) TBAFEFEZER
fair value EEKREE

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair
Value Measurement. The level into which
a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

o Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs, that is,
unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
at the measurement date

o Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs, that is, observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs

RFEZER
TR2JIAKEESHTAZ
NFE - ZFEBITARR
THRREEHEESE
WD EREBMBERELER
F13%  XTFEFFEMR
EZ=ZHMAFEEL - HA
FEFESBZERTIES
ZWNMEETAM AR AR
BzrABREREEMNR
B

o« ERIEE: EERE
— R4 A BUR (R T
SEMAREERRE
WERTS 2 RERE
BB 2 AFE

e FEIQMHE:ERAFZ
A ABUR (A0 RBEE
AE-—RZABERBA
BB)AYREREKX
TRBRBARESE
ZRFE - TRBER
ABBERSEMSEEZ
BWAZIE

o ESHMHE: EREA
ATRERARSSE
PYN
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A MR ME

EREENEMTE Y
NFEE @)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.3 Fair value measurement (Continued) 3.3 AF{EFT= @)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group has a team headed by the
finance manager performing valuations for
the financial instruments. The team reports
directly to the directors of the Company and
the audit committee. Valuation reports with
analysis of changes in fair value measurement
are prepared by the team at each annual
reporting date, and are reviewed and approved
by the directors of the Company. Discussion
of the valuation process and results with the
directors and the audit committee is held once
a year, to coincide with the reporting date.

(i)

BRATEIEZ SR
SERAEE
AFESRE®
AEBBER — BB EE
FEZEG  AEHESMT
BETHE - ZEEREER
ARRIEEREFTZEEH
HFoHMBRVEFEES D
Mz EERE T HEBER
BEEHREAHRE A H
AREEBEHRILE -
KoLt ERF R AERTF R
EENEFZRBGET X
Alam o AEERE B BRE—
2 o

Fair value measurement as at
30 June 2025 categorised into
R-E-HEFRAZTAZATEHEDER

Fair value
at 30 June
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2025
i
—E-RE
AA=TH
F—8 ot 1 F=H ZAYE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TER
Recurring fair value REMATHETE
measurements
Assets: BE:
Other financial assets Hih&mERE
- Club debenture -2£ES = = 770 770
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.3 Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

RE M BRI

3. HEEMEEREFRIEZ
NEE@

33 AFEFE®
(i) ‘AT EFEZEHE
EEREE®
D FEERE
Fair value measurement as at

30 June 2024 categorised into
RZZZMERA=+RZATEAENER

Fair value

at 30 June

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
i

—EopE

~NA=TH

£ E_k F=H ZAFHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FET THT FTET

Recurring fair value REMATHETE
measurements
Assets: AE:
Other financial assets HnemEaE
- Unlisted limited -FLEMAEREH
partnership (Note a) 1 (f5ta) - - 1,108 1,108
- Club debenture -2EER - - 770 770
Trading securities (Note b) R &5 (Iizb) - - 1,350 1,350
- - 3,228 3,228

During the years ended 30 June 2025 and
2024, there was no transfer between Level 1,
Level 2 or transfer into or out of Level 3.

REBEE_ZE_HAFR_ZF—
WESNA=ZTHIEEE  F
— B rETES
B rEEBEAE=-fXE
BZREEY -
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.3 Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at

(i)

3.3 AF{EFT= @)

BAVETFEZER

BEREEEREMTEZ
NEE@

fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

For unlisted limited partnership classified
under Level 3 of the fair value measurement
hierarchy, the fair values are determined
based on the net asset values of those
limited partnership determined with reference
to third party valuation of the underlying
investment portfolio and adjustments of
related expenses. When the net asset values
of the unlisted limited partnership increases/
decreases by 10% (2024: 10%), the fair
value will increase/decrease by nil (2024:
HK$110,000). The higher the net assets
values, the higher the fair value.

The following table represents the changes in
other financial assets included in Level 3 fair

EERAGE®H
N FEZER &)
GE

(a)

ROBERAFESESH
FEZHETZIELTAHAR
AELENS  AFED
BIEZEBRAEBLEY
BEFE 2FHBIRE
MEZHEZHHEET
WA EL A -
BIELIMERAGELEN
BEERELMFHL10%
(ZEZUF 10%) * &
FEBEM RS E(Z
TP :110,0008
JL) o BEFEMS - 8l
AFELS -

TRABFAE=ZRAFE
HEZHEMEREEZ

value measurements: 2
Unlisted
limited Club
partnership debenture Total
FELEHER
eBLE SEES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FEr
Asat 1July 2023,30 June 2024 M-ZE==F
and 1 July 2024 +tA—-8"
S
NAZTAR
—ToNF
+H—H 1,108 770 1,878
Loss included in profitor loss &t ABZAIEE (210) - (210)
Disposal e (898) - (898)
As at 30 June 2025 Qe S 2
~A=TAH - 770 770
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e I RR MR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

3.3 Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at
fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss classified under Level 3 of the
fair value measurement hierarchy represent
investment in the equity security of a listed
entity which trading was suspended.

The fair value of those equity instruments
is mainly valued based on Guideline Publicly
Traded Company (the “"GPTC") method
whereas the key inputs to the valuation
models include the market multiples, share
prices of similar companies that are traded
in a public market and discount for lack
of marketability. The discount for lack of
marketability used are unobservable input.
As at 30 June 2024, if any of the significant
unobservable input above was 5% higher/
lower while all the other variables were held
constant, the changes in fair value of the
listed equity security would not be significant
to the Group.

3.

MBEREEREMIAZ

NFEE @)

3.3 AF{EFT= @)

(i)

BAVETFEZER

EEREE®
RFEFR (&)

faE - ()

(b)

DERAFEFHEERE
=RETERBEREAT
BEARZEREERN—
M LEmERZBAES
(CEEER) ZKRE -

ZERFTAEZAFEE
BRESIRFERH QA
(ME3I AR B AFI)E
WITEE  EZAET
HERER Y =2 AR
BREARTSETRS
PACE -UNCIATE T=F
B& (B & = TG AT 1E
ZPE - FTRAZHBREZT
BIEREZ TR AT A&
Rig N8 - R =M
FRNAZ+H - LT
EEDNGEIR S PN ¢
e/ BEb%MmAEE
fh SR AE Al LT
BAEZERZ A FEESY
AEEmMELTAEK -

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH

175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

3.

176

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENTANDFAIR 3. BIKEKREERERMIAEZ

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS N {E@
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value measurement (Continued) 33. ATERTE®
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at (i) ZEAFEIEZEH
fair value (Continued) EEREE®
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) N FEZER B

Notes: (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

The movement during the year in the balance

BsE ()
b #®

FZE=RRVEABER

of these Level 3 fair value measurements are RERNZEBHIT -
as follows:
2025 2024
—E-REF —ZENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
Listed equity security suspended L TRATES
from trading (BE=EE)
At the beginning of the year REH) 1,350 1,350
Total loss included in profit or loss s AJEzSHYEIE 4858
(Note 15) (M¥3E15) (1,350) -
At the end of the year RER = 1,350
2025 2024
—E-REF —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Total loss included in profit or loss ~ FTiEEERREHR
for assets held at the end of the FFABRKEERR
reporting period (Note 15) ZE(Pt3E15) (1,350) -

(ii)  Financial assets and liabilities at other than
fair value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost

are not materially different from their fair
values as at 30 June 2024 and 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. BERSTTHERHE
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually HE - BREHEEREETE YR

evaluated and are based on historical experience and BRALHBMEMERETIE B

other factors, including expectations of future events that FEBBATERBEBAEENRRENY

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. TEA o

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (a) FAREEHERERR
The Group makes estimates and assumptions Zliﬁliﬁi?ﬂ’ﬁﬂjffﬂxﬂfﬁ““ Fr
concerning the future. The resulting accounting M ENAEESR - ROoghk
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal ,\f REERER - EEEAERE
the related actual results. The estimates and BTEMBEENEEMAENEK
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing HEELERNAZRNHEEMRER
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of AT o

assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are discussed below.

(i) Impairment of film rights, films in progress (i) EME- bz

and film related deposits EYREXHEBEIEZ
BB

The Group assesses annually whether there RIEMFE2FT S 2 SFTEUR -
is any indication for impairment on the film REEREGET  EXE
rights, films in progress and film related TR P RERET
deposits for video distribution, film distribution e #E 7 2B & F 77 h & &2 Wk
and exhibition, licensing and sub-licensing - BERZEFREFTR
of film rights segment and further assesses Rl &= A W IR R E D
if they have suffered any impairment, in R MEIREMRERET
accordance with the accounting policy stated HE— AT o
in note 2.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of film rights, films in progress
and film related deposits (Continued)

As at 30 June 2025, the Group assessed that
there were impairment indication for certain
films included in films rights, films in progress
and film related deposits with gross carrying
amount of approximately HK$166,755,000
(2024: HK$66,395,000), HK$6,734,000 (2024:
HK$406,356,000) and HK$78,728,000 (2024:
HK$69,113,000), respectively, because of the
change of comparable market information
and expected performance. As at 30 June
2025, these film rights, films in progress and
film related deposit have been reduced to
their recoverable amount of approximately
HK$34,044,000 (2024: HK$6,509,000),
HK$6,734,000 (2024: HK$402,607,000) and
HK$58,538,000 (2024: HK$57,809,000),
respectively. The recoverable amount was
determined on a title-by-title basis, and is
assessed with reference to a value-in-use
calculation at the end of the reporting period,
which was derived from discounting the
projected cash flow forecast using a discount
rate of 11% (2024: 11%). Key assumptions
for the value-in-use calculations related to the
estimation of cash inflow include the budget
film exhibition income, budget licensing and
sub-licensing income revenue and discount
rate. Such estimation is based on the historical
box office of the same director and main cast
members, the market comparable data of
films with the same theme, and management
' s expectations of the market development.
The discount rate used is before tax and
reflected current market assessment of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the film production business.

4. FEREE

SHAE R S a0

() BRI EENMBR®

(i)
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AEEFEETAES BIL
/166,755,000 L (=ZF =
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6,734,000 c(== =M
£ : 406,356,000 7T) &
78,728,000 L (=ZZF =Y
69,113,000 L) 2 &
FTEY(RREREERE -
BER B NEXEBI £
RBFEREDSR  REB
AELRMSER RIBAE
Rz MN_E-_RFEN
A=1+8H ZSEhE -
ﬁwﬁﬂlﬂ B REFHEB
SRR EHA D

%&i%®34,044,0005ﬁﬁ(:§
~ P4 : 6,509,000/ 7T)
6,734,000 (== =M
% :402,607,000/870) &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(@) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(i)

Impairment of film rights, films in progress
and film related deposits (Continued)

Taking into account the impairment
assessment performed by the management,
an impairment loss of film rights of
approximately HK$69,067,000 (2024:
HK$17,032,000) were recognised
respectively in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income for the year
ended 30 June 2025 to reduce the carrying
amounts of these assets to their recoverable
amounts. The directors and management have
considered and assessed reasonably possible
changes for other key assumptions and have
not identified any instances that could cause
the carrying amount of film rights, films in
progress and film related deposits to exceed
their recoverable amount as at 30 June 2025.

As at 30 June 2025, the aggregate carrying
amount of film rights, films in progress
and film related deposits amounted to
approximately HK$99,316,000 (2024:
HK$466,952,000).

4,

=T

Eafid=

e I RR MR

S E R S a0

() BRI EENMBR®

(i)

SENRE  BERhz
EXNETHEB 2
/ﬁﬁiﬁ
K REBREET 2 BER
it ERREREELXLD
69,067,000 c(=Z& =M
4 117,032,000/ 7T) ERE
E-E_RFENA=THIE
EfZ@é%E%m%¢%
RUABEZEEECREEAE
BEHAWESE EER
ERECERERITMEME
DHRJ2EETRES - B
WA AR EE R
Wi - RHEREF REFIE
Melec FEmERBEEER
_?_Jﬂi/dq +H2ZA
U qEEREEOE N

RZE-_RAFA=+8"
BE  RIEREZRSE
THRBTT e 2 EmRENE
99,316,000 L (==Y
& 1 466,952,000/ 7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(ii)

Provision for impairment of accounts
receivable

Accounts receivable are reviewed by
management at the end of each reporting
period to determine the expected credit
losses. The management bases the estimates
on the historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors and assessments of both current and
forecast general economic conditions. Credit
risk assessments focus on the customers’
past history of making payments when due
and current ability and willingness to pay,
taking into account the financial position
of the customers and the macroeconomic
environment in which the customers operate.
If the financial conditions of the customers
and/or the macroeconomic environment of
the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to repay, additional
impairment provision may be reputed. If
the financial conditions of these customers
were to deteriorate, additional provision
for impairment may be required. As at 30
June 2025, the carrying amount of accounts
receivable amounted to approximately
HK$90,570,000 (2024: HK$27,170,000).

4,

Eafid=

(a)
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e I RR MR

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(@) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Estimated valuation of investment
properties

In determining the fair value, the valuer has
based on property valuation techniques which
involve, inter alia, certain estimates including
comparable sales in the relevant market,
appropriate discount rates and expected
future market rents. In relying on the valuation
report, management has exercised their
judgement and is satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market
condition. As at 30 June 2025, the carrying
amount of investment properties amounted
to approximately HK$28,740,000 (2024:
HK$29,840,000).

Estimation of fair value of financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss

The fair value of financial assets measured at
fair value through profit or loss that are not
traded in an active market is determined by
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its
judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on
market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period. Changes in these estimates
and assumptions could have a material
effect on the fair value of the financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

4,

=T

Eafid=

S E R S a0

() BRI EENMBR®

(iii)

(iv)
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RETEAFER  HEMD
ERMEGERE  ERS
M(EFRBE)ETHT 8
ER ™S 2 7] & LB EE
£ AENMIRXRRIBEHA
RGBS - ERBHER
L EREEERAEHE
W1z A BE (B 5 % R I ik
WETR RZE_RFN
A=+H KREMEZE®
E49/528,740,0008 (==
T PO4E : 29,840,000 7T) °

BRBEREA
ZERMEEND
b=t
REEREMEERENESB
BREEAFEARZERE
ENRAFENBEETAE
E o AKEE R HE A BRI
ZRENE LTEREER
SHRERKOHHRIELR
R REMHGRBRROES
AEEHABIBSEATE
A%Z%ﬂﬁ?% ~FEE
EERTE

AT BN
AT E

FREXCEBERLDR —T-RFFH

181



182

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4, BRESTHERAE @
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (a)
(Continued)

(iv) Estimation of fair value of financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

As at 30 June 2025, the carrying amount
of other financial assets amounted
to approximately HK$770,000 (2024:
HK$1,878,000).

(v)  Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and tax
losses can be utilised, and is measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax assets are
realised. In determining the deferred tax
assets to be recognised, management is
required to estimate the future applicable tax
rate for each entity within the Group at each
tax jurisdiction and the profitability of each
entity, so as to estimate the future utilisation
of tax losses. Any difference between these
estimates and the actual outcome will impact
the Group ‘s results in the period in which
the actual outcome is determined. As at 30
June 2025, the carrying amount of deferred
tax assets amounted to approximately
HK$581,000 (2024: HK$513,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(vi)

Impairment of loans receivable and other
receivables

The impairment loss for using the expected
credit loss model is subjected to a number
of key parameters and assumptions,
including the identification of loss stages,
estimates of probability of default, loss
given default, exposures at default and
discount rate, adjustments for forward-
looking information and other adjustment
factors. The expected credit losses for loans
receivable and other receivables are derived
from estimates whereby management takes
into consideration historical data, the historical
loss experience and other adjustment factors.
Historical loss experience is adjusted on
the basis of the relevant observable data
that reflect current economic conditions
and the judgment based on management’ s
historical experience. Management reviews
the selection of those parameters and the
application of the assumptions regularly to
reduce any difference between loss estimates
and actual loss. As at 30 June 2025, the
carrying amount of loans receivable and
financial assets included in deposits paid,
prepayments and other receivables amounted
to nil (2024: HK$187,000) and HK$34,244,000
(2024: HK$31,490,000), respectively.

e I RR MR

4, BRESITHERAEH@

(a) BEREEENMERR®

BWEF R HMmEW
FIEZRE
BMEBKTEREBREEE
BRER -  ZRRET@ES
B MBE - BRI a8k
B HEHEOBER C BB
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ATREEE R AE R E M
BHEZ - BRER R EME
WsE 2 EEREE BB RIR
RER B B EEE
BEBIEHREMAZER
=& ZME - BABBELR
AR 45 2 el 3R B 4 B IR L 2 AR
Ba RSN REEERE
BELRED 2 A E M
B EHESTHRITZ2H
ZEDRBEER - LUK
EBBEGTHEEREER
TR ZzE R_ZT-_HF
ANAZ+TH ERERR
FFABENE S - ERARIE
FEMERREZEHE
EZERAEINAZS(ZE
~“ P 187,000 T) &
34,244,000 (=& =M
£ 1 31,490,000/ 7T) °

(vi)
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A MR ME

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

Useful lives of other intangible assets

The Group amortises its other intangible
assets with a finite useful life on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful lives reflect management's
estimate of the period that the Group is able
to derive future economic benefits from
the use of the other intangible assets. At
30 June 2025, the carrying amount of other
intangible assets amounted to approximately
HK$2,010,000 (2024: HK$2,057,000).

Net realisable value of inventories

The Group’'s management reviews the
inventory ageing analysis periodically, and
makes allowance on an annual basis for
obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
identified that are no longer marketable. The
Group carries out an inventory review on a
product-by-product basis at the end of each
reporting period and makes allowance for
obsolete and slow-moving items through
management’s estimation of the net realisable
value for such obsolete and slow-moving
items based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. At 30
June 2025, the carrying amount of inventories
amounted to approximately HK$1,234,000
(2024: HK$2,716,000).

4,

Eafid=

(a)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Critical accounting judgement in applying the
Group's accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

Classification of joint arrangements

The Group has entered into joint arrangements to
produce and distribute television series, films and
webisodes. The Group has participating interests
ranging from 5% to 90% (2024: from 5% to 90%)
in these joint arrangements. The Group has joint
control over these arrangements as, under the
contractual agreements, unanimous consent is
required from all parties to the agreements for all
relevant activities. The Group’s joint arrangements
involve the joint control by the venturers of the
assets contributed to the joint arrangement and
dedicated to the purposes of each joint arrangement
for the benefits of the venturers. Each venturer
may take a share of the output from the assets
and each bears an agreed share of the expenses
incurred. These joint arrangements do not involve
the establishment of a corporation, partnership or
other entity, or a financial structure that is separate
from the venturers themselves. Therefore, these
arrangements are classified as joint operations of
the Group and the Group recognises in relation
to its interest in a joint operation in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 2.3. The
determination of the relevant activities under joint
operations requires management’s significant
judgement.

e I RR MR
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A MR ME

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which
are organised by business lines (products and services).
In a manner consistent with the way in which information
is reported internally to the Chairman of the Company,
being the Group’'s chief operating decision maker
("CODM") for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

The Group has presented the following reportable
segments.

- Video distribution, film distribution and exhibition,
licensing and sub-licensing of film rights;

- Trading, wholesaling and retailing of optical products
and watches products;

- Leasing of investment properties;
- Securities investments;
- Financial printing services; and

- Other (i.e. Entertainment business).

7 EBE #
ARBEHPIE D EREER - 0
BT (B % RIRHS)BRIL - ABRBLER
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- BRET ERETRER R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment loss, which
is a measure of loss before tax. The loss before
tax is measured consistently with the Group's loss
before taxation except other income, unallocated
finance income, unallocated finance costs and
unallocated corporate expenses.

Segment assets exclude unallocated other
intangible assets, other financial assets, unallocated
cash and cash equivalents, deferred tax assets and
other unallocated corporate assets as these assets
are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude taxation payable,
deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.

=T
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A MR ME

. PaNkvi | P=a
5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. D EPER @
e AN L 4= TR =
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) DEE - F4E - BE
. ==
(Continued) NEaE®
Information regarding the Group’s reportable BE_ZT-_RAFR-FNFH
segments as provided to the Group's CODM for the = ‘f‘ ALESFE REHTAEEEZ
purposes of resources allocation and assessment of BRREREERD AN B
segment performance for the years ended 30 June iﬁ %13221-‘ SETEHHIE RN
2025 and 2024 is set out below: N
For the year ended 30 June 2025
BE-B-REAASTBLEE
Video Trading,
distribution,  wholesaling,
film and
distribution retailing of
and optical
exhibition, products
licensing and and Leasing of
sub-licensing watches investment Securities Financial
of film rights products properties investments printing Others Elimination Total
BERT
BYRAR BHEERR
B B BHER
REREY FA-ER ikl
& HERTE RENE BARE BEENR Hit £ @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin Fax Fin Fax Fin Fi#n Fin Fign
Segment revenue ABhE
Disaggregate by timing of revenue RRERIRRAR
recognition
- Point in time -R-BH 422,505 10,885 = = 4,705 1949 o 440,044
= Over time - BEEs = = = = 31,903 = - 31,903
- Revenue out of scope of HKFRS 15 - BAUBREENE5REE
PAIMR R - - 645 - - - - 645
External revenue Shapas 422,505 10,885 645 = 36,608 1,949 = 472,592
Inter-segment sales DEEE = = = o 240 = (240) =
422505 10,385 645 - 36,848 1949 (240) 41259
Segment results ARER (52,532) (2,088) (117) (1,350) (323) 956 - (56,054)
Finance income BHBIMA 2,820
Finance cost BBRA (552)
Unallocated corporate expenses FAMCERT (4,668)
Loss before taxation BHAEE (58,454)
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e I RR MR

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

ot

o EBE R @)

(a) 7 BFH AR

NI

i

N/

5

(@) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities kM8 H
. = =
(Continued) NEaE®
As at 30 June 2025
R=BZEFXA=TA
Video
distribution, Trading,
film wholesaling,
distribution and retailing
and exhibition, of optical
licensing and products and Leasing of
sub-licensing watches investment Securities Financial
of film rights products properties investments printing Others Total
BEBT BHEERR
EYRIR #RER
BB RER A UR H
BREYNE HEREBE RENX BERE SRR Hit E-5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEr TER TER TER TER TER
Assets g
Segment assets AHEE 230,391 33N 28,799 - 19,219 9,035 290,815
Other financial assets HinomaE 770
Deferred tax assets EERERE 581
Unallocated other intangible assets FORELENEE 1,858
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents FAAERERELEED 135,245
Unallocated corporate assets FAOMGEEE 6,435
Total consolidated assets GREEBE 435,704
Liabilities A
Segment liabilities fHEE 158,366 5,148 153 - 14,513 1577 179,757
Taxation payable EABE 11,704
Deferred tax liabilities BREREEE 134
Unallocated corporate liabilities FARGCEAE 6,353
Total consolidated liabilities FREELE 197,948
EFREXEEAERAT —TAFFR
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5.

(@) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

Other information
Additions of property, plant and equipment
Additions of right-of-use assets

Total additions of property, plant and
equipment

Additions of film rights and films in
progress
Additions of film related deposits

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Unallocated depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Amortisation of film rights

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of other intangible assets

Total depreciation and amortisation

Write-down of inventories

Reversal of impairment loss of film related
deposit

Impairment loss of film rights and films in
progress

Change in ECLs

= Accounts receivable
= Other receivables
-~ Loans receivable

Total change in ECLs

Impairment loss of trading securities
Fair value change of investment properties

Rfbgs

RENE  BERRE
RERRREEE
REME - HEREHE
28

RER

W

IRERE T2

=
EYRBTSEN
% BERRERE

AOENE  BERZE
ik

BRE B
EREAEZNE
Rl EE 2 BH

RERBHLR

FEHA
EYRRT S AERR
el
EYRERREDZEY
RERK

ITRRZRAERER
28

- UGS

- B RNFE

- BUREH

BHEREREDLR

XeRARARK
RENELATEED

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

ot

o EBE R @)

(a) DEBUER
K aEw®

As at 30 June 2025
R=BZEFXA=TA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

NI

=%=
v 3RAE

Video
distribution,
film
distribution
and exhibition,
licensing and
sub-licensing
of film rights
BEYT
EYRIR
BB RHE
BREYNE
HK$'000
TER

431

16,553
9“1

961

315,824
3,101

62

(223)

69,067

9%
204

Trading,
wholesaling,
and retailing

of optical
products and
watches
products
REERR
HRER

A UR
HEREE
HK$'000
T

300

572

(8)

Leasing of
investment
properties

it
RENE
HK$'000
TR

1,100

Securities
investments

HERE
HK$'000
FiEn

1,350
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Financial
printing

BRI
HK$'000
TR

139
3,300

242

3,018
47

Others

At
HKS000
TR

Total

g
HKS'000
TR

597
3,300

3,897

16,553
9“1

1,503

1
315,824
6,691
47

324,066

62

(223)

69,067

124
204
161

489

1,350
1,110



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

RE M BRI

5. DEER @

S e I\ 7| S W=
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (&) DEPNE « E4E - BE
. = =
(Continued) NEaE®
For the year ended 30 June 2024
BECR-MERASTHLEER
Video Trading,
distribution, wholesaling,
film and
distribution retailing of
and optical
exhibition, products
licensing and and Leasing of
sub-licensing watches investment Securities Financial
of film rights products properties investments printing Others Elimination Total
BB
BYEAR BREMR
B B EREM
REEEY 285" st
it HERTE RENE BFRE B ENR) Hih BH e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FL T TERL T TAr FhL TEr FhL
Segment revenue 2Bl
Disaggregate by timing of revenue BRERIRRAR
recognition
= Point in time -E-EEH 310,176 18993 - - 579 1,749 - 336,714
- Over time - BB - - - - 27,630 - - 27,630
- Revenue out of scope of HKFRS 15 - BB R EAIF 1655 E
IASMEER - - 863 - - 50 - 913
External revenue Il 310,176 18,993 863 - 33426 1,799 - 365,257
Inter-segment sales AUEEE - - - - 391 - (391) -
310,176 18,993 863 - 33817 1,799 (391) 365,267
Segment results AREE (17,226) (5,647) (1,146) - (361) (427) (391) (25,198)
Other income Ef A 121
Finance income BBRA 2,507
Finance cost HBRA (535)
Unallocated corporate expenses KAMLERT (2,904
Loss before taxation BHAEE 26,009)
BEFREVEBFRAR —T_AFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

ot

2 AR

(&

NI

i

. aMona . ANz S
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) DB X245 BE
(Continued) NEaE®
As at 30 June 2024
RZZZMERA=TA
Video
distribution, Trading,
film wholesaling,
distribution and retailing
and exhibition, of optical
licensing and products and Leasing of
sub-licensing watches investment Securities Financial
of film rights products properties investments printing Others Total
BEET BRERR
BYEOR BRER
BB Rk 8% isti
SRBTME HEREE RENE BARE Bt ENR) A @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fisn T FAL FAT Fibn Fisn Fdn
Assets KE
Segment assets AHEE 530,262 6,445 29,902 1,350 20,486 11,029 599,474
Other financial assets HpspEE 1,878
Deferred tax assets EERERE 513
Unallocated other intangible assets AORELENEE 1,858
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents AAERERELEED 132,324
Unallocated corporate assets FAAMGEEE 1,365
Total consolidated assets GREEBE 737,412
Liabilities af
Segment liabilities AHEE 398,042 6,635 175 - 14,195 1,667 420,714
Taxation payable BRI 7,825
Deferred tax liabilities EERERR 80
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBGERE 6,405
Total consolidated liabilties FRAEEE 435,024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

ot

RE M BRI

o EBE R @)

(a)

5 EM S -

_\LII_Z

JNE=RELC)

As at 30 June 2024
RZZZMERA=TA
Video
distribution, Trading,
film wholesaling,
distribution and retailing
and exhibition, of optical
licensing and products and Leasing of
sub-licensing watches investment Securities Financial
of film rights products properties investments printing Others Total
BEET BRERR
BYEOR BRER
BB Rk 8% isti
ELES it HERTE RENE BARE Bt ENR) A @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TER FEn Fhr TER TEL TERL
Other information HtER
Additions of property, plant and equipment  FEWE - BHEREE 29 765 31 - 275 - 1,100
Additions of right-of-use assets REEREEE 8,024 2,998 - - - - 11,022
Total additions of property, plant and RENE  KRRRE
equipment &g 12,122
Additions of film rights and films in REEFMERE R
progress E¥ 54,693 - - - - - 54,693
Additions of film related deposits (32 HE2 17,641 - - - - - 17,641
Depreciation of property, plant and g BERETE
equipment 888 604 13 - 178 - 1,683
Unallocated depreciation of property, AAMME  BERRE
plant and equipment 7E 1
Amortisation of film rights BYEZBH 236,423 - - - - - 236,423
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FERREEZNE 3221 1,184 - - 1,472 - 5877
Amortisation of other intangible assets H B AR 2 B3 - - - - 43 - 43
Total depreciation and amortisation HERBHEE 244,027
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEEARR (652) - - - - - (652)
Impairment loss of film related deposit BYAMI S 2R ERR 5122 - - - - - 5,122
Impairment loss of film rights and BYMERE T 28T
films in progress BEA% 17,032 - - - - - 17,032
Change in ECLs INTERZBHRERE
2%
- Accounts receivable - U (50) 459 - - (207) - 202
- Other receivables - EftENGR (151) - - - - - (151)
- Loans receivable -ERER - - - - - 302 302
Total change in ECLs EHEEEREDEE 353
Fair value change of investment properties ~ RENEATELE - - 1,620 - - - 1,620
BFREVEEERAT —T_AFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. ZEER @
(b)  Geographical information (b) HbiE & K}

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The
Group's operations are mainly located in Hong Kong

ARRINEE - AREZEHE
BURBBRTHE -

and the PRC.
The revenue information below is based on the T ESER T K& REH A
location of the operations. A o
2025 2024
—ECRE —To@mE
Non-current Non-current
assets assets
(other than (other than
financial financial
instruments instruments
and and
deferred deferred
Revenue  tax assets) Revenue tax assets)
kRBEE ERBEE
(TaEew T BiE:H
IAREE TARER
Wz HEEE) s WIEAE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET THT FTET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) &7 (FT7E i) 56,515 139,757 70,703 512,502
PRC and other Asian countries  F Bl R B it M EIR
(other than Hong Kong and (BA RN
Macau) 411,370 24,952 286,926 24,793
Others Hit 4,707 = 7,628 -
472,592 164,709 365,257 537,295
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Information about major customers

For the year ended 30 June 2025, one of the
customers from video distribution, film distribution
and exhibition, licensing and sub-licensing of film
rights segment contributed 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue amounting to approximately
HK$168,070,000 (2024: one of the customers
contributed 10% or more of the Group’s revenue
amounting to approximately HK$88,450,000).

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers in
existence at the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
video distribution, film distribution and exhibition,
licensing and sub-licensing of film rights, trading,
wholesaling and retailing of optical products and
watch products and provision of financial printing
services, such that the Group does not disclose
information about revenue that the Group will
be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the sales contracts
as their performance has an original expected
duration of one year or less.

ot

=T

/

S

1

juj

e I RR MR

Bt

ERTERFZERM
REE_ZE-_RAFNA=1tHILHF
& - 8RBT BRBIT R
BHMEREERESSEP —
HEFEBAEE ZNFEI0%
A E 0 #9168,070,0008 (=
ToNF  HP—EEFFERA
EEIWFEI0%BHIA L A
88,450,000/5 7T) ©

Bt R BB
B EH . Was -
TEHRR R R TR

AEEEBEETEHREERLE

155121 BEBRET HERR
Hptsrg 3T - BRI RN
B MEREZRE - REERR
EEREMCED  MBERTEUR
REPEORRE ZHEHEALY
Eitt - AEBEHMTEEEEALEER
(EEBTHEANETH ITEY
SR BERERKSZER

ARTZEEEE —FHUTZIR
TEERHARR ©

FREEEEBRAR —ZE-_RFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. Y% - HBERRE
Right-of-use Leasehold ~ Machineryand  Fumniture and Motor Office
assets Premises  improvements equipment fixtures Vehicles equipment Total

kRRRE n%  RENRRE  RERER  MARKE RE BOERR 28
HKS 000 HS000  HKSO00 HKS 000 HSO00  HKSO00 HKS 000 HKS 000
Tén AL Thn Tén AL Thn Tén Thn

C0sT TS
AT July 2023 RZBZ=FrA-H 44,096 26,003 1349 25,768 2605 4570 9,867 126405
Additions HE 1102 - a7 - 159 - 464 12122
Disposals & - - - fl (345 - 2 (373
Termination #i (191 - - - - - - (1.921)
Write-off i - - (803) - (204 - - 1,007)
Exchange realignment  E 1 3% (10 (206) (30 - - 2) ) (280)
A0Jne204end  HZFZMERAZTH

1 July 2024 RZE-mF+A-H h3,187 5,198 13140 25,761 2215 458 10297 134,946
Additions AE 3300 - 12 - 18 - 567 3897
Termination #i (797) - - - - - - (797)
Write-0ff i - - - - () - (1) (10
Exchange redignment  EREE - 5% 8 - 2 g1 il 803

Kleedts | RSSSRTASTE B BE .. L, S BE ... L T e g7, 16

ACCUMULATED BitfE

DEPRECIATION
At 1 July 2023 WoBZZErA-H RIAVA 609 11593 25,7133 2152 3676 9537 0427
Depreciation charge fEER 58771 406 043 9 20 208 198 7,561
Disposels il - - - 1] (265) - (28] (291
Termination #it (426) - - - - - - (£26)
Wite-off i - - 1608) - (134 - - (14
Exchange redignment ~ EHE - (10) (16) - - K] ] (58]
A30Jned0Mand  R-E-MERAZTE

1July 2024 RZZ-RELA-B 45718 1,005 11612 5,14 1913 3861 9,703 %473
Depreciationcharge ~~ EBE 6,601 406 197 9 % 208 21 8,19
Termination 8 (679) - - - - - - (679)
Writg-0ff i - - - - 4 - - 4
Exchange reclignment~ ER3E - B 5 - ki 68 0 2

Rdeens | RECETSTR O eE0 189 L T BN L. .. W LS

CARRYING AMOUNTS B
At30 June 2025 RoBZREAZTH 7100 U9 1071 17 144 196 813 34643
At 30 June 2024 RE-RERAZ1A 10609 21793 1528 % U2 681 5% 34713
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
Notes:

Depreciation of approximately HK$8,195,000 (2024:
HK$7,561,000) has been charged to “administrative expenses”
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, property, plant
and equipment (note 2.6) and right-of-use assets (note 2.8(i)) are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
loss. During the prior year, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets for financial printing business were fully
impaired as the value-in-use of those assets are estimated by
the management of the Group to be nil because of the past poor
financial performance of the business segment and it is foreseen
that those assets will not be able to be used to generate positive
future cash inflow.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

Other properties leased for own BICERARAREE
use, carried at depreciation cost LAVEE AR E s

e BEHRRMEE
M - sk RE®

s

FEH8,195,0008c (=T - MO4F :
7,561,000 L) ERGAEZEAWSRIITHRE
BIFRE -

RIBAEE ZEFTHEK  WE - BERERE
(FH5E2.6) Ko b P #E & 2 (MY RE2.8() IR AR
ZRMERREBRRIE NEFE - K
BRI 2 M - B hRBAREREE
EXHRE RARAEEEEEGBIZS
BEZEREBEARAT  DREZEBIHBE
BBERARERARZSEERBERRE
EIEREBRSRA °

@) ERIEEE
RIRBAERAE D 2 EAREE

BREFEDITIT
2025 2024
—ERE —E - OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
7,100 10,609

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. %  HKBIRZHE®
(Continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (@) FERAEEE®
The analysis of expenses items in relation to leases REZERANHEERERIEE»
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: W
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-pF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Depreciation charge of right-of-use #2848 E EBRIEI D H)
assets by class of underlying FRAEEEBRITE
assets: (Note 29) (B$7£29)
Other properties leased forown  FELAEB A
use HibE 6,691 5,877
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEHNE (F17E29)
(Note 29) 552 535
Expenses relating to short-term EEAR SRR
lease (Note 29) (F$7£29) 789 691
Expense relating to leases of low- FEREBEEEHEBEFX
value assets (Note 29) (Ft3E29) 313 268
Variable lease payments not WEFAHEABEAEZ
included in the measurement of AR ER K (FEE29)
lease liabilities (Note 29) - 103
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets
were approximately HK$3,300,000 (2024:
HK$11,022,000). This amount primarily related to
the capitalised lease payments payable under a new
tenancy agreement.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 40(c) and 25 respectively.

Other properties lease for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its office, warehouse and retail stores
through tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years. The lease of
retail stores contain variable lease payment terms
that are based on sales generated from the retail
stores and minimum annual lease payment terms
that are fixed. These payment terms are common in
retail stores in Hong Kong and the PRC where the
Group operates. Other than the retail stores, other
leases do not include variable lease payments.

e I RR MR

6. W% - HENFZE®

(a)

FERAEEE®
RER FEERABEEY

3,300,000 L(ZF M4 :
11,022,000/7T) - 2 REEEH
VA HERRE TEN SRS
FRIEAARE -

FRMHEReRNEBELAESE
EIHAAR SR 54T 2 5E1E o BB A BT 7
40(c) }2 25 °

HEAEE RrEMmYE

AEBEZEBHERZEEREM
MEREN - ERPAE RERE
BE - ZFHE—RONF/H—=
=F - TEEHERBEUTEEH
ERAEMAE Z I EHE SRR
B E < S AR IR o S F I
REAREEELMENTERTE
MEEEPRER - REEEI
HipHEY T EEATZEHENK -

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

7.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWE

2025 2024
—E_RE —E g
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHBT

At fair value BAFE
At the beginning of the year REH] 29,840 31,460
Fair value change N EEE (1,100) (1,620)
At the end of the year RER 28,740 29,840

Fair Value Measurement of Investment Properties

(a)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s investment properties measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs, that is, unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs, that is, observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not available

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs

LEMEZ N VERE

(a)

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair Value Measurement of Investment Properties
(Continued)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

e I RR MR

7. BREYHE @

BREVEZ N FHEAE®

(a)

NHEER@

Fair value measurements at
30 June 2025 categorised into
R-ZE-RFAA=+ALTEAEREA

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

1R E2 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FER TR

- - 28,740

Fair value measurements at
30 June 2024 categorised into
RZZE-NFAA=THAFEFEREA

Fair value at
30 June 2025
R-EZHF
~A=1+H
ZAYE
HK$'000
FET
Recurring fair value EEEATE
measurement iE
Investment properties: BEME
- Residential = Hong Kong - {¥% - &% 28,740
Fair value at
30 June 2024
RZ_T_mF
ANA=1H
ZAYHE
HK$'000
FHIT
Recurring fair value "EENFE
measurement FTE
Investment properties: REME
- Residential —=Hong Kong - X% - &% 29,840

During the year ended 30 June 2025, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer
into or out of Level 3 (2024: Nil). The Group's policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

F1R F21 F3R
HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TAET TET

- - 29,840

HE_ZT_RAFAAA=1THLF
B &R 1REF2REARES
% BIMMEBEASEL(—F
PO« &) - REBEOHBKEER
HERRERRHANBELENATE
EMHEFR2HENER -

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

7.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair Value Measurement of Investment Properties

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

All investment properties of the Group were
revalued as at 30 June 2025. The valuations were
carried out by an independent firm of surveyors,
Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, who have
amongst their staff members of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the
location and category of properties being valued.
The management of the Group has discussions with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed at
each reporting date.

Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

(a)

(b)

Valuation Unobservable
techniques inputs
THEEZBA
RER* i
Investment properties in  Direct comparison Discount on quality
Hong Kong approach of properties
REBZREME BERLBUE RE ZETE

The fair value of investment properties located
in Hong Kong is determined using direct
comparison approach by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price
per square foot basis, adjusted for a premium or
discount specific to the quality and location of the
Group’s properties compared to recent sales of
comparable transactions. Higher discount for lower
quality properties will result in a lower fair value
measurement.
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NHEER@
AEERERENMEON -_F-H
FARNA=ZTBHETEM - BEH
B BIBENTT - I QIRIRFT A 4 AR
BRARET  ZRAHMABIR
FEHNEMBEEE  HMHEYD
KR FTE R R B A
BRR - REBRREE AETRE
B AEEERECEAEM®
EERREEESER -

BRBEMRAFEAEZER

Range of inputs

BABBEE
-10%-0% (2024: -10%-0%)

10%-0% (ZZ =04 : -10%-0%)

NREBZEREMEZ RFETIE
RERLEAERE  BRES2EAH
LB ERES T REREESE
ZOHEE  BEAKEYMEE
ENMME 2R E R E S TE (BT
HHERFLBAB)IELAE -
BEERMEZERTESEHR
Bz FEAERE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

7. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 7. REVIZE@
Fair Value Measurement of Investment Properties WEMEZ A EFTE @
(Continued)
(b) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (b) BEEMNAFEFEZER
(Continued) (#)

The movements during the year in the balance

FERNEIRATFEIBEBOHED

of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as W
follows:
2025 2024
—E-FREF —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Investment properties REWE
- Residential - Hong Kong -FE-5B
At the beginning of the year NG 29,840 31,460
Fair value change NTEES) (1,100) (1,620)
At the end of the year RER 28,740 29,840
Total loss included in profit or loss  FTHEER TSR A
for assets held at the end of the BHEMBERE
reporting period (1,100) (1,620)

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

8. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8. HMEEEE
Computer Club
software Brand name  membership Total
ERHH Yk e @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FAL AR FAEL
COST BA
At 1 July 2023 R-E-=%+Af—H 1,484 1,108 1,858 4,450
Addition NE 225 - - 225
At 30 June 2024, 1 July 2024 RZEZMEAA=1A
and 30 June 2025 “E-NUFE+A-BR
“E-RFNAZ1H 1,709 1,108 1,858 4,675
ACCUMULATED R BERAE
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2023 A\-Z-=%+A-H 1,467 1,108 - 2,575
Amortisation for the year FEREH(20)
(Note 29) 43 - - 43
At 30 June 2024 and RZE-NERA=1H
1 July 2024 kZE-E+A—H 1,510 1,108 - 2,618
Amortisation for the year FMEE (29
(Note 29) 47 - - 47
At 30 June 2025 RZEZRAFAA=TH 1,657 1,108 - 2,665
CARRYING AMOUNT FEE
At 30 June 2025 RZZEZRAFAA=TH 152 - 1,858 2,010
At 30 June 2024 RZEZWFEAA=TH 199 - 1,858 2,067

No impairment loss of the other intangible assets
was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the years ended 30 June 2025

and 2024.

204

BE_Z-_RAFE-_ZT-_NE A=+
AItFE  WEAMEFEE 2 FHERE

KRB EEUR R AR -
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e I RR MR

9. FILM RIGHTS AND FILMS IN PROGRESS 9. EFXMERKEFZ2EE

Film Films in
rights progress Total
L
EYhE pA:1/ st
HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS'000
Thn Tirn Tin
cosT A
At1 July 2023 R-E-ZErA- TA45T! 381,256 1125807
Additions HE 306 54,367 54,693
Transfer from films in progress ERRD(EY 29,267 (29,267) -
Write-off of expired fim rights 4 E?ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂ%ﬁ (3120] - (3120
At30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 R_E-REAAZTHR-E-RELA-H 771,004 406,356 1,177,400
Additions g 838 15715 16,553
Transfer from films in progress ERpgfEY 415,337 (415,337) -
Write-0ff of expired film rights SIHETRE A (255) - (259)
Write-off DVD pre-product cost DVDEERMAZ i 5] - 5
MS0duneds ] RERARSIR 1,186,959 673 1.1%86%
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT ZiBEREE
At1 July 203 W-FZ=Ft - 514,200 3,749 517949
Amortisation for the year (Note 29) ErgHng 26423 - 236,403
Impaiment [Note 29) () 17,032 - 17,032
\Write-off of expired fiim rights N RE R (3120) - (3120
At30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 NZE-MEAAZHER-E-RECA-H 764,53 3,749 768,284
Arortisation for the year (Note 29) ErgEinEg 315,824 - 315,824
Transfer from fims in progress ElanEnzy 3,749 (3,749) -
Impaiment [Note 29) E(HR9) 69,067 - 69,067
Wrte-off of expired film rights Bl v ¢ (255) - (255)
Write-off DVD pre-product cost DWDEERAA M ) - (5]
N2 i) e R AL FUTUUTUTTT WSS e, el M
CARRYING AMOUNT HEE
At30 June 2025 RoE-RERASHE 34,044 6,734 40,778
At30 June 2024 RZE-mEAR=TH 6,509 402,607 409,116

Amortisation of approximately HK$315,824,000 (2024:

B9 %49315,824,000%8 T (ZF =Y

HK$236,423,000) is included in the cost of revenue in the “F : 236,423,000/ 1) 5T A& 2 EK
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. &R ZWREPAR °
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FILM RIGHTS AND FILMS IN PROGRESS

(Continued)

Impairment test for film rights and films in progress

The Group assesses whether the film rights and films
in progress for video distribution, film distribution
and exhibition, licensing and sub-licensing of film
rights segment are subject to any impairment loss, in
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note
2.14 of these consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 30 June 2025, management
assessed whether there was an impairment indicator in
relation to the film rights and films in progress for video
distribution, film distribution and exhibition, licensing and
sub-licensing of film rights segment by reviewing the cast
or scale of each films, current market condition, the trade
history, current financial position and popularity of film
outline stories. Management has further performed an
assessment on the recoverable amount of the film rights
and films in progress based on each film sales forecast.
As at 30 June 2025, the Group assessed that there were
impairment indication for certain films included in films
rights and films in progress with gross carrying amount
of approximately HK$166,755,000 (2024: HK$66,395,000)
and HK$6,734,000 (2024: HK$406,356,000) respectively
because of the change of comparable market information
and expected performance. As at 30 June 2025, these
film rights and films in progress were reduced to their
recoverable amount of approximately HK$34,044,000
(2024: HK$6,509,000) and HK$6,734,000 (2024:
HK$402,607,000) respectively. The recoverable amount
was determined on a title-by-title basis, and was
assessed with reference to a value-in-use calculation at
the end of the reporting period, which was derived from
discounting the projected cash flow forecast using a
discount rate of 11% (2024: 11%). Key assumptions for
the value-in-use calculations related to the estimation of
cash inflow included the budget film exhibition income,
budget licensing and sub-licensing income revenue
and discount rate. Such estimation was based on the
historical box office of the same director and main cast
members, the market comparable data of films with
the same theme, and management ' s expectations of
the market development. The discount rate used was
before tax and reflected current market assessment of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the film
production business.

9.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

EXMER BT 2 ER @

BERNRENRBEER 2B
/@ME/J =22
REBBBGE M EMERNT2. 1457,
FRTBE MR ET ERBITRNR
B R RERELRED LB
ERHEERP L EYREEHREMBEE
Bk .

RBE_T-_RAFNA=THLFE "

EEEFRAECHNETHNEERAN
HE - ERTR - XPek - BRI

RRAREZHEEMOZELIRE - 5F
HEREET - ERHEITRER - RER
BREZRED B2 EZRERBET

BEYRAHBRAENR - ERERE
BHRETNHERNE - S HEZRE
NEERzZEZNAIRE S RRETH
H-MR-ZFT-_AFRA=1TH A%

EFFHEREARE D FI4A166,755,000
ABILT(ZEE-MF : 66,395,000/8
TT) 16,734,000t (ZF —HF

406,356,000 L) v A TEZ (BIES
CRERREEFEZ)TERETR -
RERBAILLMBERKEHRIR &
@J"ﬁ’t\ = __ﬁﬁz/\ﬂ ‘f’Ei ux—rEa
TRERBETFEZEDIIRERSEZ
AT B & BB 4734,044,0008 L (— & —
4 ¢ 6,509,000/ 7T) K6,734,000/%8

TT(ZZE P4 : 402,607,000/ 7T) °
AWE BN EYEEET -

VT2 ERFERRZFEREEFEE
IR MEAEBEEDERA11%(ZF
ZPOF  11%) 2 BhIR R AFIRTERIIR &
m;uxﬁﬁ BB RAMGRZE
AEETEIEZEREBIEEEEY MM
WA - TBERH RE R A RS A5
E o HEMF HENEREEREER
BrBAER - HMRAXEEF 2MSA
LB R EEEE MR ERZIEE - AT
BB EATABEE  RBEEAMS
HEEEEEEREYREESEER
A i

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FILM RIGHTS AND FILMS IN PROGRESS

(Continued)

Impairment test for film rights and films in progress
(Continued)

Taking into account the impairment assessment
performed by the management, an impairment loss
of film rights of approximately HK$69,067,000 (2024:
HK$17,032,000) and no impairment loss of films in
progress (2024: Nil) were recognised respectively in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2025 to reduce the carrying
amounts of these assets to their recoverable amounts.
The directors and management have considered and
assessed reasonably possible changes for other key
assumptions and have not identified any instances that
could cause the carrying amounts of film rights and films
in progress to exceed their recoverable amounts as at 30
June 2025.

mE B RRME
EYRERRERZET @

BN R Y BY
/WTE//JJ l:lik; Z )

K REERBEITZRETG  EFMR
REH BB 4169,067,0008 T (ZE =
PO%E : 17,032,000/ ) B #EEL{Eh
BY2REBRK(CE-_MF  £)BR
@i_v_ﬂi/\ﬁ +E1Jt¢r“zﬁ*

FERERFORER  LBZEE
EZHEE%,WIE‘M&@ > FH o BEEN
EEEFE%F&%%EMIK@”ZA

AlREE ) - B WM Al REE
?-E%;h&%&%qffﬁqﬂ?-&%zﬁ%ﬁ@iﬁﬁ
RZE-_RAFNA=Z+HB A WO4%E
E"‘”ﬁ/ﬂ:"

FREEEEBRAR —ZE-_RFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

10. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 30

June 2025.

Name of subsidiaries

WEARER

Universe Films (Holdings)
Limited*

Universe Films Distribution
Company Limited

Unique Model Limited*

Universe Digital
Entertainment Limited

STHEREARLT

Universe Management
Services Limited

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and kind
of legal entity

MR/ AT
RERERER

The British Virgin Islands,
limited liability
company

EBRUES
EREARA

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

it

BE ARAMAT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

BE - ARELLT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

BE BRELLA

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

BE BRELLT

Particulars of
issued share
capital

ERTRARE

Ordinary US$100

LRRBAI100ET

Ordinary HK$2

ERRRA2ET

Ordinary HK$100
ERERBRA100ET

Ordinary
HK$10,000 5%
deferred HK$10,000
EBRBZ10,000%7T
% ERHBRA
10,0007

Ordinary
HK$10,000 5%
deferred HK$10,000
LBRBZ10,000% 7T
BRI A
10,0004 7

10. EEME QT

UTAR-_ZE_RAFAA=1THZXE

MEBAREE -

Proportion

of ordinary

shares

directly

held by

Principal activities and parent

place of operation (%)

Eff

BAAKE

ITERREENY VEER

EA (%)

Investments holdings in 100
Hong Kong

RERE B

Subrlicensing of film rights -
and television series, film
exhibition and leasing of
investment properties in
Hong Kong
BREYMERER
SN RILRRE
VESE S

Model agency in Hong Kong -
BEIRE B

Distribution of films in -
various videogram formats
in Hong Kong

WA
2% 2%

Provision of management -
services for the Group in
Hong Kong

mASEREERRE
Bk

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025

Proportion
of ordinary
shares
held by
other
group
entities
(%)
L]
ERRA
MEER
E (%)

100

100

100

100

Proportion
of ordinary
shares
held by
non-
controlling
shareholders
(%)
BFEER
kFsE
Lak
$8 (%)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

10. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 10. ZENB A B

Proportion  Proportion
Proportion  of ordinary  of ordinary

of ordinary shares shares
Place of shares held by held by
incorporation/ directly other non-
establishment Particulars of held by group  controlling
and kind issued share Principal activities and parent entities shareholders
Name of subsidiaries of legal entity capital place of operation (%) (%) (%)
Efh  hHEMBEE  BFER
SHREL/ R gREkE  BBNE  BRKE
HEARER RERREEH BRARFRE IERRRERNY VEER  HEER EER
L6 (%) E (%) $81 (%)
Universe Entertainment Limited ~ The British Virgin Islands, ~ Ordinary US$2 Investment in films - 100 -
limited liability company production and licensing of
film rights in Hong Kong
STREERLT iBRAES ERRRAZET RESTRIERRILEY
BREAAR g -
Universe (China) Hong Kong, limited Ordinary HKS2 Investment holding in Hong - 100 -
Development Limited liability company Kong and investment in

television series production
in the People's Republic of

China ("PRC")
SRRRRARAT Eh BRELLT ERREA2ET RERR BE RRE
AesHEER -
hEARAAE (RE)
Globalink Advertising Hong Kong, limited Ordinary HK$2 Advertising agent for the - 100 -
Limited* liability company Group in Hong Kong
Eh BRELLT ERRRAZET AEEZEERE B4
Universe International Hong Kong, limited Ordinary HKS2 Purchasing agent for the - 100 -
Technology Limited liability company Group in Hong Kong
STERMRERAA Eh BRELLT ERRRA2ET REEZRERE B
Universe Artiste Hong Kong, limited Ordinary HK$10 Management of contracted - 100 -
Management Limited liability company artistes in Hong Kong
STEANERERDA BE BRELLT ERRBER10ET ERANEA  FR
Films Station Production Hong Kong, limited Ordinary HK$2 Films production in - 100 -
Limited* liability company Hong Kong
Bh BRELLT ERRRAZET BRI BE

BRRA(CEEERAT —E-REER 209
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

10. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiaries

WEARZR

Universe Music Limited

Universe Films
Acquisition Limited*

Universe Matrix Films
Investment Limited

STURETRARRAR

STURELZTRAUR)

BRAR®

STHERSRARAT"

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and kind
of legal entity

ARRY/RLhE
RERERER

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

Bt AREELA

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

BE ARELLT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

B% ARAMAA

PRC, limited liability
company

RE - ARELA

PRC, limited liability
company

RE - AREELT

Particulars of
issued share
capital

ERTRAHE

Ordinary HKS2

ERRBRA2ET

Ordinary HKS2
ERRRA2ET
Ordinary HK$1
ERRBEAET
RMB1,000,000
AR1,000,0007
RMB3,000,000

ARH3,000,0007C

10. EEME LN T @)

Proportion
of ordinary
shares
directly
held by
Principal activities and parent
place of operation (%)
Ef#f
BAREE
IERRRERNY WEER
LA (%)
Licensing and sut-licensing -
of music programme and
investment in concert in
Hong Kong
&ﬁ&i#a%ﬁ i
HRRERES &%

Sub-icensing of film rights in -
Hong Kong
BREYWE B

Investment in films -
production

RERRE

Distribution of films -
inthe PRC
EGE AR

Advertising agent for the -
Group in PRC
AEEZEERE  HE

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025

Proportion
of ordinary
shares
held by
other
group
entities
(%)
HELEL]
ERRA
HEBR
$A1 (%)

100

100

100

100

100

Proportion
of ordinary
shares
held by
non-
controlling
shareholders
(%)
HELR
R&kE
EER

S (%)
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e I RR MR

Name of subsidiaries

WEARZR

Fragrant River Entertainment
Culture (Holdings) Limited
BIREU(BRIERAT

Weluck Development Limited

KERRARAA

Precise Reach Group Limited

EEEEERAT

feall]

China Jianxin Credit
Services Limited

PEREEEARAT
Formex Financial Press Limited
RS NG
Formex Financial Press

(International) Limited

TrREHEENR (B B R A A

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and kind
of legal entity

ARRY/RLhE
RERERER

The British Virgin Islands,
limited liability company

EBRUES
EREAAR

The British Virgin Islands,
limited liability company

ARRLHE
EREMfAT

The British Virgin Islands,
limited fiability company

AERUES
ERERRA

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

B AREELA

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

BE ARELLT

Hong Kong, limited
liability company

BE ARAMAA

10. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of
issued share
capital

ERTRAHE

Ordinary US$100

LRRRA100ET

Ordinary US$1

ERRBRMXT

Ordinary US$100

LRRBAI00ET

Ordinary
HKS100
ERRRA100ET

Ordinary
HK$21,000,000
LRRIRA21,000,000E 7T

Ordinary
HK$100
ERRHER100ET

10. EEME LN T @)

Principal activities and
place of operation

IERHRERNA

Investment holding in the
British Virgin Islands
RESR  RERAES

Securities investments

EFRE

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
REBR B

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
REBR £

Financial printing services
in Hong Kong
BHBENRIRE - B8

Investment holding in
Hong Kong
RERR &%

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH

Proportion
of ordinary
shares
directly
held by
parent

(")
Ef#f
BAREE
VEER
LA (%)
100

Proportion
of ordinary
shares
held by
other
group
entities
(%)
HELEL]
ERRA
HEBR
$A1 (%)

100

100

100

945

100

Proportion
of ordinary
shares
held by
non-
controlling
shareholders
(%)
HELR
R&kE
EER

S (%)

55
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A MR ME

10. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 10. ZENB A B

Proportion  Proportion
Proportion  of ordinary  of ordinary
of ordinary shares shares
Place of shares held by held by
incorporation/ directly other non-
establishment Particulars of held by group  controlling
and kind issued share Principal activities and parent entities shareholders
Name of subsidiaries of legal entity capital place of operation (%) (%) (%)
Efh  hHEMBEE  BFER
SHREL/ R gREkE  BBNE  BRKE
HEARER RERREEH BRARFRE IERRRERNY VEER  HEER EER
L4 (%) E (%) $81 (%)
Formex Financial Press Group Hong Kong, limited Ordinary Securities investments - 100 -
Limited (formerly known as liability company HK$3,000,000
Rising Fame Investment Limited)
FRMEORIERERAT Eh BRELLA ERRBA EARE
i AEREARRAR 000,000 7
(1% RERABRAR) 3,000,000%
Universe Watch & Hong Kong, limited Ordinary Investment holding in - 100 -
Jewellery Group Co Ltd liability company HK$73,944,225 Hong Kong and the PRC
STERREREARAA B BRELLT ERRHEER REZR  BERTE
73.944,205% ¢
ATHEERARAT® PRC, limited liabilty Ordinery Wholesale and retailof - 100 -
company RMB27,500,000 watches and optical
products in the PRC
T8 BRELAT ERRREER HENSEERR
ARH27,500,0007 BRER T8
ERRSRYERAA PRC, limited liabilty Ordinery Wholesale and retailof - 100 -
company HK$9,000,000 watches in the PRC
hE - EREAAT ERREER RENZTEER TE
9,000,000% T
Garona (HK) Limited* Hong Kong, limited Ordinary Wholesale and retail of - 100 -
liability company HK$300,000 watches in Hong Kong
B AREEAT ERREA000008T  HENTEER FR
Universe Optical Investment Hong Kong, limited Ordinary QOptical shops - 90 10
Limited liability company HK$5,000,000
STREREERAA Bk ARRALA LBRMRA5,0000008  BEE
Universe Optical Company Hong Kong, limited Ordinary QOptical shops - 90 10
Limited liability company HK$100
STREERLR B BRELLT LERBRAI100ET REE
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e I RR MR

10. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment Particulars of
and kind issued share
Name of subsidiaries of legal entity capital
SHREL/ R
HEARER RERREEH BRARFRE
Universe Optical Group Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited Ordinary
liability company HK$10
STRESEERAA Eh BRELLA LRRBRAI0ET
China Jianxin Financial Hong Kong, limited Ordinary
Services Limited liability company HK$34,900,000
hEREEERRERLA Eh BRELLT ERRBRA
34,900,000/ 7T
Notes:
* No registered Chinese name for the companies
# No registered English name for the companies
@ Represent a wholly foreign owned enterprise

10. EEME LN T @)

Proportion
Proportion  of ordinary
of ordinary shares
shares held by
directly other
held by group
Principal activities and parent entities
place of operation (%) (%)
Effh  AHMER
gREkE  EBEE
IERRRERNY VEER  HEER
L4 (%) $4 (%)
QOptical shops - 90
REE
Securities brokerage and - 100
margin financing (The
business was discontinued
during the year ended 30
June 2018)
ERBLRHRRA
(BxBRER
ZE-\E/A=TH
IHERRID)
BsT
* ZERNRWEELRRETE
# ZENRWEE LRI ETE
e BRI EmBRE

Proportion
of ordinary
shares
held by
non-
controlling
shareholders
(%)
HELR
R&kE
EER

S (%)
10

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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A MR ME

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 1. @& zEmIT A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RBEHRR SESHRTAENERBERN
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period I
are as follows:
As at 30 June 2025 R-ZE_RAFNA="1TH
Financial assets EREE
Financial
assets at Financial
fair value assets
through profit  at amortised
or loss cost Total
pigicki=bny REHEEA
BRAFEANE ]
ZEMEE SREE @t
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER TER
Other financial assets HtemEE 770 = 770
Account receivable FEURTR = 90,570 90,570
Financial assets included in “deposits st AITH5]4 - B
paid, prepayments and other FIERE M EKFIE]
receivables” JEHMEE = 34,244 34,244
Time deposit EHER = 5,250 5,250
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRSEED = 135,245 135,245
770 265,309 266,079
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e I RR MR

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 11, Z¥ERI&D 2 m T A

(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RBERR SR TANEKREER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period ™

are as follows:

As at 30 June 2025 (Continued) RZZE-_RAFA=TH®@
Financial liabilities £ N=L
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
R 8 R AR
S8Rz
WA sE FE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT T
Accounts payable FETER R 10,189 10,189
Financial liabilities included in “other ST ATE A FET IR
payables and accrued charges” and FERT S HIRIBEWET £
“deposits received” ZemaeE 106,027 106,027
116,216 116,216

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH

215



216
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 11, Z¥ERI&D 2 m T A

As at 30 June 2024 R_ZB_MFRA=TH
Financial assets TREE
Financial
assets at Financial
fair value assets
through profit at amortised
or loss cost Total
ik ok = REHEKA
BATENR i
JEMEE SHEE &ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THL TR
Other financial assets HinemaE 1,878 - 1,878
Trading securities R5EH 1,350 - 1,350
Account receivable YRR - 27,170 27,170
Financial assets included in “deposits st AIEF5]4 ~ T8I
paid, prepayments and other IR E AR R
receivables” LEREE - 31,490 31,490
Loan receivable EWER - 187 187
Cash and cash equivalents ReRFeEED - 132,324 132,324
3,228 191171 194,399
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RE M BRI

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY  11.

(Continued)

As at 30 June 2024 (Continued)

RERHE D 2RI A

Financial liabilities SR8 E
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
b8 FicID%N
PR 2
CRIBE HBEr
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHET
Accounts payable FETBRFK 11,102 11,102
Financial liabilities included in "other BNE: Y ANE e
payables and accrued charges" and st I RIBEWET 2
"deposits received" ZERAas 95,120 95,120
106,222 106,222

ETREVEEBERAR —Z-RFEFR
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A MR ME

12. DEPOSITS PAID, PREPAYMENTS AND 12. ENFET® ~ ERFRIEREA
OTHER RECEIVABLES FEUW FRIE
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHIT
Non-current portion FERNEAE 5
Rental deposits (note a) HErT2 (HsFa) 1,051 821
Current portion BERER &
Prepayments TR RIE 897 758
Interest receivable FEULH B 163 697
Amounts due from joint operation JEW & & TG RIE

partners 15,137 9,867
Amounts due from non-controlling  FEU FE1R A% AE 25 2008 (Bt 5Eb)

interests (note b) - 874
Rental deposits and other deposits &5 & kHAM ] < (HiFta)

(note a) 11,444 11,659
Other receivables H A FE U IE 6,973 7,892
Less: loss allowance e =t (524) (320)

34,090 31,427

Note a: The amount of the Group's deposits paid expected fizta: AEBEFEHBERBEBR —FRIKE
to be recovered or recognised as expense after SERAAINENETIESEA
more than one year is approximately HK$1,051,000 #71,051,0008 7L (ZF Z 04 :
(2024: HK$821,000). All of the other deposits paid, 821,000 7T) - B H M2
prepayments and other receivables are expected to A& BARERE A ERFE
be recovered or recognised as expense within one BHIFER —F R DK ERE
year. % -

Note b: The advance is unsecured, non-interest bearing and fiatb © BHRABMER - T8 REETE

has no fixed repayment terms.
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RE M BRI

13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 13. B IBEEERERE
The movements in deferred tax assets and (@) MAFEEFEA @ RLEFHIE
liabilities during the year are as follows: BENBEZEE)
N
Deferred tax assets EEBIEERE
Tax losses Total
BiIEE R st
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
At 1 July 2023 R-ZZE-_=F+F—H 531 531
Charge to profit or loss RIBFIBR (18) (18)
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 RZ-Z_FA=+HK
—ZE-FE+HA—H 513 513
Credit to profit or loss RIEEFETA 68 68
At 30 June 2025 R-ZZE-_RF<A=+H 581 581
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFEEE
Accelerated
tax
depreciation Total
MERIETE F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
At 1 July 2023 RZE_=FtH—H (112) (112)
Credit to profit or loss RIEEFETA 32 32
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 HA-Z-MFA=+HK
—E-MFLHA—H (80) (80)
Charge to profit or loss RIS IR (54) (54)
At 30 June 2025 R-ZE-RFA=1+H (134) (134)
BFREYCEBRBRAT —T-_AFEER
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A MR ME

13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ~ 13. EZEFEEERAEEw@W
(Continued)
(a) The movements in deferred tax assets and (a) RAFEA - BEEHRIA
liabilities during the year are as follows: BEMBEZE
(Continued) NG
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax T AR BHRE B NS HAS
balances of the Group for financial reporting ELRIEIEASRR DT
purposes:
2025 2024
—E_RE —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FH&T
Net deferred tax assets MR A MR ERR
recognised in the consolidated ERAREERIEE E
statement of financial position pEit-E 581 513
Net deferred tax liabilities RERE MR ERA
recognised in the consolidated ~ FERHVELTE A &
statement of financial position FEE (134) (80)
447 433
(b) Deferred tax assets in respect of the unused tax (b) BELSEARSHETIEEEZ BT

losses carried forward are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the unused tax losses can
be utilised.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax
assets in respect of tax losses of approximately
HK$411,210,000 (2024: HK$339,590,000) as
at 30 June 2025 due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in the above tax
losses, approximately HK$22,990,000 (2024:
HK$21,460,000) can only be carried forward for a
maximum period of five years. Other losses can be
carried forward indefinitely.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 14. EttEmEE
2025 2024
—EREF —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Financial assets measured at fair ZREBEZBZ A FEAR
value through profit or loss ZEMEE
Non-current FEFRED
Unlisted limited partnership FLEMBEREBLE - 1,108
Club debenture gHES 770 770
At 30 June RBANA=1H 770 1,878
Fair value loss of unlisted limited partnership of EEMBEREAEBLCEZAFEBIE

HK$210,000 has been recognised in ‘Other gains/(losses)
= net’ in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

210,000 TERGE 2N ERZIE
fuR s, (E518)—F 58 PR -

TRADING SECURITIES 15. X5 HH
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHET

Listed equity securities — ERAFES -

held for trading BIEEE = 1,350
Market value of listed securities B S A = 1,350

Trading Securities are presented within ‘operating
activities’ as part of changes in working capital in the
consolidated statement of cash flows (Note 40).

As at 30 June 2024, the trading securities of
HK$1,350,000 represents listed equity securities
suspended from trading. The fair value of those securities
is determined based on valuation techniques and input as
stated in note 3.3(i)(b).

During the year ended 30 June 2025, the trading
securities of HK$1,350,000 was fully impaired as a
result of the Management’'s assessment of the subject
company of having continuing loss performance and thin
net asset value.

=T

riEER2RBY 5y Z5E
TAZEREMERANZ[EETE (M
5¥40) ©

R-ZE-_WNFEFXA=Z+TH X5FF
1,350,000 LiECEEEE 2 WK
KRFEH ZEBHFZRAFEDRIEN
FE3.3(0) (b) At Z (HE 5 0% R A BUE

EETE °

REBEZ-_ZE-_AFA=1THILFE
ARE ﬁm&aﬁ AR ESGEE
KR NEEFERE - #{EE1,350,000
BITHRSEHFEBERE -

FREEEEBRAR —ZE-_RFFR
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16. INTERESTS IN JOINT OPERATIONS 16.

The Group has entered into certain joint operation
arrangements to produce and distribute two television
series (2024: two), thirty-seven films (2024: thirty-seven).
The Group has participating interests ranging from 5% to
90% (2024: from 5% to 90%) in these joint operations.
As at 30 June 2025, the aggregate amounts of assets
and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial
statements relating to the Group's interests in these joint

BEXRBER

AEEBFUETAEERBTH U
EREBITMBERBEER (Z T ZMF
WEf) « =T EHEX(ZE_NF : =
+E3)  c AEEBRZEAEEBPHE
ENTFE5%EI0%(ZZE_MIF : 5%%
90%)z 2 EER - RZZE-_RAF A=
+H FHAEBRZEEEEHTH
ZHEEXT  BERGAYBRERTPERZ

operation arrangements are as follows: BEELBGEREAT
2025 2024
—E-RE —E_MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Assets BE
Film rights and films in progress B REREIER 2
B 29,024 29,803
Film related deposits ES-2 TRk 13,863 13,775
Accounts receivable and other P M52 B R % L b K
receivables B 11,136 7,945
54,023 51,523
Liabilities aE
Accounts payable and other payables  JEfT BRI Efb fE T
A 382 375
Deposits received BUET & 3,380 4,147
Contract liabilities BHEE 30,286 42,850
34,048 47,372
Revenue Uz 5,114 25,235
Expenses EH (8,487) (42,025)
Loss after income tax bRETISHiREE (3,373) (16,790)
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17. INVENTORIES 17. 78
2025 2024
—E-RE —FEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Raw materials JR# 135 132
Finished goods LUK om 1,099 2,584
1,234 2,716
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as WRBAX L AGEEAKEERANZ
an expense and included in consolidated statement of FEFBZMOT
comprehensive income is as follows:
2025 2024
—E-RF —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Carrying amount of inventories sold BEEFECZEEE 6,226 9,882
Write down of inventories 5 &Rk 62 -
Reversal of write-down of inventories 17 & #fs ¢ @ (551
(Note i) - (652)
6,288 9,230

Notei: The amount resulted from the utilisation of obsolete
inventories that were written down in prior years.

=T

Mz FAHEFREDBENBEFEM

MHREFE -

FREEEEBRAR —ZE-_RFFR
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18. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 18. EUNEBRFX
2025 2024
—E-HF —EEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Accounts receivable FE UK BR X 91,473 27,949
Less: Impairment loss R REE R (MRS 1()

(Note 3.1(b)) (903) (779)
NetiNotea) L FRmMED) ] 90570 . . 27170
Accounts receivable - net FEURBRR — R EE 90,570 27,170

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable approximate JEWEER v REEEE A FERE -

their fair values.

Notes: MI5E -

a The following is an ageing analysis of accounts receivable, a LNTALREZEANINEERARE
presented based on the invoice dates or date of revenue Bl 2 FEW AR 2 BRER 04T
recognition:

2025 2024

“BoHF —ENF

HK$’000 HK$'000

Fax FiET

1 to 90 days 1290H 60,402 14,655
91 days to 180 days 91HE180H 2,317 7,922
Over 180 days 180H KA 27,851 4,593
90,570 27,170

Sales of videogram products are with credit terms of 7
days to 60 days. Sales from film exhibition, licensing and
sub-licensing of film rights are on open account terms.
Sales from trading and wholesaling of optical products
and watches products, and provisions of financial printing
services are with credit terms of 0-180 days. Sales to
retail customers are made in cash or via major credit cards.
The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of
products on credit terms are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history and the Group performs periodic
credit evaluations of its customers.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit

risk arising from accounts receivable arising from other
business are set out in note 3.1(b).
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19. LOANS RECEIVABLE 19. EIRE K

2025 2024
—EC-HF —E_mFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loans to third parties BRFE=HZEK 780 806
Less: loss allowance o IR RS (780) (619)
- 187
The maturity profile of the loans RIEFE A 27 2 B E K
receivable, based on the maturity ~ B/HVE R0 :
date is as follows:
- Current - BN EA = 187

EREFNEEERS TN

The credit quality analysis of the loans receivable is as

follows:

2025 2024
—E_RE —E - POF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET

Unsecured loans EEAER
Not past due I K 18 HA 280 306
Over 180 days past due #HEF180H A £ 500 500
780 806
Less: loss allowance B R (780) (619)
- 187

ERRE(EAERAT —B-AEER 225
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19.

20.

LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, the Group has no secured
loan receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each year end
date is the carrying amount of the loans receivable.

All the loans receivable from third parties are entered
with contractual maturity within 1 to 2 years. The Group
seeks to maintain tight control over its loans receivable in
order to minimise credit risk by reviewing the borrowers’
or guarantors’ financial positions.

Loans receivable from third parties are bearing interest
rate of 10% per annum (2024: 10% per annum).

No interest income (2024: HK$50,000) has been
recognised in ‘revenue’ in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

TIME DEPOSIT

Time deposit with initial terms of over three months were
neither past due nor impaired. As at 30 June 2025, the
carrying amounts of the time deposit with initial terms of
over three months approximated their fair values.

19.

20.

FElRE R @

RZE_RFER T -_WNFEA=+
B AEEMEEREEKFER -

REFRARKANEERR AREE
R ARHEE -

FFIEREFE=FRWERE] & L5 H
BNF1E2FA - KEERNEBERHR
BRARERANFIERR - @158 E
WE R EBZES - BB EERER
EHIK -

KEFRE=FREREFIZ10% 2 FH =5t
B(ZT-mE « FHE10%)

BMERN B WA (ZZT M4 : 50,000
BIL)ENGAE2EWER ZIKZEIRN

EHFR

YRR BB = A W E TR ER
HIAERE R_T_AF A=+
B - Ve HARR R B = A &Y E HIF 5K Y
FEEEEQATEREE -
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Var
21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. R RALZEY
2025 2024
—E-REF “ENF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Cash at bank RITFRK 127,896 83,196
Cash in hand FHERE 119 148
Time deposits TEHER 7,230 48,980
Total cash and bank balances Re RIRTTHE B BEE 135,245 132,324
Included in the cash and bank balances at 30 June 2025 RZE_RAFRNA=THZHRE IR
was a total sum being the equivalent of approximately THEHBPEEMREN451,935,0008
HK$51,935,000 (2024: HK$72,455,000) which was TT(ZZ M4 : 72,455,000/8 70) BY 48
maintained in mainland China and is subject to foreign B GERFEARRE - ZHMNEE GGG
exchange control regulations. FirBR °
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on FRRIRIT 2R SEE B RITHERHAE
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for EZZEAERGE c REASEYIE
varying periods depending on the cash requirements S 2HBK MR E 2 EHEFR
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective time W REIR TR EHTF R EFE ZF
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with B o iRITHEBRTF RN EER LK
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. EERIZIRTT -

BrRE L EEERAT —E-REER 227
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22. SHARE CAPITAL 22. RN
2025 2024
—E-RE —TNF
Number Nominal Number Nominal
of shares value of shares value
R EE E{E B8 B [ERE]
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR FTET Fh FHET
Authorised: ERE
Ordinary shares of Fi20.018 T2
HK$0.01 each LB 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
Ordinary shares of FRR0.01B T2
HK$0.01 each T 906,632 9,066 906,632 9,066
There are no movements in the issued share capital of ARAREHBE - ZE_RAFER_ZT_NF
the Company during the years ended 30 June 2025 and ANA-ZTHLEFEZEHETRAME
2024. 2 -
Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the annual
general meeting held on 2 December 2013, the Company
conditionally approved and adopted a share option
scheme in compliance with the Listing Rules (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”).

The Old Share Option Scheme was valid and effective for
a period of 10 years from the date of adoption, i.e. until 1
December 2023. Following the Consultation Conclusions
on Proposed Amendments to Listing Rules relating to
Share Schemes of Listed Issuers and Housekeeping Rule
Amendment published by the Stock Exchange in July
2022, Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules was amended and
became effective from 1 January 2023. In light of the
above and in view of the Old Share Option Scheme which
is due to expire on 1 December 2023, the Company
adopted a new share option scheme on 4 December
2023 (“New Share Option Scheme”). A summary of the
principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme are as
follow:

(1) Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is
to recognize and acknowledge the contributions
or potential contributions made or to be made by
the eligible participant(s) including the employee
participants, the related entity participants and the
service providers (the “Eligible Participants”) to
the Group, to motivate the Eligible Participants to
optimize their performance and efficiency for the
benefit of the Group, and to maintain or attract
business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are or may be beneficial to the
growth of the Group.

e I RR MR

23. BERRAE
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(2)

Eligible Participants

The New Share Option Scheme enables the
Company to grant options (the “Option”) to Eligible
Participant(s) to subscribe for share(s) of the
Company (the “Shares”) under the New Option
Scheme.

The adoption of the New Share Option Scheme
aligns with the market practice of providing
incentives to the employee participants to work
towards enhancing the enterprise value and
achieving the long-term objectives for the benefit of
the Group as a whole.

As the related entity participants and service
providers have contributed to the long-term growth
of the Company’s businesses, it would be in the
Company's interests to also have the flexibility
to grant Options to the related entity participants
and service providers in recognition of their
contributions to the Company. It is beneficial to
include the related entity participants and service
providers since a sustainable and stable relationship
with them is essential to the business development
of the Group, and that the grant of Options to
these non-employee participants will align their
interests with the Group's interests, incentivising
them to provide better services to, create more
opportunities for and/or contribute to the success of
the Group in the long run.

23. BBRHE @)

(2)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(2)

Eligible Participants (Continued)

The Board will determine the employee participants’
eligibility in its sole discretion by considering all
relevant factors as appropriate and take into account
criteria based on the nature of the contributions
made by service providers and related entity
participants before granting Option(s) to them.

The inclusion of each of the related entity
participants and proposed categories of service
providers are in line with the Company’s business
needs and the industry norm, and the criteria for
the election of Eligible Participants and the terms of
an offer (the “Offer”) to an Eligible Participant for
the grant of an Option align with the purpose of the
New Share Option Scheme.

Subscription Price

The subscription price of the Options shall be
determined by the Board and notified to an Eligible
Participant at the time the grant of the Option(s) is
made to (and subject to acceptance by) the Eligible
Participant and shall be at least the highest of: (a)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant, which must be a business day (as defined
in the New Share Option Scheme); (b) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange ' s daily quotations sheets for the five (5)
business days (as defined in the New Share Option
Scheme) immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (c) the nominal value of the Shares. The Board
considers that such basis will serve to preserve the
value of the Company and encourage the Eligible
Participants to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company.
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(4)

Maximum Number of Shares

a.

The total number of Shares which may be
issued in respect of all Options to be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme and all
options to be granted under any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company must not,
in aggregate, exceed ten percent (10%) of
the total number of Shares in issue as at the
adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate Limit")
unless approval of the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) has been
obtained pursuant to paragraphs 4(d) and (e) or
(f) below. Options lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the New Share Option Scheme
or any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company shall not be regarded as utilised
for the purpose of calculating the Scheme
Mandate Limit.

Subject to paragraph 4(c) below, within the
Scheme Mandate Limit, the total number of
Shares which may be issued in respect of all
Options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme and all options to be granted
under any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company to the service providers must
not, in aggregate, exceed three per cent (3%)
of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the Adoption Date (the “Service Provider
Sublimit”) unless Shareholders’ approval has
been obtained pursuant to paragraphs 4(d) and
(e) or (f) below. Options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company shall not be regarded as
utilised for the purpose of calculating the
Service Provider Sublimit.

23. BB )

RARDEHE

(4)
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(4)  Maximum Number of Shares (Continued)

C.

Notwithstanding any other provisions of
the New Share Option Scheme, the Service
Provider Sublimit is subject to approval by
the Shareholders in general meeting. If on
the adoption date, the adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme is approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting but the
Service Provider Sublimit is not so approved
by the Shareholders, no Option shall be
granted to any Service Provider and the
Service Provider Sublimit shall be deemed to
be nil Share, and the provisions of the New
Share Option Scheme shall be construed
accordingly, unless and until a sublimit on the
total number of Shares which may be issued
in respect of all Options to be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme and all options
to be granted under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company to the Service
Providers is subsequently approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting, in which
case the Service Provider Sublimit shall be
deemed to be the sublimit so approved by
the Shareholders with effect from the date
of such approval, and the provisions of the
New Share Option Scheme shall be construed
accordingly.
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(4)

Maximum Number of Shares (Continued)

d.

The Company may seek approval by
the Shareholders in general meeting for
“refreshing” the Scheme Mandate Limit (and
the Service Provider Sublimit) after three (3)
years from date of the Shareholders’ approval
for the last refreshment (or the adoption date).
Any “refreshment” within any three (3) year
period must be approved by the Shareholders
subject to the following provisions:

() any controlling shareholders of the
Company and their associates (or if
there is no controlling shareholder of
the Company, Directors (excluding
independent nonexecutive Directors) and
the chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates) must abstain
from voting in favour of the relevant
resolution at the general meeting; and

(i) the Company must comply with the
requirements under Rules 13.39(6) and
(7), 13.40, 13.41 and 13.42 of the Listing
Rules.

The requirements under paragraphs 4(d)(i) and
(i) above do not apply if the refreshment is
made immediately after an issue of securities
by the Company to the Shareholders on a pro
rata basis as set out in Rule 13.36(2)(a) of the
Listing Rules such that the unused part of
each of the Scheme Mandate Limit and the
Service Provider Sublimit (as a percentage
of total number of Shares in issue) upon
refreshment is the same as the unused part
of each of the Scheme Mandate Limit and the
Service Provider Sublimit immediately before
the issue of securities, rounded to the nearest
whole Share.

23. BBIRFE(
(4)
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(4)  Maximum Number of Shares (Continued)

e.

The total number of Shares which may be
issued in respect of all Options to be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme and all
options to be granted under any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company under
the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service
Provider Sublimit as “refreshed” must not,
in aggregate, exceed ten per cent (10%) and
three per cent (3%) of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit
(the “Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit")
and the refreshed Service Provider Sublimit
(the "Refreshed Service Provider Sublimit”)
respectively. The Company must send a
circular to the Shareholders containing the
number of Options that were already granted
under the existing Scheme Mandate Limit and
the existing Service Provider Sublimit, and the
reason for the “refreshment”.
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(4)

Maximum Number of Shares (Continued)

f.

The Company may seek separate approval
by the Shareholders in general meeting
for granting Options beyond the Scheme
Mandate Limit (or the Refreshed Scheme
Mandate Limit, as the case may be) or the
Service Provider Sublimit (or the Refreshed
Service Provider Sublimit, as the case may
be) provided that the Options in excess of
the Scheme Mandate Limit, the Refreshed
Scheme Mandate Limit, the Service Provider
Sublimit or the Refreshed Service Provider
Sublimit (as the case may be) are granted only
to Eligible Participants specifically identified
by the Company before such approval is
sought. The Company must send a circular
to the Shareholders containing the name of
each specified Eligible Participant who may
be granted such Options, the number, and
terms of the Options to be granted to each
such Eligible Participant, and the purpose
of granting Options to the specified Eligible
Participants with an explanation as to how the
terms of the Options serve such purpose. The
number and terms of Options to be granted to
such Eligible Participant must be fixed before
the Shareholders’ approval. In respect of any
Options to be granted, the date of the Board
meeting for proposing such grant should be
taken as the date of grant for the purpose
of calculating the Subscription Price under
paragraph 3 above.
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(4)  Maximum Number of Shares (Continued)

g.

If the Company conducts a share consolidation
or sub-division after the Scheme Mandate
Limit has been approved in general meeting,
the maximum number of Shares that may be
issued in respect of all options to be granted
under all of the schemes of the Company
under the Scheme Mandate Limit and the
Service Provider Sublimit as a percentage
of the total number of issued Shares at the
date immediately before and after such
consolidation or sub-division shall be the
same, rounded to the nearest whole share.
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(5)

Maximum Entitlement of Each Eligible
Participant

Where any grant of Options is proposed to be made
to an Eligible Participant which, if accepted and
exercised in full, would result in the total number of
Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
the exercise of such Options proposed to be granted
under the New Share Option Scheme and all options
granted under any other share option scheme(s) of
the Company to such Eligible Participant (excluding
any options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the New Share Option Scheme or any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate over one per cent (1%) of
the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of
such grant (the “1% Individual Limit"”), such grant
must be separately approved by the Shareholders in
general meeting with such Eligible Participant and
his/her close associates (or associates if the Eligible
Participant is a connected person) abstaining from
voting. A circular must be sent by the Company
to the Shareholders disclosing the identity of the
Eligible Participant, the number, and terms of the
Options to be granted (and those previously granted
to such Eligible Participant in the 12-month period),
the purpose of granting Options to the Eligible
Participant and an explanation as to how the terms
of the Options serve such purpose. The number and
terms of the Options to be granted to such Eligible
Participant must be fixed before the Shareholders’
approval. In respect of any Options to be granted,
the date of the Board meeting for proposing such
further grant should be taken as the date of grant
for the purpose of calculating the subscription price
under paragraph 3 above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(6)

Vesting Period

The vesting period of the Options shall not
be shorter than 12 months from the date of
acceptance of the Offer, provided that where
the Eligible Participant who is: (a) an employee
participant who is a director or a senior manager of
the Company, the remuneration committee may,
or (b) an employee participant who is not a director
or a senior manager of the Company, the board
of directors of the Company may, in its absolute
discretion, determine a shorter vesting period under
the following specific circumstances:

() grants of “make-whole” Options to new
joiners to replace options such employee
participant forfeited when leaving his previous
employer,

(i) grants to an employee participant whose
employment is terminated due to death or
disability or occurrence of any out of control
event; and

(i) grants with performance-based vesting

conditions in lieu of time-based vesting

criteria.

It is considered that by having the flexibility of
having a shorter vesting period, the Group will
be in a better position to attract and retain such
Eligible Participants to continue serving the Group
whilst at the same time providing them with further
incentives in achieving the goals of the Group, and
thereby, to achieve the purpose of the New Share
Option Scheme.
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(7)

Performance Targets and Clawback
Mechanism

Under the New Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, in its sole and absolute discretion, specify
the performance targets in respect of each Offer
that must be duly fulfilled by the grantee before
the Option may be vested to such grantee under
such Offer, such performance targets shall
include, among other things, financial targets and
management targets which shall be determined
based on the (a) individual performance, (b)
performance of the Group and/or (c) performance
of business groups, business units, business
lines, functional departments, projects and/or
geographical area managed by the Grantee. This
will provide the Board with more flexibility in setting
out the terms and conditions of the Options under
particular circumstances of each grant and facilitate
the Board to offer meaningful incentives to attract
and retain quality personnel that are valuable to the
development of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(7)

Performance Targets and Clawback
Mechanism (Continued)

The provisions of the New Share Option Scheme
provides for an automatic lapse of Option as
clawback mechanism, the right to exercise an
Option shall lapse automatically on the date on which
the grantee ceases to be an Eligible Participant
by reason of the termination of his employment,
directorship, appointment or engagement on any
one or more of the grounds that he has been
guilty of misconduct, or has committed an act of
bankruptcy or has become insolvent or has made
any arrangement or composition with his creditors
generally, or has breached or failed to comply with
any provisions of the relevant service contract, letter
of appointment or contracts or agreements of the
grantee with the Company or the relevant subsidiary
or related entity for the employment, appointment
or engagement, or has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty or
on any other ground on which an employer would
be entitled to terminate his employment or office at
common law or pursuant to any applicable laws or
under the service contract, letter of appointment or
other contract or agreement for the employment,
appointment or engagement of the grantee with the
Company or the relevant subsidiary or related entity.
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23. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(7)

Performance Targets and Clawback
Mechanism (Continued)

Unless otherwise determined by the Board pursuant
to the rules of the New Share Option Scheme
and stated in the relevant Offer and subject to the
above clawback mechanism, there is neither any
performance target which must be achieved before
an Option can be exercised nor any clawback
mechanism for the Company to recover or withhold
any remuneration (which may include Options
granted) to any Eligible Participants in the event
of serious misconduct, a material misstatement
in the Company’s financial statements or other
circumstances.

Please refer to the Company’s circular dated 30 October
2023 for the details of the New Share Option Scheme.
There are no share options outstanding during the years
ended 30 June 2025 and 2024.
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24. SHARE PREMIUM, OTHER RESERVES AND

24. R mfE - EfbfEfER R

ACCUMULATED LOSSES BB
(a) Group (a) A%
Attributable to owners of the Company
AOTRAARE
Other reserves
Hfvte
Reserve
Share arisingon Reorganisation Capital  Translation  Contributed Accumulated
Premium  consolidation reserve reserve reserve surplus Sub-total losses Total
GAER
hfiaE fieRE EARE EARE ERRE E4Es it githe &t
HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T Tin Tin T T T T T T
At 1 July 2023 RZBZ=%5+F-R 35,013 871 60,577 1,670 2,405) 485,360 545,973 261,342) 320,644
Curency translation differences ~ EEHEZE - - - - % - % - %
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (30441) (30441)
Purchase of noncontroling interests  BE —FHBA AR
of a subsidiary s - - - [1470) - - (1470) - (1470)
At30Jne 2024 and Ty 2024 HoB-MEAAZHER
CSIRELA-A 35,013 871 60,577 100 2,380) 485,360 544,528 281,783) 297,758
Curency tanslation differences ~ EHHEEZE - - - - ] - ] - ]
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - (63,190) 63,190)
Purchase of noncontroling interest BE ~BHEAAMEER
of a subsidiary s - - - 2,328) - - 2328) - (2.328)
At30 June 2025 e S Ty 36,013 871 60,577 2228 (2.382) 485,360 542,198 344,973) 232,038
(b) Company b) ZRAA]
Other reserves
EftdE
Share  Contributed  Reorganisation Accumulated
Premium surplus reserve Sub-total losses Total
B#EE B4ES EffifE gt 2ithR Eh
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Thn T TEn TEn T
At 1July 2023 RZEZ=F+f-A 35,013 537,212 60,577 597,789 (331,857) 300,945
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (111,610) (111,610)
At30June 2024 and 1July 2024 R=FZPEERAZTAR
“EZmECR-R 35,013 537,212 60,577 597,789 (443,467) 189,335
Loss for the year Emgi - - - - (44,651) (44,651)
At 30 June 2025 R-ZE-R%/ A=A 35,013 537,212 60,577 597,789 (488,118) 144,684
BFREVEEERAT —T_AFFR
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24. SHARE PREMIUM, OTHER RESERVES AND
ACCUMULATED LOSSES (continued)

(c)

Nature and purposes of the reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account
is governed by section 40 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981. The share premium
account of the Company is distributable to the
owners of the Company in the form of fully
paid bonus shares.

Reorganisation reserve

The reorganisation reserve of the Group
represents the reduction in share capital
of the Company pursuant to 2015
Capital Reorganisation and 2016 Capital
Reorganisation.

Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 2.5.

Contributed surplus
The Group

The contributed surplus of the Group
represents (i) the amount transferred from
the share premium of HK$893,345,000 as
approved by the shareholders at the special
general meeting on 17 September 2018, less
(ii) the distribution of special dividends of
HK$407,985,000 during the year ended 30
June 2019.
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24. SHARE PREMIUM, OTHER RESERVES AND
ACCUMULATED LOSSES (continued)

(c)
(iv)

Nature and purposes of the reserves (Continued)

Contributed surplus (Continued)
The Company

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the difference between the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued
in exchange for the issued shares of Universe
Films (Holdings) Limited and the value of net
assets of the underlying subsidiaries acquired
on 28 June 1999. Under the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, the contributed surplus
shall not be distributed to the shareholders
if there are reasonable grounds for believing
that:

()  the Company is, or would after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or

(i)  the realisable value of the Company’s
assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium
accounts.

At Group level, the above contributed surplus
is reclassified into its components of reserves
of the underlying subsidiaries.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the difference
between the fair value of consideration
received and the proportion of the carrying
amount of the subsidiaries ' net assets/
liabilities attributable to the partial disposals of
ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in a loss of control.
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25. LEASE LIABILITIES

25. HHEE&E

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the

reporting period:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

TREFRBREMRAEERERE L
R e DREBER -

2025 2024
“EC-HE ZENE
Present Total Present Total
value of the minimum  value of the minimum
minimum lease minimum lease
payments payments payments payments
R BEHE =& R®EHEE
IRzBRE REE HR2EE s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAERT TART FET FAET
R dyear TER e, 4366 ASU_ . SO8L . 5S4,
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ —F#EMBRER 2,418 2,452 3,371 3,625
After 2 years but within 5 years MEERAER 313 356 2,712 2,788
2,731 2,808 6,083 6,413
7,097 7,442 11,144 11,954
Less: total future interest W KRR ERY
expenses B (345) (810)
Present value of lease liabilites TEAEZIEE 7,097 11,144

At 30 June 2025, the incremental borrowing rate was
5.6% (2024: 5.6%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract
dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest

rate risk.

NR-ZZE-RAENA=1+H  EEEXF
RAEEE6%(ZZEINF : 5.6%)  FER
AHBHETE At ASEEEEATE

JETE
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e I RR MR

26. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable

ANE N

As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, the ageing analysis of the
accounts payable based on invoice date is as follows:

26.

FE 1+ BR X
2025
—E-REF
HK$'000
FExT
10,189

2024
—EOF
HK$'000
FHET
11,102

RZE_RER_Z_WNFENA=T
H REZHHBINEMEREEY

R Z BRI AT A0 T

2025 2024

—E_RF —EPOF

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T T

1 day to 90 days 1HZ90H 5,060 5,738
91 days to 180 days 91HZE=180H 636 1,436
Over 180 days 180H KA 4,493 3,928
10,189 11,102

All of the accounts payable are expected to be settled or
recognised as income within one year or are repayable on

demand.

P FEA BR R IERT I — F ME T SRR
RWASBIRERER -
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 27. HittEEIRIBERETTZH
CHARGES

2025 2024

—E-REF —ZE-PE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Amounts due to film operators RN ER L ERmRUA 54,124 49,846
Amounts due to non-controlling FEATIEE AR #E 25 7R (Y 7 a)

interests (note a) - 1,376

Accruals for employee benefits BENGHNEETER 6,819 5,428

Other accruals and other payables HfhpEst & AR EmER
g 45,084 38,470
106,027 95,120

Note a:

the amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has
no fixed repayment terms.

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

(a)

Contract assets

Contract assets EREE
Arising from performance B B 4 EN il R 75
under financial printing BHEE

service

Typical payment terms which impact on the
amount of contract assets recognised are as
follows:

Financial printing services

The Group’s financial printing services include
payment schedules which require stage
payments over the services period once
milestones are reached.

Biz¥a :

PR EER - AR REREE
B -

28. BHNEERGHNER
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28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

28.

e I RR MR

EHNEEREHNER®

The Group received a deposit from, customers
before the delivery of the pre-recorded audio
visual products and the materials for video
features. It was recognised as contract
liabilities until the Group performs under the
contract.

b. Artist management services

The Group received a deposit from, customers
in respect of the artist entertainment job. It
was recognised as contract liabilities until
the Group completes its artist management
service, which is when the artist completed
the entertainment job.

Contract liabilities b EHEE
2025 2024
—E_REF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Contract liabilities BREaE
Deposits received for licensing of  FEIXHEE &2 i iE 2 U 2k B
film right from customers EFPME & 57,436 303,711
Receipts in advance of artist HEAETE T EWER
management work from KREBEP K
customers - 297
Deposits received for walk-in BUCRETELREE
customers for optical products EmEFNE® 490 306
Deposits received in advance B &2 BRIl AR 7% 78
under financial printing service FWEHFT & 424 774
58,350 305,088
Notes: B3 -
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount (i) FEESNARRRASE KRN
of contract liabilities recognised are as follows: FAEFAT -
a.  Licensing of film rights a B HE R E

AREERRZXNESRTEE
R EEIERERZEM
IR E AT 2 M ThiE
RBANEE BEEASE
ERBEANBEHRL

b B AEIERS

AEEREARETER
MEPA®  WHHERR
aHafl BEEAKER
BCE AN E IR (BIEA
TRIRETAE) BIE

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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A MR ME

28. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

Wholesale of watches

The Group received deposits from its wholesale
customer for the sale of watches. It was recognised
a contract liability until it is utilised, The amount was
utilised when the sales is completed, which is when
watches are delivered.

Sale of optical products

The Group received deposits from walk-in customer
for purchase of optical products. There were
recognised as contract liabilities until it is utilised.
The amount is utilised when the customer picks up
the optical products and pays the remaining balance
for the sale transaction.

b)) EHaEm®

PifeE - (4
€ ez il

AEERMBLBEEFPHE
BEWEGTE - HREH
RAERASANEE - &
HETK (BIE EERER
B BB EEE
A e

d IRIFE miH &

AEERBEEREEMM
REFENEPWEA &
HR BB AAERRE L
BE - EEPIUSREE
R I E R 5 AT R
B AERESREEA -

Movement in contract liabilities BHRREE
2025 2024
—E-REF —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At the beginning of the year NG 305,088 500,845
Decrease in contract liabilities as FAERRBNEER 2
a result of being recognised as aHaERd
revenue during the year (247,652) (196,524)
Increase in contract liabilities as TEWRIBER 2 ANEE
a result of billing in advance &0 914 767
At the end of the year RER 58,350 305,088

As at 30 June 2025, approximately HK$58,350,000 of
deposits received are expected to be recognised as
income within one year (2024: HK$305,088,000).

R-_ZE_HFNA=+H " BFR
—FRNERABBAZE KR &4
#58,350,0008 c(ZE M4 :
305,088,000/ 7T) °
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29. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 29. BRIATEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting) BRE SR TSR, GEA) TH&E
the following: /gt B -
2025 2024
—E-RE  —ToNF
Total Total
Fohy st
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
(a) Staff costs: BIMRA:
Salaries, allowances, and other e 2B REMER
benefits including directors’ (BIEEEMS
emoluments (Note 32) (M7E32)) 46,403 52,454
Contributions to defined contribution TE R FURIRET B3R
retirement plans 2,360 2,599
48,763 55,053
(b) Other items: Hitig g :
Auditor’s remuneration RERIM & 1,290 1,380
Amortisation e
— film rights (Note 9) - Eh i (i 5E9) 315,824 236,423
- other intangible assets (Note 8) - HiEmEE (1:8) 47 43
Impairment loss of film rights and films in EYMEREEREY 2
progress (Note 9) FAEEX(HF9) 69,067 17,032
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment EFHBTe 2 (AERX
loss of film related deposits (Note (a)) e,/ REE X () (223) 5,122
Depreciation charge (Note 6) HEEH (f:6)
~ property, plant and equipment - REREE 1,504 1,684
- right-of-use assets ﬁiﬁﬂﬁﬁé 6,691 5,877
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses INE (Wezs) /B1BFE (627) 108
Variable lease payments not included in the Iﬂﬁ]\fﬁff BEEZ
measurement of lease liabilities (Note 6) AEHERREHEE) - 103
Expense relating to short-term leases HEZHHERE MY
(Note 6) (FfizE6) 789 691
Expense relating to leases of low value assets REEEEENERE
(Note 6) 7 (P 7E6) 313 268
Cost of inventories (Note 17) FEARHEE7) 6,288 9,230
Gross rental income from investment properties KEWERS RN BT
less direct outgoings of HK$219,000 (2024: BEFAY219,0008 T
HK$323,000) (ZZZmE 323 0007 L) 426 540
Written off of property, plant and MEEYE - EERRE
equipment (Note 6) (Ki5E6) 6 265
(c) Finance costs BRI R A
Interest on lease liabilities HEGEFS 552 535
Note (a): FizE(a) :
The impairment loss of film related deposits was made upon the R FHEERTEECHETIS 2RERE
bankruptcy of the counterparty. &Ko
The reversal of impairment loss of film related deposits was BB RERERKEREE 1%
made upon the receipt of the impaired deposit. B[ -

EFRECEBERAT —ZE-_RFFR
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30. CHANGE IN EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS 0. HHEEEIEZEH
During the year, the following (losses)/gains in relation FR-UTEBERESREEZ (B
to impaired financial assets were recognised in the B), Wi E 2 E RS KR o
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
2025 2024
—E-RE T _UE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Change in expected credit losses TEREEEER#E
allowances, net BE)FER
- Accounts receivable - FEWER K (124) (202)
- Loans receivable - EER (161) (302)
- Other receivables - H it f Y GRIE (204) 151
(489) (353)
31. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 31. EERIKER
Defined contribution retirement plan TE R FURIRET &
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme REERE RS R G A E R B g
("the MPF scheme") under the Hong Kong Mandatory BAEEERBEEGRIRETZEMNRE
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees BR—EaFIMAEeE([rES
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong 8D - MBS B A —BEABY X
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined ABEBHERBRFEENRTE - RIFARTE
contribution retirement plan administered by independent TEE - BERERESBEKES
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its AR ANS%METEIHR =53 A
employees are each required to make contributions to the AR A B 30,0008 7T © 54 FRENE
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject 5B o
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.
The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are AEERTEMMEATEENSHEA
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme HR B T AR 7 B9 B R B IR AR R AR A 5
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries g ZEMBARERFTENHRERD
are required to contribute a specified percentage of tE M FZGR KR R ET B A SZ A48 F o
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the NEBEZRABINFENE—TTA
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to TEH AR E R HEER -
the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.
Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025
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32. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors ' emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows:

For the year ended 30 June 2025

e I RR MR

32. EEME

RIBEECR RGP FE383(1NER(RE]
(BRBEEENRERDRINDE O RE
MEZEMMT

BE-_Z-RAEANA=1+HLEE

Salary,
allowances, Retirement
and benefits scheme
Name of Directors Fees inkind  contribution Total
e 2R RIK
EEpA e RENFG BE e @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TER
Chairman and executive director ~ TEHHTTEE
Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil RS - 5,400 18 5,418
Executive director HITEFE
Mr. Lam Kit Sun MR % & = 1,440 18 1,458
Independent non-executive BUFNTEE
directors
Mr. Choi Wing Koon R R E 130 = = 130
Mr. Tang Yiu Wing i P 130 = = 130
Ms. Pong Suet Hing EEMaL 130 = = 130
390 6,840 36 7,266

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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32. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 2. EEMew@
For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-_ZT-_WFA=ZTHLEFE
Salary,
allowances, Retirement
and benefits scheme
Name of Directors Fees in kind contribution Total
He 2 RIK
EENF e REMH = HEIGS 4at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TEL FET FET
Chairman and executive director ~ FEFRHTEE
Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil WREE - 5,400 18 5418
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Lam Kit Sun WL - 1,500 18 1,518
Independent non-executive BUFNTEE
directors
Mr. Choi Wing Koon =9 Sy 130 - - 130
Mr. Tang Yiu Wing HRR LA 130 - - 130
Ms. Pong Suet Hing ESHLt 130 - - 130
390 6,900 36 7,326
During the vyear, no director of the Company has waived ARRESFABERETMAENE - M
any emoluments and no emoluments were paid or AEETERFAESZ AN ENERA
payable by the Group to any of the directors as an e EREFEMAREEFZMARE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as (5] s ) A2 B SR BB A 1 o

compensation for loss of office.
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e I RR MR

33. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 3. mE#FAL
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments payable to the five (2024: five) RERNEBNAERREZ(CE-NE |
individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group BREFAT(BEREES) (D=
(included two Directors) (2024: two) during the year are e B 2MemT :
as follows:
2025 2024
—E-RE —E_MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Salaries and other emoluments HeREMME 12,382 12,5633
Contributions to retirement scheme RIRET SR 90 90
12,472 12,623
The emoluments fell within the following bands: EMSETSEERA -
The emoluments of the five (2024: five) individuals with FA(CEZNF  AR)mEeHALT(E
the highest emoluments (including directors) are within FEER) S ETIHER :

the following bands:

2025 2024
—E-REF =iyt =
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 8L 2
1,500,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 8 L2
2,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 L=
3,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,00187TE
5,500,000/ 7T 1 1
5 5
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35. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) - NET

34. OTHER INCOME 34. EAUA

2025 2024
—E-REF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Supermarket coupon sales Mg SEE - 16
Sponsorship income UL ON 2 69
Rental income HEUA = 260
Rental concession HEeEHE 557 121
Screening income el A 231 68

Dividend income from financial assets & @B IE A FEAKR
at fair value through profit or loss JEREEZRERA = 120
Government subsidy BT b 521 25
Others ) 664 219
1,975 898

35. HAlas ~(&18) - F4H

2025 2024
—E-REF —E 4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss on disposal of property, MEMZE - WERRRE
plant and equipment pd it - (3)
Loss on write-off of property, WIHYZE - R R
plant and equipment Bl o (6) (265)
Fair value loss of other EmemEEs A AYE
financial assets il (210) -
Gain on termination of leases BAEMEH 2 W 5 63
Waiver of accounts payable P FERERR 122 11
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) PE 5 sk (B518) F58 627 (108)
Others i) 28 12
566 (290)
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e I RR MR

36. FINANCE INCOME 36. BEUWA
2025 2024
—E_RE —ZEPF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Bank interest income RITH B A 2,820 2,507
Finance income included in FFAGEEEWREERA
consolidated statement of ZERBIEA
comprehensive income 2,820 2,507
Loan interest income (included in total BRI B2 U A GT A
revenue in consolidated statement of 4RAZEWRZEAZ
comprehensive income) wEULES) = 50
Total interest income B A 4858 2,820 2,657

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES

(a)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

37. FTERAX

(a)

measHmlimERNZ
FT1 %%

2025 2024
—ECHF ZEZMF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Current tax BNERT 1R
PRC Enterprise Income Tax P EMSH
Charge for the year FRZH 2,746 -
Over-provision for the year FNBEEREE (46) (367)
PRC withholding tax R EITER
Charge for the year FAZH 2,262 5,568
Under-provision for the year FRBETR 28 -
Deferred tax IRAETIE
Origination and reversal of TR ERER
temporary differences =4 KR #EE (14) (14)
Income tax expenses FriS®if = 4,976 5,187
The provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated BEAEMEW T§§1%E?§¢ {5 ET FE

at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable
profits for the year.

The provision of PRC Enterprise Income Tax is
calculated at 25% (2024: 25%) of the estimated
taxable profits for the year.

PRC withholding income tax of 10% (2024: 10%)
shall be levied on the net income for film distribution
and exhibition, licensing and sub-licensing of film
rights after deducting the expenses derived from
the PRC.

No provision for profits tax in Bermuda and the
British Virgin Islands has been made as the Group
has no income or profit assessable for tax in these
jurisdictions for the years ended 30 June 2025 and
2024, respectively.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

37. FRf8%iBZ @

Reconciliation between tax expenses and (b)) ®ERYRRERHEHE g
accounting loss at the applicable tax rates: B8 2 $I8R
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Loss before taxation BRELRIES B (58,454) (26,009)
Tax calculated at domestic tax £ &8 BB E T
rates applicable to profits or s EEIRE A A
losses in the respective B RAEN
countries I8 (9,645) (4,291)
(Over)/under-provision in respect BEFEBERE),
of prior years BESE (18) 5
Income not subject to tax AR 2 WA (765) (403)
Expenses not deductible A 2 B A
for tax purpose 1,036 654
Tax effect of deductible temporary A #E72 A] F0 7 & B 14
difference not recognised ERMBTE 83 103
Utilisation of previously B AR R 2 IR
unrecognised tax losses [agi! (851) (81)
Tax losses not recognised RERZRIEFBE 12,069 3,758
PRC withholding tax R EITE IR 2,262 5,568
Others HAth 805 (126)
Income tax expenses PSR X 4,976 5,187

=T

FREEEEBRAR —ZE-_RFFR
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38. LOSS PER SHARE 38. BIREE
(a) Basic (a) EHAKN
Basic loss per ordinary share is calculated by EREBRERNEEIZAREHE
dividing the loss attributable to owners of the BAEGEEERUNEADBITER
Company by the weighted average number of f& 2 I E A THI A REE -
ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated
as follows:
2025 2024
—E_REF Ty
Loss attributable to owners of the ~ ANQ B A A B
Company (HK$'000) EE (AT (63,190) (30,441)
Weighted average number of EEITE MR Ik
ordinary shares in issue T8 906,632,276 906,632,276
Basic loss per ordinary share (HK$) S ZBRERERE
(BT) (0.0697) (0.0336)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares @RI EE(EAR)
(Basic)
2025 2024
—E-FREF —EOF
Issued ordinary shares at the REI RFRBET
beginning and the end of the year LE K 906,632,276 906,632,276
(b) Diluted b B8§
The diluted loss per share is the same as the basic BHE_Z-_AFH=THLHF
loss per share for the year ended 30 June 2025 E - SREEEERGRARSE
(2024: same) as there is no potential dilutive share HR(ZZZF : AR) - TTAF
issued during the year. NI EBEITEEHERG o
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39. DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024 Nil).

40. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 40.

(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash

generated from operations:

Loss before taxation for the year
Adjustments for:

— Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
(Note 6)

— Amortisation of film rights
(Note 9)

— Amortisation of other
intangible assets (Note 8)

— Fair value change on
investment properties
(Note 7)

— Loss on write-off of property,
plant and equipment
(Note 35)

— (Reversal of impairment loss)/
impairment loss of film
related deposit (Note 29)

= Impairment loss of film
rights and films in progress
(Note 9)

= Impairment loss of trading
securities (Note 15)

= Fair value loss of other
financial assets (Note 14)

— Change in expected credit loss
(Note 30)

39. KB

) o
HBEEREER
HER -
2025
—E-HEF
HK$'000
FET
FARZBRAIEE (58,454)
BT SBEENAE
- MENEREZ
& (M5E6)
8,195
- BEhRRE
(F$7E9) 315,824
- Hib I\ S E 2
(P 5E8) 47
- EWENTEE
(K5E7)
1,100
- W - HER KRB
4 2 518 (W 7E35)
6
- B A&
CRi{EEXAE),
BB K (I 5E29) (223)
- EhRENEUERE
. ZBERK
iR 69,067
- RPFEZBERK
(Ft3£15) 1,350
-HibemEEY
NEEEEE14) 210
-BHEEEEEE
(BI5E30) 489

BEEEfERREBE T _AF A
—tHLEFEZ KPR (T U

(a) BBABEREEELECREZ

2024

—E U
HK$'000
FHET

(26,009)

7,561

236,423

43

1,620

265

5,122

17,032

353
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40. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continved)  40. H IR & REE £l @

(a)  Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash (a) ﬁ‘%mﬁw@ﬂ% BEEEZRS Y
generated from operations: (Continued) R (8
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E_MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
— Loss on disposal of property, - HEWE - BERH
plant and equipment 1 2 518 (M 5E35)
(Note 35) - 3
= Gain on termination of — BRI W
leases (Note 35) (Ff7E35) (5) (63)
— Write-down/(reversal of - FEMR
write-down) of inventories (R [
(Note 17) (F$5E17) 62 (652)
- Finance income (Note 36) - B A (M 5E36) (2,820) (2,507)
- Finance costs (Note 29(c)) — B R R AN (B 3E29(c) 552 535
- Waiver of accounts payables - B EE RN
(Note 35) (Pi7E35) (122) (11)
- Net foreign exchange gain - FE R FRE (299) (631)
Change in working capital: EEoHE
- Inventories -FE 1,420 2,754
- Accounts receivable - FEYBR K (63,524) 20,599
- Loans receivable - ERER 26 108
- Deposits paid, prepayments -BfE® i‘ﬁﬁm
and other receivables R B A FE W 5RIE (4,297) 14,283
- Accounts payable - R R (791) (5,205)
- Other payables and accrued - H R A R AT
charges i 10,907 21,292
- Deposits received -BUkET & (218) (5,644)
- Contract assets -ERNEE (473) 156
— Contract liabilities -GHAaE (246,738) (195,757)
Cash generated from operations BEEAZRS 31,291 91,670
Tax paid 2 HIE (1,203) (3,939)

Net cash generated from operating “:&@EHEL 2 FIRE
activities 30,088 87,731

262 Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e I RR MR

40. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continved) 40. EfEIR & REE R @)

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH

Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash () BEAEBRELEELAZRSZY
generated from operations: (Continued) & (8)
2025 2024
e -2 —ToNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Disposal of property, plant and a. HEWME BERRE
equipment
Carrying amount (Note 6) fREE (FH5E6) = 82
Net loss on disposal of property, HEME BBERREZ
plant and equipment (Note 35) [Ey18 )5 5 (M1 36) - (3)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BB RREZ
plant and equipment Fr{S 3R - 79
Lease liabilities b. HEEE
At the end of the year REXR 7,097 11,144
Add: Exchange difference m:ERES (68) 103
Other payable H A T IR - 296
Termination of tenancy BRI E S
agreement 123 1,658
Less: Increase in lease liabilities B FRFILHEE L
from entering into new HEEELM
leases during the year (3,300) (11,022)
Less: At the beginning of the year o RED (11,144) (10,424)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ERRERE 2 ERES (7,292) (8,345)
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40. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continved) 40. EfbIR £ REE R @)

264
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(b)  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing b) mEFBEELEZABIEE:
activities:
Lease
liabilities Total
HEAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FHET
A1 duly 2023 L RTEZZFEATHE L 10424 ... 10424
Capital element of lease rentals BENHEEREZ2ELRTS
paid (8,345) (8,345)
Interest element of lease rentals BENEEREZFEHS
paid (535) (535)
Total changes from financing cash BB & REZ EE4E5E
flows (8,880) (8,880)
Other changes: HimE s -
Increase in lease liabilities from FRFIUHEECHE
entering into new leases during B B0
the year 11,022 11,022
Other payable E R 5RIE (296) (296)
Interest expenses FERXZ 535 535
Exchange difference VE W =58 (103) (103)
Termination of tenancy agreement  #& |- & 3% (1,558) (1,558)
At 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024 R-ZE-WNFXA=+H
kZZ_mE+H—H 11,144 11,144
Capital element of lease rentals BENHEERE 2 EARE D
paid (7,292) (7,292)
Interest element of lease rentals BNHEERE 2R BEHD
paid (552) (552)
Total changes from financing cash &R &R E 2 EB)4E5E
flows (7,844) (7,844)
Other changes: Hih )
Increase in lease liabilities from FREILFHECHE
entering into new leases during =REe il
the year 3,300 3,300
Interest expenses FERX 552 552
Exchange difference E X ZERE 68 68
Termination of tenancy agreement 4% |FTH & :% (123) (123)
At 30 June 2025 RZZEZRFA=1H 7,097 7,097
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40. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) ~ 40.

(C) Total cash outflow for leases:

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of

HtEESREER @

(c)

HERSRHOAR
AAGRRERERZEESRE

cash flows for leases comprise the following: FEATEIA -

2025 2024
—E-HF —EMF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FET
Within operating cash flows EEREMEN 1,102 1,062
Within financing cash flows BMERSREA 7,844 8,880
8,946 9,942

These amounts relate to the following: ZECHRUANTRIEESH :
2025 2024
—E_RE —E PO
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Lease rentals paid EHERS 8,946 9,942

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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41. PENDING LITIGATIONS

(a)

A court action was commenced in the Court of First
Instance of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region on 17 April 2002 by The Star Overseas
Limited (“Star"”), an independent third party, against
Universe Entertainment Limited (“UEL"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Under the above action, Star alleged that a sum
of US$935,872 (equivalent to HK$7,299,799) was
payable by UEL to Star as its share of the revenue
of the movie entitled “Shaolin Soccer” (the
“Movie").

Pursuant to an Order (the “Order”) made by the
High Court on 21 February 2003, UEL was ordered
and had paid to Star a sum of HK$5,495,700, being
part of the license fee of the Movie received by
UEL from Miramax Films (being the licensee of the
Movie) and which was also part of the sum claimed
by Star. Pursuant to the Order, UEL is also liable
to pay Star interest in the sum of HK$350,905 and
some of the costs of the application leading to the
making of the Order, all of which have been settled.
As the Order has not disposed of all the claims of
US$935,872 (equivalent to HK$7,299,799) by Star,
UEL is entitled to continue to defend the claim by
Star for recovering the remaining balance in the
sum of approximately HK$1,804,099 (HK$7,299,799
less HK$5,495,700).

On 30 April 2002, UEL claimed against Star for the
latter's wrongful exploitation of certain rights in the
Movie co-owned by both parties. UEL claimed to
recover all losses and damages suffered by UEL as
a result of the wrongful exploitation.

41.

AROREFFR

(a)

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025

R-ZEZE-_FNHA++H B
FEZFEBRSINERAR(21E])
HARG—HEEZENB QA
EFIREFR AR ([BFRE DR
BERRTRERNAERE IR

5 -

BIE LR EREBREFR
LapEm H Y 4935,872% L (HE
77,299,799 L) 8% - ERD =
—MEAIIDMEKIZEF(ZE
Tz W -

BESSEEIRN-_ZEET=F_A
—t—HBEBEZES(ZESD
EFREEFFSRERERB I
5,495,700 485 - Bl R FIR 4
BB MEMiramax Films (Bl
B IREREA) I 2 FB DR
BENEBREZHOTE - RIE
ZIES  BEFIRET AR EBZ
42%8350,905/8 02 F| B R B EE 1E
HZESHEIER EFHER
HESXHN BRZESTETS
iR 2 18 B8 935,872 T (HHE R
7,299,799 L) 2 B R1E » tHE
FIRGEHREENEBNPRET
i - AR EI #4258 401,804,099/8
7t (BN7,299,7997% JLiH5,495,700
HBIL) ©

RZZZ_FMA=+H EFKR
LAEBRIRE  BRETEH
ERABNESTHREE 2 ZEF

ZETRERN - S FREBFTEZT
EERAENMCERE 2 %

KRBE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. PENDING LITIGATIONS (continued)

(a)

(Continued)

On 9 September 2002, Universe Laser & Video
Co. Limited (“ULV"), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, claimed against Star for
the latter’'s infringement of the licensed rights in
the Movie held by ULV. ULV claimed to recover all
losses and damages suffered by ULV as a result of
the said infringement.

In the opinion of legal counsel, it is premature to
predict the outcome of the claim against UEL. The
Board is of the opinion that the outcome of the
said claim made against UEL will have no material
financial impact to the Group for the year ended 30
June 2025 and 2024.

On 1 September 2008, Koninklijke Philips
Electronics N.V. (“"KPE") claimed against among
other persons, the Company, ULV and Mr. Lam
Shiu Ming, Daneil (one of the Directors), being three
of the defendants named therein, in respect of
damages arising from alleged infringement of the
patents regarding Video Compact Disc owned by
KPE.

In the opinion of legal counsel, it is premature to
predict the outcome of the said claim made against
the Company, ULV and Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil.
The Board is of the opinion that the outflow of
economic benefits cannot be reliably estimated and
accordingly no provision for any liability that may
result has been made in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2025 and
2024.
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(a)
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41. PENDING LITIGATIONS (continued)

(c)

On 8 January 2010, KPE claimed against among
other persons, the Company, ULV and Mr. Lam Shiu
Ming, Daneil (one of the directors of the Company),
being three of the defendants named therein,
in respect of damages arising from the alleged
infringement of the patents regarding Digital Video
Disc owned by KPE.

On 6 June 2012, the action was discontinued
against the Company and Mr. Lam Shiu Ming,
Daneil. The claim made against ULV has been
agreed with KPE and settled by ULV and appropriate
legal costs provision was recognised accordingly in
the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2012.

No additional provision has been made in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2025 and 2024. Based on the consultation
with legal counsel, no further material outflow of
economic benefits will be incurred for ULV.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2025, no other
litigation or claim of material importance is known to the
Directors to be pending against either the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42. COMMITMENTS

43.

Other commitments

The Group had commitments contracted but not provided
for in these consolidated financial statements as follows:

Purchase of film rights and
production of films (Note i)

Note i

Included in the commitment for the purchase of

e I RR MR

42, EIE
H fih R
REBEDFNERREE T ERRBE
ZAEMET ¢

2025 2024
—ECEF —EZNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTExT FiET

BEEVREREY
U1 (3D 78,351 92,611

WeFi: R—ZE-_RAFNA=+tHFAEE

film rights and production of films, an amount of BEYMEREXRIEAEN SR

approximately HK$1,070,000 is related to the joint
operation arrangements of film production as at 30 June
2025 (2024 approximately HK$1,310,000).

FUTURE OPERATING LEASE

ARRANGEMENTS

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease
receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as

follows:

#11,070,000/8 L (ZF 04 : &9
1,310,000/ 70) MBHFE R 2 & &%
HEaR o

43. AREEHERH

AEBRBENAREZQEHEMAR
AR BB EFIRERRNT

2025 2024

—E_RE —E-MEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHERT FHIT

Not later than one year THBE—F 432 613
Later than one year and not later Bie—FERTHBARE

than five years 256 126

688 739

EFRECEBERLDR —T-REFFH
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44, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Tenancy Agreements (a)

The following transactions related to the tenancy
agreement with Universe Property Investment
Limited which is wholly-owned by a director of the
Company (Note a):

i) Repayment of lease liabilities i) (HEHSAEE
i) Interest on lease liabilities i HEBEFE

Note a: Universe Digital Entertainment Limited (“UDE"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a tenancy agreement with
Universe Property Investment Limited (“UPI"), a
company owned by Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil
("Mr. Daneil Lam"), an executive Director of the
Company, for renting (1) an industrial unit on the
18th Floor of a 28-storey industrial building over
a 2-storey lorry/car parking podium plus a 2-level
basement (with a saleable area of approximately
13,983 square foot) and (2) 5 carparking spaces
on the 2nd Floor of a 28-storey industrial building
over a 2-storey lorry/car parking podium plus
a 2-level basement (“Rented Properties”) for
warehouse, ancillary office and carparking uses
from 25 February 2021 to 24 February 2024
with a monthly rental of HK$244,000 (the “Old
Tenancy Agreement”) which were arrived at arm
" s length negotiation between the Group and
UPI with reference to the past monthly rental and
the rental valuation performed by Ravia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited as at 22 January 2021
which reflected the then market rent.

Universe Entertainment and Culture Group Company Limited Annual Report 2025
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44, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@) Tenancy Agreements (Continued)

Note a:

(Continued)

On 29 January 2024, UDE entered into a new
tenancy agreement with UPI for renting the
Rented Properties for warehouse, ancillary
office and carparking uses from 25 February
2024 to 24 February 2027 with a monthly rental
of HK$244,000 (the “Tenancy Agreement”)
which were arrived at arm’s length negotiation
between the Group and UPI with reference to
the past monthly rental and the rental valuation
performed by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory
Limited as at 12 December 2023 which reflected
the then market rent.

Under HKFRS16, the Group recognized
depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest
expenses of HK$2,675,000 (2024: HK$2,762,000)
and HK$357,000 (2024: HK$180,000)
respectively instead of rental expenses during
the year.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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RERE  BRERAERE
BEFIUMEERR(HEE
W&l - ZiBEAAREE A
EFMEREAK2ERTA
XEL/{&I%EE‘RIIE:F,fSDD n’ﬁ]ﬁ
RARIRZ-ZE_=%+=-A
TZRELEHESEE(R
MERmisHe) BATE
R

BREBEBEMBRELEAE
1658 + AEBERFRER
ﬁ%%ﬁ?ﬁ%&ﬂéﬁ
=5 52,675,000 T(=

Z U4 1762000%7m
357,000 T (ZE -1
% :180,0008T) © M3k
ez o

ZEChEFH

271



272

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR ME

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 44, BEEE A+ 2K 5 @)

(b) Details of key management compensation b) ETEEERERMFE
Key management personnel are those management FEERABRBEHE  BTR
members with responsibility for planning, directing THINEEES CEERE -
and controlling the activities of the Group.

2025 2024
—EC-HF —E_mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FET

Salaries and other short-term HeLHEMEHESRET
employee benefits 6,840 6,900
Post-employment benefits & 8RN 7 36 36
6,876 6,936

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, no other material
related party transactions have been entered into by
the Group. The transactions were carried out after
negotiations between the Group and the related parties in
the ordinary course of business.

B EXRRESHA W RELES
B A  AEEL T TR EX
MEALRS - HERHDRABE
BBIE R AR B RS A LA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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45. COMPANY - LEVEL STATEMENT OF 45. AEEHEF AR RT
FINANCIAL POSITION
2025 2024
—E_RF —E-UE
HK$°000 HK$'000
TExT FAET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries MEBARIEE 72,096 72,096
Other financial asset EMemEE 770 770
........................... 72866 . 72866
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFEUPH B A R FRIB 332,433 257,690
Deposits paid =N EER 217 207
. Cash and cash equivalents . RERREREY e ..........05,
eereereneeeneetenneeneeranssannessmeserassannerannerennesenss NN 332653 ... 258,054
Total assets BmEE 405,519 330,920
EQUITY ER

Equity attributable to the owners KARHEEAEEER
of the Company

Share capital & A 9,066 9,066
Share premium & @18 35,013 35,013
Other reserves Hinf# 597,789 597,789
Accumulated losses ZEtEE (488,118) (443,467)
 Totalequity L MRE 183750 .. 198,401
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities REaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETB B A B FRIE 249,566 130,316
Accrued charges FEEFSZ 2,203 2,203
251,769 | _13_2,.51:9 )
. Total liabilities mEE 251,769 ... 132,519
Total equity and liabilities HERKREE 405,519 330,920
Net current assets RBEETFE 80,884 125,535
Total assets less current liabilities @EERABARG 153,750 198,401
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of ERZE-AFNA-TNLBEEESS
directors on 29 September 2025. O R AR T3 o
Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil Lam Kit Sun by N REEET
Director Director 2 EE

BRRA(CEEERAT —E-REER 273
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46.

47.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At 30 June 2025 and 2024, the directors consider the
immediate holding company and ultimate controlling party
of the Group to be Pioneer Entertainment Group Limited
and Mr. Lam Shiu Ming, Daneil respectively. Pioneer
Entertainment Group Limited, which is incorporated in
BVI, does not produce financial statements available for
public use.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the Director on 29 September
2025.

46.

47.

BEERGAERAF

RZZE_RAERZZT_MAFRAZ
TH EERRLEENEEER
NRAIREEERA DA BPioneer
Entertainment Group Limited K& #k/J\BR
St 4 ° Pioneer Entertainment Group
Limited N R B R L B SEMAK L » W&
HAAHABRATEANTBERE -

HERS B HRR

GEBBBRERN-_ZT-_RAFHLA=-TA
BESEIERIRETE -
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Principal Properties Held for Investment Purposes

HONG KONG

Location

i B

Woodland House 1-5,
Woodlands Villa,

121 Tong Fuk Village,

Tong Fuk, Lantau Island,
New Territories, Hong Kong
BEREFR

RUE L SERR

yEAEAT 12158

i Rl 2

MM E1ZEB5R

FERERBZEEYR

BE
Lot number Type Lease term
ih BE HEFH
Lot numbers 1510 remaining Residential 2047

part, 1511, 1516, 1518, 1519,
1522 and 1523 in Demarcation
District 328

L EAE 328 R x= —ERF
F151055 885 + 161158 -

1516%% » 1518%% + 15195% »

152255k &% 15235}
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFMBREE

RESULTS E 45
Year ended 30 June
BEAA=tHLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-RE —E-E —T-=F T —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FEL TEx FHEL TET
Revenue e 472,592 365,257 198,439 127,638 602,600
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRI (BR),/ & H (58,454) (26,009) (95,855) (82,556) 181,509
Income tax (expense)/credit FERES) /e (4,976) (5,187) 2,450 3,635 (28,745)
(Loss)/profit attributable to ARAERFEA
the equity holders of FEfE (B518) /A
the Company (63,190) (30,441) (92,757) (76,552) 154,345
Special dividend i3l ) - - - - -
Proposed final dividend BRARERE = - - - -
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
As at 30 June
RARAB=+H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—EC-RE “Z-pNF T —T--F C—T--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHEL TEL T T
Total assets BEE 435,704 737,412 951,565 1,072,987 1,051,772
Total liabilities BaE (197,948) (435,024) (617,410) (645,759) (546,305)
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